
(TENTATIVE) BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 

November 21, 2023 – 5:00 PM 

Effingham County Administrative Complex 
Meeting Chambers 

804 South Laurel Street, Springfield GA 31329 
 

The Georgia Conflict of Interest in Zoning Action Statue (O.C.G.A. §§ 36-67A-1 et seq.) requires disclosure of certain 
campaign contributions made by applicants for rezoning actions and by opponents of rezoning application.  A rezoning 
applicant or opponent of a rezoning application must disclose contributions or gifts which in aggregate total $250.00 or 
more if made within the last two years to a current member of Effingham County Planning Board, Board of Commissioners, 
or other Effingham County official who will consider the application.  The campaign contribution disclosure requirement 
applies to an opponent of a rezoning application who publishes his or her opposition by appearance before the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners or by any other oral or written communication to a member or members of the Planning 
Board or Board of Commissioners.  Disclosure must be reported to the Board of Commissioners by applicants within ten 
(10) days after the rezoning application is filed and by opponents at least five (5) days prior to the first hearing by the 
Planning Board.  Any person knowing failing to comply with these requirements shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. 
 
“Individuals with disabilities who require special needs to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have 
questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities should contact the County Clerk at 912-754-2123 
promptly to afford the County time to create reasonable accommodations for those persons.” 

**PLEASE TURN OFF YOUR CELL PHONE 
 

Agenda 

Watch us live on our YouTube page: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ 

I. Call to Order 

II. Roll Call 

III. Invocation 

IV. Pledge to the American Flag 

V. Agenda Approval - Consideration of a resolution to approve the agenda. 

VI. Minutes 

VII. Public Comments - Comments shall pertain to the agenda items only.  Should you wish to 
make remarks, clearly state your full name into the microphone before commencing to 
speak. 

VIII. Correspondence - Documents from this meeting are located in the Clerk's Office and on the 
Board of Commissioner's website. 

IX. Appearance  

1. Appearance - 5:10 pm (Melissa Calhoun) 

X. Consent Agenda - This section shall include all routine items for which there will be no 
discussion.  Should a need arise for a debate, the item can be moved to the appropriate area 
of the agenda. 

 

 

1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC9wRzS6f2pHHZG3IgRk3OUQ


(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – November 21, 2023 

1. [2023-595 Agreement] 

Consideration to approve an amendment to the Coastal Incentive Grant award 
agreement for the Stormwater Master Plan, extending the timeframe for master plan 
completion 

XI. Unfinished Business - Contains items held from a previous agenda. 

1. [2023-561 Policy] Sarah Mausolf 

Consideration to approve and publish an update to 2.15 Travel, Employment and Board 
of Commissioners Expenses, Section C. Guidelines - #3 Meals and Miscellaneous - #1 Per 
Diem Allowance of the Human Resources Standards of Practice (postponed 10/17/2023) 

2. [2023-580 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading to amend Part II - Official Code, Chapter  
10, Article IV - Animal Care; 10-112 - Keeping of Fowl of the Effingham County Code of  
Ordinance (1st reading approved 11/07/2023) 

3. [2023-583 Agreement] Tim Callanan 

Consideration to approve an Intergovernmental Agreement between the Counties of 
Chatham, Liberty and Effingham with Live Oak Public Libraries (postponed 11/7/2023) 

4. [2023-589 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Marnier Group Ltd. as  
Agent for Robert Fletcher Waldour and Lynette Waldour requests to rezone +/- 
44.509 acres located on Blue Jay Road from AR-1 to R-3 to allow for a multifamily  
residential development Map# 326 Parcel# 17 in the First District (postponed 
11/07/2023) 

5. [2023-590 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Marnier Group Ltd.  
as Agent for Robert Fletch Waldour and Lynette Waldour to rezone +/- 44.509 acres  
located on Blue Jay Road from AR-1 to R-3 to allow for a multifamily residential  
development Map# 326 Parcel# 17 in the First District (postponed 11/07/2023) 

6. [2023-591 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

The Planning Board recommends approving an application by Marnier Group Ltd. as  
Agent for Robert Fletcher Waldhour and Lynette Waldhour requesting a Variance  
to exceed the maximum building height allowed in the R-3 zoning district located on Blue  
Jay Road, zoned AR-1, proposed zoning R-3 Map# 326 Parcel# 17 in the First 
District (postponed 11/07/2023) 

7. [2023-592 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Marnier Group Ltd.  
as Agent for Robert Fletcher Waldour and Lynette Waldour requesting a Variance to  
exceed the maximum building height allowed in the R-3 zoning district located on Blue  
Jay Road, zoned AR-1, proposed zoning R-3 Map# 326 Parcel# 17 in the First 
District (postponed 11/07/2023) 

 

 

2



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – November 21, 2023 

XII. New Business 

1. [2023-596 Purchase Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve PO 23-REQ-047 for the Purchase of a Vibratory Smooth Drum 
Roller for Public Works 

2. [2023-597 Purchase Order] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve PO 23-REQ-045 for the Purchase of two (2) towable 
generators 

3. [2023-598 Purchase Order] 

Consideration to approve PO 23-REQ-046 for the purchase of a jetter trailer from 
Multitech Traders, LLC for the Public Works Department 

4. [2023-599 Change Order] Alison Bruton  

Consideration to approve Change Order #3 for Task Order 22-25-006 for the TSPLOST 
Intersections Design and Construction Management with Roberts Civil Engineering  

5. [2023-600 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve a Purchase of Service Agreement between the Coastal Regional 
Commission and Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

6. [2023-601 Contract] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Contract 23-RFP-042 with Foresite Group, LLC for the SS4A 
Action Plan 

7. [2023-602 Agreement] Alison Bruton 

Consideration to approve Amendment No. 1 to the McDaniel Supply Company 
Agreement with the Effingham County Prison 

8. [2023-603 Resolution] Mark Barnes 

Consideration to approve Resolution# 023- 029 to amend the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year 
Budget 

9. [2023-604 Ordinance] Steve Candler 

Consideration to approve the First Reading of an Ordinance for Part II - Official Code,  
Appendix B - Subdivisions of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances 

10. [2023-605 Ordinance] Steve Candler 

Consideration to approve the First Reading of an Ordinance to amend Part II - Official 
Code,  Appendix C - Article V - Table of Permitted Uses of the Effingham County Code 
of Ordinances 

11. [2023-606 Ordinance] Steve Candler 

Consideration to approve the First Reading of an Ordinance for Part II - Official Code,  
Chapter 42; Section 42-7 - Firearms of the Effingham County Code of Ordinances 

12. [2023-607 Application] Tim Callanan 

Consideration to approve a request for Traffic Signal submitted by GDOT for the location 
of SR21 (Springfield Bypass) at McCall Road 

3



(Tentative) Board of Commissioners Regular Meeting Agenda – November 21, 2023 

13. [2023-608 Public Hearing] Chelsie Fernald 

Staff recommends approving an application by Alex Long requesting a Variance from 
Section 5.8.6, to allow for smaller lots in a R-6 subdivision, located on Blue Jay Road, 
zoned R-6 Map# 414 Parcel# 3 in  the Fourth District 

14. [2023-609 Second Reading] 

Consideration to approve the Second Reading of an application by Alex Long requesting 
a Variance from Section 5.8.6, to allow for smaller lots in a R-6 subdivision, located on 
Blue Jay Road, zoned R-6 Map# 414 Parcel# 3 in the Fourth District 

15. [2023-610 Map/Policy] Steve Candler 

Consideration to approve to adopt the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) as a policy 
document of Effingham County 

16. [2023-611 Plan/Resolution] Sarah Mausolf 

Consideration to approve the  ACCG Retirement Plan Changes and Resolution# 023-030 
to adopt the Adoption Agreement Amendment# 2 

17. [2023-612 Agreement] Sarah Mausolf 

Consideration to approve the Meritain Health Amendment to add the prescription (RX) 
smart savings program  

18. [2023-613 Contract] Sarah Mausolf 

Consideration to approve a Service Contract between Stealth Partner Group, LLC and 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners and approve Voya Stop Loss to aid in 
reduction of claims and cost 

19. [2023-614 Meeting] Stephanie Johnson 

Consideration to approve to cancel the January 2, 2024 Board of Commissioners 
meeting 

XIII. Reports from Commissioners & Administrative Staff 

XIV. Executive Session - Discussion of Personnel, Property and Pending Litigation 

XV. Executive Session Minutes - No executive session was held, no minutes to be approved. 

XVI. Adjournment 

4



5

Item IX. 1.



11/13/2023 11/21/2023

6

Item IX. 1.



7

Item IX. 1.



8

Item IX. 1.



9

Item IX. 1.



10

Item IX. 1.



Staff Report 
Subject:   Coastal Incentive Grant Award Agreement Amendment  

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 11/21/23 

Item Description: Consideration to approve an amendment to the Coastal Incentive 
Grant award agreement for the stormwater master plan, extending 
the timeframe for master plan completion. 

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff recommends approval of the amendment. 
 

Executive Summary: 

The County has been awarded a Coastal Incentive Grant from the Georgia Department 
of Natural Resources.  The stormwater master plan project is complete and was accepted 
at the 11/7/23 public meeting, however since this was after the original 10/1/23 deadline 
for the grant, this grant extension is required. 
 

The CIG stormwater grant was divided into two funding cycles, Cycle 24 and Cycle 25 for 
each of the two years the project was being worked on, so each cycle needs an extension 
amendment.  These amendments will give the project until March 2024 to be fully 
wrapped up – since the masterplan itself is already finished we expect to need far less 
time than this. 
 

Background: 
1. The original award agreement term ran through 10/1/23 for both Cycle 24 and 25. 
2. This amendment extends that timeframe to 3/31/24. 
3. The stormwater plan is complete and was accepted at the 11/7/23 public meeting. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the award agreement amendments. 
2. Do not approve the amendments. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve the amendment to the Coastal 

Incentive Grant award agreements. 
 

Other Alternatives: N/A   Department Review: Finance 

Funding Source: 

No funding required 

 

Attachments: 

1. Georgia Coastal Incentive Grant Award Agreement cycle 24 Amendment #3 

2. Georgia Coastal Incentive Grant Award Agreement cycle 25 Amendment #1 

11

Item X. 1.



GEORGIA COASTAL INCENTIVE GRANT AWARD AGREEMENT 
CYCLE  

,” 

AMENDMENT # 

Pursuant to the terms outlined in section (D) TERM and section (Z) CONTRACT 
INTERPRETATION of the “COASTAL INCENTIVE GRANT AWARD 
AGREEMENT CYCLE      ,” between the Georgia Department of Natural Resources, 
COASTAL RESOURCES DIVISION and the  
(“Sub-grantee”) for the Award entitled “
dated                               , the following changes are made part of the Agreement:   

Section A. TERM is hereby amended to extend the end date of the Award Agreement 
from                              to                               . 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment #      as of the 
___ day of ________, 20__. 

Georgia Department of Natural Resources, Coastal Resources Division 

By: __________________________________________ 
Doug Haymans, Director 

_________________________________________ (Sub-grantee) 

By: ___________________________________ 

     Name _______________________________ 
     Title _______________________________ 

Y2 -Storm water Master Plan

Y2 -Storm water Master Plan

Sep 13, 2022

October 1, 2023 March 31, 2024

Effingham County Board of Commissioners

Effingham County Board of Commissioners

1

1
9 August 23

25

25

12

Item X. 1.



GEORGIA COASTAL INCENTIVE GRANT AWARD AGREEMENT 
CYCLE  

,” 

AMENDMENT # 

Pursuant to the terms outlined in section (D) TERM and section (Z) CONTRACT 
INTERPRETATION of the “COASTAL INCENTIVE GRANT AWARD 
AGREEMENT CYCLE      ,” between the Georgia Department of Natural Resources, 
COASTAL RESOURCES DIVISION and the  
(“Sub-grantee”) for the Award entitled “
dated                               , the following changes are made part of the Agreement:   

Section A. TERM is hereby amended to extend the end date of the Award Agreement 
from                              to                               . 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment #      as of the 
___ day of ________, 20__. 

Georgia Department of Natural Resources, Coastal Resources Division 

By: __________________________________________ 
Doug Haymans, Director 

_________________________________________ (Sub-grantee) 

By: ___________________________________ 

     Name _______________________________ 
     Title _______________________________ 

Y1- Stormwater Master Plan

Y1- Stormwater Master Plan

Aug. 20, 2021

October 1, 2023 March 31, 2024

 University of Georgia Research Foundation, I

 University of Georgia Research Foundation, Inc

3

3
11 August 23

24

24

13

Item X. 1.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Approval of Update to HR SOP 2.15 Travel, Employment and Board of 
Commissioners Expenses, Section C. Guidelines, #3 Meals and Miscellaneous, #1 Per 
Diem Allowance. 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department:  Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date:  October 17, 2023 
Item Description: Request to approve an Update to HR SOP 2.15 Travel, Employment 
and Board of Commissioners Expenses, Section C. Guidelines, #3 Meals and 
Miscellaneous, #1 Per Diem Allowance. 
 
 
Summary Recommendation 
After conducting a BOC Workshop (Tuesday, 6/20/2023) and further discussion at the 
BOC Retreat (Saturday, 8/26/2023), staff recommends updating HR SOP 2.15 Travel, 
Employment and Board of Commissioners Expenses, Section C. Guidelines, #3 Meals 
and Miscellaneous, #1 Per Diem Allowance. 
 

 

1. Per Diem allowance – Expenses shall be paid/reimbursed based on Per 

Diem Rates determined through the U.S. General Services Administration 

(GSA) Website (https://www.gsa.gov/travel/plan-book/per-diem-rates). 

Partial days shall be prorated on this website as well. If travel is required 

before 7 a.m., then breakfast will be paid; if travel is required after 7 p.m., 

then dinner will be paid. If policies herein prove inadequate, then 

flexibility can be permitted, but only upon the specific advance 

approval of the County Manager or Chairman. 

 

 Using the GSA website allows us to remain in compliance with IRS 

Guidelines. 

 The GSA website automatically updates every six months. 
 
 
 
Alternatives 

1. Recommend approval of Update to HR SOP 2.15 Travel, Employment, and Board 
of Commissioners Expenses, Section C. Guidelines, #3 Meals and Miscellaneous, 
#1 Per Diem Allowance. 

2. Disapprove and provide staff with guidance on how to proceed. 
 
Other Alternatives: None 
 
Department Review: County Manager, Finance, and Human Resources.  
 
Funding Source: No impact. 

14

Item XI. 1.

https://www.gsa.gov/travel/plan-book/per-diem-rates


 
Attachment:  Current HR SOP 2.15 
   Updated HR SOP 2.15 Draft 
   Sample: Springfield, GA October 2023 Per Diem Rates  

15

Item XI. 1.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Human Resources Standards of Practice 
 

Standards of Practice:   

Section 2.15 

 

Issue Date:  6/15/2021  

New _____   Revised ______ 

Supersedes Policy Dated: 

 

Title: Travel, Employment and Board of 

Commissioners Expenses 

Approved By Effingham County Board of 

Commissioners 

 

  

 

2.15 - TRAVEL, EMPLOYMENT AND BOARD OF COMMISSIONER EXPENSES 

 

A. PURPOSE 

 

The purpose of this policy is to establish uniform expense guidelines for board members, 

elected officials, employees, and approved volunteers (representing Effingham 

County).  These guidelines will govern all allowed expenses, reimbursements, 

allowances, and advances for any travel, or other business expenses, which are 

incurred only when conducting County business as required by the Board of 

Commissioners. 

 

B. STANDARD 

 

 1. All out-of-County travel by allowed participants shall be 

reimbursed/advanced only after proper and prior authorization has been obtained.  

To receive authorization, a Travel/ Expense Form must be completed and submitted 

for approval. 

 

  a. All travel and other County business expenses must be approved by 

the Department Head (where appropriate) and the County Manager and/or 

Chairman. The County Manager may refer major travel and expenses (over $500 – 

estimated) to the Chairman for joint review. 

 

 2. The County will only pay/reimburse the cost of a single room, single coach 

class airfare, single meals, etc., unless specific advance approval is obtained from the 

County Manager and/or the Chairman. 

 

 3. Advanced per diem payments are authorized at the discretion of the 

County Manager and/or the Commissioners. 

 

 

16

Item XI. 1.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Human Resources Standards of Practice 

Standards of Practice  

Section 2.15 

 

Title: Travel, Employment and Board 

of Commissioners Expenses 

  

Office of Human Resources  2 

C. GUIDELINES 

 

The following list of expenses is allowable for reimbursement/advancement by 

Effingham County, if they are actually incurred/were caused while conducting County 

business. 

 

     1.  Transportation: 

 

 1. Air Travel – Coach class airfare may be paid/reimbursed for travel to 

locations of more than 200 miles in distance. 

 

 2. Vehicle Travel – The actual expense of any gas and oil will be 

paid/reimbursed, based on actual receipts, when using a county vehicle. If a County 

vehicle is not available, a private auto may be used only with prior approval (see 

above).  Mileage will be paid/reimbursed at the current federal allowance for the 

official County miles only.  All persons are encouraged to travel in groups, in order to 

reduce expenses. 

 

  a. Any person operating any County vehicle must possess a current 

valid driver’s license, and is required to report any occurrences affecting their driving 

record, or the validity of their license, to their Department Head prior to reserving a 

vehicle. 

 

  b. To ensure availability of an automobile, County staff and 

Commissioners must schedule the use of all county vehicles with the appropriate 

Department Head or the County Manager. 

 

       2 . Lodging: Payments/reimbursements will be allowed for the actual cost of 

adequate lodging, only if valid hotel/motel receipts accompany the travel/expense 

form.  Lodging will not be reimbursed if the site of the meeting/business is less than 100 

miles from Effingham County.  If there is a special event within 100 miles, and lodging 

is requested, specific advance approval by the County Manager and/or the 

Chairman must be obtained.  Each person shall be responsible for filing the proper tax 

exemption forms at the time of check-in. 

 

17

Item XI. 1.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Human Resources Standards of Practice 

Standards of Practice  

Section 2.15 

 

Title: Travel, Employment and Board 

of Commissioners Expenses 

  

Office of Human Resources  3 

       3.  Meals and miscellaneous: The cost of related miscellaneous items such as 

tips, cab or shuttles fares and parking expenses may be paid/reimbursed based on 

submittal of actual receipts, and only after proper and prior authorization has been 

obtained.  Receipts must be attached to the completed travel/expense form. 

 

 1. Per Diem allowance – Expenses shall be paid/reimbursed on the basis of 

a flat allowance of either “Major city” or “Other city” per day.  Partial days shall be 

prorated on this basis.  If travel is required before 7 a.m., then breakfast will be paid; if 

travel is required after 7 p.m., then dinner will be paid.  If policies herein prove 

inadequate, then flexibility can be permitted, but only upon the specific advance 

approval of the County Manager and/or Chairman.     

            *Major City           Other City 

 Breakfast   $12.00    $7.00 

 Lunch    $18.00    $10.00 

 Dinner   $30.00    $18.00 

 

 Total per day  $60.00    $35.00 

 

(*Major cities are those with population in excess of 200,000.  Commissioners and 

administrative staff attending legislative functions, county association meetings and 

sponsored training will use the major rate). 

 

 2. Guests, including, but not limited to representatives of companies, local 

state or federal dignitaries (and their guest) may be entertained on occasion, when it 

is deemed to be necessary official County business.  Guests do not include family or 

personal guests.  

 

 3. If meals are provided as part of the registration fee for conventions, 

seminars, schools, or association meetings, then the per diem allowance will be 

adjusted accordingly. 

 

        4. Registration fees: Fees charged for registration at any convention, 

seminar, school or association meeting are allowable for reimbursement.  Registration 

fees should be paid in advance (directly to the vendor), so that the County may take 

18

Item XI. 1.



 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

Human Resources Standards of Practice 

Standards of Practice  

Section 2.15 

 

Title: Travel, Employment and Board 

of Commissioners Expenses 

  

Office of Human Resources  4 

advantage of any discounts for early registration.  Requests for advances to pay fees 

must be accompanied by the registration form. 

 

         

         5. Advances: A cash advance can be obtained for items other than 

registration fees when, in the opinion of the County Manager and/or Chairman, 

payment would be a hardship for those traveling on County business.  All portions of 

the advance request form must be completed before it is submitted for approval to 

the County Manager and/or Chairman.        

         

 6. Forms: 

 

  1. The Travel/Expense form is to be used for travel and related 

expenses.  All portions of the form must be completed prior to its submission to the 

County Manager and/or Chairman for approval. 

 

  2. All other travel or other expenses for which County reimbursement 

is claimed must be reported on the Travel/Expense form.  To obtain reimbursement for 

travel expenses, the form must be submitted to the Purchasing Department within five 

(5) days of return from travel.  To obtain reimbursement for all other expenses, the form 

must be submitted within thirty (30) days of incurring the expense.  All receipts, ticket 

stubs and vendor documentation that support the payment/reimbursement request 

must be attached to the travel/expense form.  All attached items should be in original 

form, if possible. 

19

Item XI. 1.



Staff Report           

Subject:  2nd Reading – Ordinance Revision   
Author:  Steve Candler, Director Development Services 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 
Item Description: Consideration to approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Part II – 
Official Code, Chapter 10, Article IV – Animal Care; 10-112-Keeping of Fowl the Effingham County 
Code of Ordinances.  
 

Summary Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of the amendment because this is what code enforcement is enforcing. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  
The amendment allows the public to understand the keeping of all types of fowl for non-commercial uses.  
This amendment coincides with what code enforcement has been enforcing for some time.  The most 
significant change from the current ordinance reads is the keeping of four (4) chickens in an R-1; provided 
the homeowner can maintain the proper distances for the coup. 
 
Alternatives  

1. Approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Part II – Official Code, Chapter 10, Article IV – 
Animal Care; 10-112-Keeping of Fowl the Effingham County Code of Ordinances.  
 

2. Deny an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Appendix C –Zoning Ordinance, Article IX – 
Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9.3 - Procedure for Calling a Public Hearing 
 
Recommended Alternative: 1      Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review: Development Services     FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments: 1. Draft of Code of Ordinances Part II Part II – Official Code, Chapter 10, Article IV – 
Animal Care; 10-112-Keeping of Fowl the Effingham County Code of Ordinances.  
 
 

Sec. 10-112 Keeping of fowl. (also known as “The Chicken Ordinance”) 

(1) Residential fowl is subject to the following regulations: 

a. Permitted fowl: chickens, turkeys, guineas, geese, ducks, pigeons, or similar fowl 

1. Permitted fowl per zoning district:  

a. All permitted fowl: AR-1  

b. All non-commercial fowl: AR-2 

2. Conditional fowl per zoning district (MUST OBTAIN PERMIT FROM DEVELOPMENT 

SERVICES): 

a. Chickens only (NO ROOSTERS, only hens): R-1 

3. Prohibited animals per zoning district: 

20

Item XI. 2.



a. Commercial fowl: AR-2 

b. Turkeys, guineas, geese, ducks, swans, quails, partridges, pigeons, peafowls, and 

peacocks: R-1, and all other zoning districts. 

4. Minimum lot size:   

a. AR-1: five (5) acres 

b. AR-2: one (1) acre 

c. R-1: half (.5) acre 

b. Location of chicken coop from an occupied residential dwelling: 150 feet  

c. Permitted number of approved poultry animals, collectively: 

1. Properties zoned AR-1: Maximum number may be fifteen (15) per acre. 

2. Properties zoned AR-2: Maximum number may be ten (10) per acre. 

3. Properties zoned R-1: Maximum number may be four (4) total. 

d. Obtaining Backyard Hen Permit Process: 

a. Items Needed: 

1. Application Submitted to the Development Services Department 

2. Plot plan showing chicken coop location and distance to neighboring residential 

dwellings.  

3. $20 Animal Permit Fee 

b.  Once application has been submitted it will be reviewed by the Zoning Department to 

verify minimum distance requirements.  

c. The Permit will be issued to the property owner. The permit must be readily available in 

case any code enforcement complaint comes in.  

d. After being approved by zoning, code enforcement will be notified the property owner has 

received the Backyard Hens Permit.  

(2) Such fowl shall be kept at the following minimum distances from any occupied building except the 
dwelling unit of the owner:  

Animal Distance (Feet) 

Chickens (4 or less in R-1)  150 

Chickens, turkeys, guineas, geese, ducks, pigeons, or similar fowl (2 or more in AR-1 

or AR-2) 

200 

 

 

21

Item XI. 2.



 

 

 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

 AMENDMENT TO ARTICLE IV, SECTION 10-112 

 OF THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND ARTICLE IV OF THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING 

ORDINANCE AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting 

assembled and pursuant to lawful authority thereof: 
 

Subsection 10-112 is amended as Keeping of Fowl. (also known as “The Chicken Ordinance), as 

follows: 

 

(1) Residential fowl is subject to the following regulations: 

a. Permitted fowl: chickens, turkeys, guineas, geese, ducks, pigeons, or similar fowl 

1. Permitted fowl per zoning district:  

a. All permitted fowl: AR-1  

b. All non-commercial fowl: AR-2 

2. Conditional fowl per zoning district (MUST OBTAIN PERMIT FROM 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES): 

a. Chickens only (NO ROOSTERS, only hens): R-1 

3. Prohibited animals per zoning district: 

a. Commercial fowl: AR-2 

b. Turkeys, guineas, geese, ducks, swans, quails, partridges, pigeons, peafowls, 

and peacocks: R-1, and all other zoning districts. 

4. Minimum lot size:   

a. AR-1: five (5) acres 

b. AR-2: one (1) acre 

c. R-1: half (.5) acre 

b. Location of chicken coop from an occupied residential dwelling: 150 feet  

c. Permitted number of approved poultry animals, collectively: 

1. Properties zoned AR-1: Maximum number may be fifteen (15) per acre. 

2. Properties zoned AR-2: Maximum number may be ten (10) per acre. 

3. Properties zoned R-1: Maximum number may be four (4) total. 

22

Item XI. 2.



 

 

 

d. Obtaining Backyard Hen Permit Process: 

a. Items Needed: 

1. Application Submitted to the Development Services Department 

2. Plot plan showing chicken coop location and distance to neighboring 

residential dwellings.  

3. $20 Animal Permit Fee 

b. Once application has been submitted it will be reviewed by the Zoning 

Department to verify minimum distance requirements.  

c. The Permit will be issued to the property owner. The permit must be readily 

available in case any code enforcement complaint comes in.  

d.After being approved by zoning, code enforcement will be notified the 

property owner has received the Backyard Hens Permit.  

(2) Such fowl shall be kept at the following minimum distances from any occupied building 

except the dwelling unit of the owner:  

Animal Distance (Feet) 

Chickens (4 or less in R-1)  150 

Chickens, turkeys, guineas, geese, ducks, pigeons, or similar fowl (2 or more in 

AR-1 or AR-2) 

200 

 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 This         day of                            20__. 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS, 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

        FIRST READING: _________________ 
 

BY: ______________________________  SECOND READING: _______________ 

CHAIRMAN 
 

 

ATTEST:  

 

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY CLERK 

23

Item XI. 2.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:  Intergovernmental Agreement with Live Oak Public Libraries 

Author:  Tim Callanan, County Manager 

Department:  County Manager 

Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 

Item Description: Consideration to approve an Intergovernmental Agreement 

between the Counties of Chatham, Liberty and Effingham with Live Oak Public Libraries 

(Tabled at the 11-07-23 meeting) 

 

Summary Recommendation:  The staff recommends the approval of the 

Intergovernmental Agreement with Live Oak Public Libraries.   

 

Executive Summary/Background:  The Regional Board of Live Oak Public Libraries 

has approved updated advisory bylaws.  They are requesting that each county approve 

and sign the IGA.  This item was tabled at the November 7th Board of Commissioners 

meeting. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the IGA with Live Oak Public Libraries. 

2. Do not approve the proposed agreement. 

3. Provide Staff with direction. 

 

Recommended Alternative:  Staff recommends alternative 1 – Approve the IGA with 

Live Oak Public Libraries. 

 

Other Alternatives:  None 

 

Department Review: (list departments) 

County Attorney, County Manager 

 

Funding Source:  N/A 

 

Attachments:  Amended Intergovernmental Agreement Between Chatham County, 

Georgia, and Liberty County, Georgia, and Effingham County Georgia, and Live Oak 

Public Libraries 

 

 

 

 

24

Item XI. 3.



 
 

AMENDED INTERGOVERNMENTAL 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

CHATHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA, 

AND 

LIBERTY COUNTY, GEORGIA, 

AND 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA, AND 

LIVE OAK PUBLIC LIBRARIES 
WHEREAS, in 1903, the City of Savannah formed a public library for the use and 

enjoyment of the citizens of that city; and, 

WHEREAS, 1945 Effingham County joined the City of Savannah's library system that 
was not yet associated with other regional library systems; 

WHEREAS, in 1945, Chatham County joined the City of Savannah and Effingham 
County libraries to form the Chatham-Effingham Regional Library; and, 

WHEREAS, in 1956 Liberty County further join this regional operation that was then so 
named the Chatham-Effingham-Liberty Library; and, 

WHEREAS, in 1963 the Library for the Colored Citizens of Savannah came under the 
regional umbrella system of the Chatham-Effingham-Liberty Library; and, 

WHEREAS, in November 18, 1966 there was an agreement made transferring the 
responsibility to maintain and support the public libraries to Chatham County from the City of 
Savannah in order to establish a county-wide library system; 

WHEREAS, in 2002, the regional library system formally changed its name to the Live 
Oak Public Libraries to reflect the growth of the entire system and the character of the lands 
its serves; and, 

WHEREAS, Live Oak Public Libraries is the regional library board that shall be known 
as the Board of Trustees of the Live Oak Public Libraries ("regional board"); 

25

Item XI. 3.



WHEREAS, the regional board and counties acknowledge their fiduciary duty to 
citizens to provide top quality library services within the limits of available resources and in 
compliance with State laws, rules and regulations; and to ensure that the LOPL is operated in an 
efficient and effective manner. 

Therefore, now the parties agree as follows: 

Section 1. Regional Board Membership 

a. All members of the Chatham County library board shall serve as regional 
members of the regional library board (8 members). 

b. The Effingham County library board shall appoint two members to serve on the 
regional library board. 

c. The Liberty County library board shall appoint two members serve on the 
regional library board. 

d. The regional library board acts as the governing body or Board of Trustees for 
the LOPL. 

Section 2. Duties of each parties' Board of Commissioners: 

Each County Board of Commissioners is responsible for: 

a. Appointing members to the Board of Trustees and to the County library boards 
as stated in the LOPL Constitution. 

b. Reconsidering or removing a Library Board member for cause or other reason 
per OCGA 20-5-42. Includes removal for failure to comply with duties and 
responsibilities. 

c. Ensuring that the County Manager works with the Library Executive 
Director and provides support for daily operations. 

d. Ensuring that the County Manager participates on the Advisory Committee. 

e. Acting as a fiscal agent for the Library within its County, and County will 
receive and distribute any funds from its municipalities for the Library. 

f. Providing sufficient and adequate financial support to the Library, subject to 
annual appropriation and review of any targeted performance outcomes as 
determined by each Commission. 

g. Providing capital funding and other funding outside of the Library's regular 
operating budget. Counties reserve the right to control construction of any 
capital project and disburse all capital funding proceeds as determined by 
each Commission. 

h. Providing at least one vehicle for LOPL operations, title retained by the County, 
and will provide legal representation for LOPL as necessary. 

 
Section 3. Duties of the Chatham County Board of Commissioners 

Chatham County Board of Commissioners agrees to: 

a.  Disburse funds in advance to the LOPL in not less than quarterly installments 
based on approved annual budget. Chatham County can adjust the 
appropriation and budget during the course of the current or next fiscal year if 
agreed-upon service levels are not met or LOPL fails to expend funds for 
stated purposes. 
Provide administrative services to LOPL upon approval of County Manager to 
include County Attorney, Human Resources, Internal Audit, Finance and 
Purchasing. Such 

26

Item XI. 3.



 
 

 
 
 

 

support will include title research on LOPL facilities with the intent of 
transferring title for facilities to the LOPL. 

c. Provide operational support to LOPL upon approval of County Manager to 
include Facilities Maintenance and Fleet. Facilities maintenance will be 
provided to assist LOPL in repairs of its facilities but not for daily maintenance 
functions. County Manager may invoice LOPL for operational support. 

d. Provide retirement and health benefits for individuals not eligible for State 
benefits - Green. 

e. Transfer title of library facilities to LOPL who will maintain insurance coverage 
thereon. Chatham will maintain a reversionary interest. 

 
f. Categorize the LOPL as a department within the Culture and Recreation 

function. 

 
Section 4. Duties of the Liberty County Board of Commissioners 

The Liberty County Board of Commissioners agrees to: 

a. Provide facilities for operations which are suitable to meet the needs of 
LOPL and patrons of the service, and maintain and insure facilities and 
grounds. 
Perform repairs to major infrastructure items when said repairs exceed $5,000 
and to keep insurance on such buildings in a sufficient amount to replace or 
repair the facility should it be destroyed. 

c. Assist LOPL staff with any expertise or guidance needed to perform normal 
maintenance activities or repairs under $5,000. 

d. Provide maintenance/ repair of security and HVAC systems. 

e. Provide annual fire inspections and maintenance of fire extinguishers. LOPL will 
provide maintenance and repair for fire detection systems. 

f. Provide annual termite inspections/warranty. 

Section s. Duties of the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

The Effingham County Board of Commissioners agrees to: 

a. Provide facilities approved by Effingham County for operations. 

b. Maintain and insure facilities and grounds. 

c. Provide for custodial services, janitorial supplies and routine maintenance and 
repairs to include major infrastructure and mechanical systems. 

d. Pay electric, telecommunications, gas and water utility costs to operate the 
facilities provided pursuant to this agreement. 

e. Provide lawn care services at the facilities provided pursuant to this 

agreement. 

f. Provide monthly pest control services. 

g. Provide annual fire inspections and maintenance of fire extinguishers. 

 
 

 

27

Item XI. 3.



Section 6. Duties of the LOPL 

The LOPL is responsible for: 

a. Regional board and County library board will submit budget requests in detail 
under each County Manager's procedures through the Library Executive 
Director. 

b. LOPL shall provide monthly and fiscal year-to-date financial reports to the 
County Manager or an approved designee that show budgetary status and use 
of funds within each County and for its overall operations. Financial reports will 
provide a narrative to explain significant budget variances. LOPL shall provide 
information on significant capital asset purchases to impacted jurisdictions 
prior to expenditure (cost greater than 
$100,000) to include ongoing maintenance costs and operating budget 

impacts. 

c. LOPL shall provide information to each County Manager or an approved 
designee about the calculation and allocation of administrative cost centers to 
each county's cost center. Activities of the LOPL Foundation shall not be 
commingled with the LOPL's accounts or management. 

d. LOPL shall provide audited financial statements within four months of the end of 
the its fiscal year. Such audited statements will include a schedule showing the 
revenues and expenditures from and for each County within the Library system. 
LOPL will also submit any Single Audit report or Management Letter from the 
independent auditors to the County Manager of each supporting county. 

e. Upon request, LOPL will provide representatives to present financial 
reports and respond to inquiries of the Board of Commissioners. 

f. LOPL will disburse County funds per approved budget and will provide any 
requested performance measures or benchmarks to support its use of 
funds. 

g. LOPL will participate fully in all County CIP budgeting including Special 
Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST). 

h. LOPL will align Purchasing policies and procedures to Chatham County policies, 
except as modified by the Advisory Committee. 

i. Board of Trustees Chair, one other member of the Board of Trustees and the 

Library 

Executive Director will participate on the Advisory Committee. 

j. LOPL will adopt separate personnel policies that ensure equitable hiring practices 
and an objective employee grievance process. 

k. LOPL agrees to assume title for its facilities wherein deeds will be transferred 
within six months of the agreement date. 

I. LOPL will assume responsibility for property insurance coverage on its 
facilities and contents and will also maintain workers compensation 
insurance through its own policies. 

m. LOPL will maintain its facilities on a day-to-day basis and not utilize County staff 
for daily maintenance functions. 

n. LOPL will amend its constitution and bylaws to reflect the role of the 
Advisory Committee. 

 
 

 
28

Item XI. 3.



Section 7. Advisory Committee 

An Advisory Committee shall be formed to provide operational guidance to LOPL. 
Actions of the Committee shall be by majority vote, and the Committee may be 
convened upon request of any member. 

 
a. Membership of the Advisory Committee shall consist of: 

i. The County Manager or his/her designee of each supporting county 

ii. The Chair of the Regional Board 

iii. One other Regional Board member, as appointed by the Chair 

iv.  The Library Executive Director will participate on the Committee as 
an ad hoc (non-voting) member. 

b. The Advisory Committee shall review and approve LOPL Administrative 
Policies and Procedures, and shall forward their actions to the Board of 
Trustees for subsequent affirmation. Administrative policies and 

procedures include but are not limited to Purchasing Policies, Human 

Resource Policies (including General Hiring Processes and Grievance 
Processes), and Financial Policies. 

c. The Advisory Committee shall assist the Library Executive Director with the 

development of long-term strategic, capital and financial plans. 

d. The Advisory Committee shall review interim financial information as well as 
proposed budgets as provided by the Director. The Director shall 
formally notify committee members when actual expenditures are projected 
to exceed budgeted amounts, identify the reasons for such variance, and 
outline a plan of corrective action. The Director shall notify the committee 
members of significant staff increases/decreases impacting service levels 
and budgeted expenditures within each locality. 

i. Under no circumstances shall any County be obligated to share in 
cost increases not formally approved by that County during the 
annual budget process. 

e. The Advisory Committee shall perform any other tasks assigned by the 

Constitution of the LOPL; the by-laws of the LOPL, or by any other law. 

Section 8. Other Inquiries 

a. The County Managers may make other inquiries about the management of 
the LOPL outside of the Advisory Committee, and the Library Executive 
Director shall provide prompt responses. Such inquiries may include citizen 
comments and complaints as well as general operational questions. 

i. Any County has the right to audit books and records of LOPL. 

ii. Modifications to the agreement require unanimous support from all 
parties. 

iii. Any party may provide 6 month's written notice to terminate the 
Agreement. 

 
 
 

29

Item XI. 3.



 
 EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 
 
      BY:  _____________________________________ 
               Wesley Corbitt, Chairman 
               Board of Commissioners 
 
 
ATTEST: _____________________________ 
 Stephanie Johnson 
 County Clerk (SEAL) 
 
 
 
DATE: __________________________ 
 

30

Item XI. 3.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Rezoning (First District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 
Item Description: Marnier Group Ltd. As agent for Robert Fletcher Waldour and Lynette Waldour 
requests to rezone 44.509 +/- acres from AR-1 to R-3 to allow for a multifamily residential development. Located 
on Blue Jay Road. [Map# 326 Parcel #17] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 44.509 +/- acres from 
AR-1 to R-3 to allow for a multifamily residential development, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9. 

Article V – Uses Permitted, Section 5.6.1.2 permits multifamily dwellings in the R-3 zoning district. 

 The applicant requests to develop an apartment complex, consisting of approximately 288 total units 

housed in approximately 10 3-story buildings. The building height will require a variance. 

  Proposed amenities include clubhouse, pool, dog park, nature trail, and outdoor courtyards. 

 The site is located at the intersection of two collector roads, Highway 17 being a major collector road. 

 The criteria for recommendation on whether a property should be rezoned is contained in The Zoning 

Procedure Law (of Georgia) and is incorporated in to the Effingham County Code of Ordinance in Article IX, 

section 9.5 to include the following questions: 

o  Could the proposed zoning allow uses that overload either existing or proposed public facilities 

such as streets, utilities, or schools? 

 A TIA has not yet been conducted. 

 No applicable agencies have submitted comment or concern. 

o Could traffic created by the proposed use, or other uses permissible under the zoning sought, 

traverse established single-family neighborhoods on minor streets, leading to congestion, noise, 

and traffic hazards? 

 A TIA has not yet been conducted. 

 The proposed development proposes direct access on both Blue Jay Road and Highway 

17 S. 

o  Does the property which is proposed to be rezoned have a reasonable economic use under 

existing zoning? 

 The property is currently undeveloped and has a prevalence of wetlands which need to 

be delineated for any future active use.  

o Does the proposed change constitute "spot zoning" which would permit a use which would be 

unsuitable, considering the existing use and development of adjacent and nearby property? 

 The surrounding area primarily AR-1, with multiple commercial properties in the immediate 

area.  

o Would the proposed change in zoning adversely affect existing use or usability of adjacent or 

nearby property? 

 The zone change should not impact the use of nearby properties. 

o Do other conditions affect the property so as to support a decision against the proposal? 

 No known conditions exist to support a decision against the rezoning. 

 At the October 10, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval with Staff 

Recommendations. Mr. Peter Higgins second and the motion carried unanimously. 

 At the November 7, 2023 Board of Commissioners meeting this item was tabled to the November 21, 2023 

meeting.    
31

Item XI. 4.



Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 44.509 +/- acres from AR-1 to R-3, with the following conditions: 

1. Separation of the 44.509 acres of project site shall be required, either by minor subdivision plat or 

Tax Assessor (in the case of a TPO combination), before the rezoning can take effect.  

2. A variance from maximum height restrictions in R-3 must be granted before the rezoning can take 

effect. 

      2. Deny the request for to rezone 44.509 +/- of acres from AR-1 to R-3. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 
                            2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph  

 

32

Item XI. 4.



33

Item XI. 4.



34

Item XI. 4.



35

Item XI. 4.



36

Item XI. 4.



37

Item XI. 4.



38

Item XI. 4.



39

Item XI. 4.



40

Item XI. 4.



41

Item XI. 4.



42

Item XI. 4.



43

Item XI. 4.



44

Item XI. 4.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 
Item Description: Marnier Group Ltd. As agent for Robert Fletcher Waldour and Lynette Waldour 
requests to rezone 44.509 +/- acres from AR-1 to R-3 to allow for a multifamily residential development. Located 
on Blue Jay Road. [Map# 326 Parcel #17] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request to rezone 44.509 +/- acres from 
AR-1 to R-3 to allow for a multifamily residential development, with conditions. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 The request for rezoning is a requirement of Appendix C, Article IX-Amendments to Map or Text, Section 9. 

Article V – Uses Permitted, Section 5.6.1.2 permits multifamily dwellings in the R-3 zoning district. 

 The applicant requests to develop an apartment complex, consisting of approximately 288 total units 

housed in approximately 10 3-story buildings. The building height will require a variance. 

  Proposed amenities include clubhouse, pool, dog park, nature trail, and outdoor courtyards. 

 The site is located at the intersection of two collector roads, Highway 17 being a major collector road. 

 The criteria for recommendation on whether a property should be rezoned is contained in The Zoning 

Procedure Law (of Georgia) and is incorporated in to the Effingham County Code of Ordinance in Article IX, 

section 9.5 to include the following questions: 

o  Could the proposed zoning allow uses that overload either existing or proposed public facilities 

such as streets, utilities, or schools? 

 A TIA has not yet been conducted. 

 No applicable agencies have submitted comment or concern. 

o Could traffic created by the proposed use, or other uses permissible under the zoning sought, 

traverse established single-family neighborhoods on minor streets, leading to congestion, noise, 

and traffic hazards? 

 A TIA has not yet been conducted. 

 The proposed development proposes direct access on both Blue Jay Road and Highway 

17 S. 

o  Does the property which is proposed to be rezoned have a reasonable economic use under 

existing zoning? 

 The property is currently undeveloped and has a prevalence of wetlands which need to 

be delineated for any future active use.  

o Does the proposed change constitute "spot zoning" which would permit a use which would be 

unsuitable, considering the existing use and development of adjacent and nearby property? 

 The surrounding area primarily AR-1, with multiple commercial properties in the immediate 

area.  

o Would the proposed change in zoning adversely affect existing use or usability of adjacent or 

nearby property? 

 The zone change should not impact the use of nearby properties. 

o Do other conditions affect the property so as to support a decision against the proposal? 

 No known conditions exist to support a decision against the rezoning. 

 At the October 10, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval with Staff 

Recommendations. Mr. Peter Higgins second and the motion carried unanimously 

 At the November 7, 2023 Board of Commissioners meeting this item was tabled to the November 21, 2023 

meeting.    
45

Item XI. 5.



Alternatives  
1. Approve the request to rezone 44.509 +/- acres from AR-1 to R-3, with the following conditions: 

1. Separation of the 44.509 acres of project site shall be required, either by minor subdivision plat or 

Tax Assessor (in the case of a TPO combination), before the rezoning can take effect.  

2. A variance from maximum height restrictions in R-3 must be granted before the rezoning can take 

effect. 

      2. Deny the request for to rezone 44.509 +/- of acres from AR-1 to R-3. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment  

 

46

Item XI. 5.



 STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

326-17 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

326-17 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, MARNIER GROUP LTD AS AGENT FOR ROBERT FLETCHER WALDOUR AND LYNETTE 

WALDOUR has filed an application to rezone forty-four and five hundred and nine thousandth (44.509) +/- acres; from AR-1 to R-3 

to allow for a multifamily residential development; map and parcel number 326-17, located in the 1st commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on November 7, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on October 11, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on September 20, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT forty-four and five hundred and nine thousandth (44.509) +/- acres; map and parcel 

number 326-17, located in the 1st commissioner district is rezoned from AR-1 to R-3 to allow for a multifamily residential 

development, with the following conditions: 

1. Separation of the 44.509 acres of the project site shall be requires, either by minor subdivision plat or Tax Assessor (in 

case of a TPO combination), before the rezoning can take effect. 

2. A variance from the maximum height restriction in R-3 must be granted before the rezoning can take effect.  

 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

47

Item XI. 5.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  Variance (First District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 
Item Description: Marnier Group Ltd. As agent for Robert Fletcher Waldour and Lynette Waldour 
requests variance from section 5.6.3, to exceed the maximum building height allowed in R-3. Located on Blue 
Jay Road, zoned AR-1, proposed zoning R-3. [Map# 326 Parcel #17] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request of a variance from section 5.6.3, 
to exceed the maximum building height allowed in R-3. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances may only 

be granted if the following findings are made: 

That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, or 

shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions peculiar to the 

particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and not to circumstances 

or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in the neighborhood or district in 

which the property is located; and  

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the property can 

be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that the authorization of a 

variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property.  

 Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article V – Uses Permitted in Districts, Section 5.6.30, the maximum height 

for a building in the R-3 zoning district is 35’. 

 Section 5.10.4 describes maximum building height in the B-2 zoning districts as 60’, which pertains to 

multifamily residential development. 

 The applicant proposes to develop an apartment complex with 3-story high buildings. Each floor’s livable 

area proposes 9’ high ceilings. Combined with unlivable vertical space needs and roof pitch, the applicant 

anticipates a total building height between 55 and 60 feet. 

  Large areas of the property are potentially undevelopable due to wetlands. The variance allows the applicant 

to achieve desired density while being able to meet or exceed greenspace and amenity requirements. 

 At the October 10, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval. Mr. Peter 

Higgins second, the motion carried unanimously. 

 At the November 7, 2023 Board of Commissioners meeting this item was tabled to the November 21, 2023 

meeting.       

 
Alternatives  
1. Approve the request of a variance from section 5.6.3, with the following condition: 
 1. The maximum building height shall not exceed 60’. 
 2. The development shall in all other ways conform to the R-3 zoning district. 
2. Deny the request of a variance from section 5.6.3. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Rezoning application and checklist 3. Plat   5. Deed 
                            2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph  

48

Item XI. 6.



49

Item XI. 6.



50

Item XI. 6.



51

Item XI. 6.



52

Item XI. 6.



53

Item XI. 6.



54

Item XI. 6.



55

Item XI. 6.



56

Item XI. 6.



Staff Report            
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment  
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 
Item Description: Marnier Group Ltd. As agent for Robert Fletcher Waldour and Lynette Waldour 
requests variance from section 5.6.3, to exceed the maximum building height allowed in R-3. Located on Blue 
Jay Road, zoned AR-1, proposed zoning R-3. [Map# 326 Parcel #17] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request of a variance from section 5.6.3, 
to exceed the maximum building height allowed in R-3. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances may only 

be granted if the following findings are made: 

That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, or 

shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions peculiar to the 

particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and not to circumstances 

or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in the neighborhood or district in 

which the property is located; and  

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the property can 

be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that the authorization of a 

variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property.  

 Appendix C – Zoning Ordinance, Article V – Uses Permitted in Districts, Section 5.6.30, the maximum height 

for a building in the R-3 zoning district is 35’. 

 Section 5.10.4 describes maximum building height in the B-2 zoning districts as 60’, which pertains to 

multifamily residential development. 

 The applicant proposes to develop an apartment complex with 3-story high buildings. Each floor’s livable 

area proposes 9’ high ceilings. Combined with unlivable vertical space needs and roof pitch, the applicant 

anticipates a total building height between 55 and 60 feet. 

  Large areas of the property are potentially undevelopable due to wetlands. The variance allows the applicant 

to achieve desired density while being able to meet or exceed greenspace and amenity requirements. 

 At the October 10, 2023 Planning Board meeting, Mr. Brad Smith made a motion for approval. Mr. Peter 

Higgins second, the motion carried unanimously. 

  At the November 7, 2023 Board of Commissioners meeting this item was tabled to the November 21, 2023 

meeting.      

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request of a variance from section 5.6.3, with the following condition: 
 1. The maximum building height shall not exceed 60’. 
 2. The development shall in all other ways conform to the R-3 zoning district. 
2. Deny the request of a variance from section 5.6.3. 
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives:  2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Zoning Map Amendment 
 
 

 
57

Item XI. 7.



: STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

326-17 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

326-17 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, MARNIER GROUP LTD. AS AGENT FOR ROBERT FLETCHER WALDOUR AND LYNETTE 

WALDOUR has filed an application for a variance, from section 5.6.3, to exceed the maximum building height allowed in R-3; map 

and parcel number 326-17, located in the 1st commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on November 7, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on October 11, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on September 20, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a variance from section 5.6.3, to exceed the maximum building height allowed in R-3; 

map and parcel number 326-17, located in the 1st commissioner district is approved, with the following conditions:  

1. The maximum building height shall not exceed 60’ 

2. The development shall in all other ways conform to the R-3 zoning district. 

 

  

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

58

Item XI. 7.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of PO 23-REQ-047 for the Purchase of a Vibratory Smooth Drum 

Roller for Public Works 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works 

Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 

Item Description: PO 23-REQ-047 for the Purchase of a Vibratory Smooth Drum Roller 

for Public Works 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of PO 23-REQ-047 for the 

Purchase of a Vibratory Smooth Drum Roller for Public Works 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Staff published a request for quotes for the purchase of a vibratory steel drum 

roller for the Effingham County Public Works Department.  

 Three quotes were obtained: 

o Reynolds-Warren Equipment Company ($136,718.90) 

o Yancey Bros Caterpillar ($135,330.00) 

o Ascendum Machinery, Inc. ($137,569.00) 

 There was an error in the system that resulted in the submitted price changing for 

Reynolds-Warren. It appears that they had originally submitted one price, and 

then went back and changed the price before the bids were final, but the system 

would alternate between the two. When bids were originally unsealed, RW was 

the low bidder; however, when we downloaded the submittal and official quote, 

they were not. RW stated that the lower price is the correct total, but since the 

official quote they included in their bid matches the higher price, that is what the 

County must accept.  

 Staff also took into consideration that EOM is currently renting a unit. Yancey 

Bros originally quoted that the machine would be delivered in Q1 of 2024, but 

RW has the machine in stock and would be available immediately. This would 

mean that overall, the County would see a savings by awarding to RW because 

of the immediate delivery and not having to continue with the rental costs. We did 

speak to Yancey to get a more definite delivery date, and we were told they 

would have one to us sooner and the language on the quote was their standard.  

 Staff and EOM personnel have reviewed the quotes and recommend award to 

Yancey Bros Caterpillar.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of PO 23-REQ-047 for the Purchase of a Vibratory Smooth Drum Roller 

from Yancey Bros Caterpillar for $135,330.00 

59

Item XII. 1.



2. Approval of PO 23-REQ-047 for the Purchase of a Vibratory Smooth Drum Roller 

from Reynolds-Warren Equipment for $136,718.90 

3. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Purchasing, EOM 

Funding Source: $150,000 budget, Special Tax District 

Attachments: PO 23-REQ-047 for Yancey Bros Caterpillar 

 

 

 

 

 

60

Item XII. 1.



#1 Yancey Bros Caterpillar
#2 Reynolds-Warren 

Equipment Company

#3 Ascendum Machinery, 

Inc

$135,330.00 $136,718.90 $137,569.00

61

Item XII. 1.



804 S LAUREL STREET DATE:

SPRINGFIELD, GA 31329 P.O. #

Phone: 912-754-2159

Fax: 912-754-8413

VENDOR SHIP TO

Yancey Brothers Caterpillar Effingham County Board of Commissioners

1459 East Hwy 80 311 Hwy 119

Pooler, GA Springfield, GA 31329

ATTN: Zach Tatum ATTN: Charlie Mason

912-237-0830 912-800-1374

zach_tatum@yanceybros.com

ITEM # QTY

1 1

OTHER COMMENTS OR SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS

ECBOC is a tax exempt entity.  Tax ID# is 58-6000821

  

Yancey Brothers Caterpillar - SIGNATURE TITLE

  

Yancey Brothers Caterpillar - PRINT NAME DATE

 

  

AUTHORIZED BY - SIGNATURE AUTHORIZED BY - TITLE

 

AUTHORIZED BY - PRINT NAME AUTHORIZED DATE

Caterpillar, Inc. Model: CS10GC Soil Compaction

36/3000 Warranty with travel/mileage included

11/21/2023

23-REQ-047

DESCRIPTION

ECBOC  

TOTAL

$135,330.00

PURCHASE ORDER
Effingham County Board of Commissioners

REQUISITIONER SHIP VIA F.O.B. SHIPPING TERMS

UNIT PRICE

135,330.00$   

 

TAX RATE

135,330.00$   

-$                 

SUBTOTAL

 

 

WESLEY CORBITT

-$                 

-$                 

-$                 

Yancey Brothers Caterpillar agrees to furnish one (1) Caterpillar, Inc. Model: CS10GC Soil Compaction as described in 23-REQ-047.  

The County references the terms, conditions and specifications contained in 23-REQ-047.

CHAIRMAN

135,330.00$   

TAX

S & H

OTHER

TOTAL

62

Item XII. 1.

mailto:zach_tatum@yanceybros.com


  

Page 1 of 3 

 

 
Oct 30, 2023 
 
EFFINGHAM COUNTY 
 
601 N LAUREL ST 
SPRINGFIELD 
Georgia 
31329-6816 
 
 
RE: Quote 246255-02 

 
 

 

 
Dear Sir, 

 
Yancey Bros. is happy to provide the attached quotation for equipment based on our discussion and your requirements.  Please 
review this carefully to ensure that all necessary items are accounted for.  I am available should any questions arise. 

 
Caterpillar, Inc. Model: CS10GC Soil Compaction 

 
STOCK NUMBER: EM2232342 

 

MACHINE LEAD TIME QTR 1-2024 

 

 
MACHINE SPECIFICATIONS 
CS10 GC 01A VIB COMP 571-3119 
ENGINE, CAT C3.6 558-0890 
PUMP, PROPEL, STANDARD 487-1949 
LIGHTS, HALOGEN, STANDARD 577-1649 
PLATFORM, ROPS/FOPS 568-2672 
SEAT, VINYL, STANDARD 574-6172 
SEAT BELT, 3'' - VINYL SEAT 578-1643 
PRODUCT LINK, CELLULAR PLE643 608-4794 
TIRES, 23.1-26 12PR R-3 511-2048 
SCRAPER, STEEL, FRONT & REAR 516-6917 
OIL, HYD, STANDARD 574-6110 
INSTRUCTIONS, ANSI - ROPS 603-9487 
SERIALIZED TECHNICAL MEDIA KIT 421-8926 

 
 

 

 
Standard Equipment 

 
POWERTRAIN 
 
CAT turbo-charged diesel engine ECOMODE 
with glow-plug heater Single propel pump 
Dual element air cleaner Dual braking systems (service & 
Fuel filter/water separator/electronic parking) 
priming pump and water indicator Two-speed hydrostatic transmission 

63

Item XII. 1.



  

Page 2 of 3 

 

Three-speed throttle lever including Limited slip differential 

 
ELECTRICAL 
 
12-volt starting and charging system Product link ready 
alternator Beacon ready 
Maintenance free battery - 900 CCA Working lights 
Backup alarm and forward warning horn  

 
OPERATOR ENVIRONMENT 
 
Four heavy-duty isolation mounts -E-stop enabled lamp 
Platform handrails/guardrails -ECO mode lamp 
Power steering -vibe switch active lamp 
Adjustable tilt-steering column -glow plug indicator lamp 
Vinyl seat -action lamp 
Retractable seat belt -high coolant temp warning lamps 
On-board display with audible -hydraulic oil filter indicator lamp 
warning alarm and interface for: -hydraulic oil temp warning lamp 
-engine coolant temperature gauge, -low fuel level warning lamp 
-engine speed gauge -water in fuel warning lamp 
-fuel level gauge LCD displayed showing: 
-left/right turn indicator lamp -service hour meter 
-engine oil pressure warning -voltage level 
-park brake engaged lamp 12-volt power point 
-alternator charging indicator lamp  

 
COOLING 
 
Premixed 50% concentration of extended to -37C (-35F) 
life coolant with freeze protection  

 
DRUMS 
 
Smooth drum Dual amplitude with dual frequency 
2134 mm (84'') wide x 1535 mm (60.4'') Dual, pod-style eccentric weight 
diameter housings 

 
OTHER STANDARD EQUIPMENT 
 
Locking steel engine enclosure Fuel tank with lockable cap 
Sealed-for-life hitch bearings Quick connect hydraulic pressure test 
Sight gauges: ports 
-coolant level SOS ports: 
-hydraulic oil level -engine 
-air filter restriction -hydraulic 
Articulated frame with safety lock -coolant 
Transport tie-down and lift points  

 

 

 

 

 

 

64

Item XII. 1.



  

Page 3 of 3 

 

 

SELL PRICE 135,330 

EXT WARRANTY Included 

CSA Included 

NET BALANCE DUE 135,330 

TOTAL QUOTE PRICE 135,330 

 

 

 

 
WARRANTY 

Standard Warranty: 12 months/unlimited hours 

Extended Warranty: 36/3000 – Premier Warranty with Travel Time and Mileage Included For Warranty Repairs  

CSA 24/1000 Parts Only CVA 

 
Accepted by___________________________________ on ____________________  
 

 

 
                                                                              ______________________________ 
                                                                                           Signature 
 
We wish to thank you for the opportunity of quoting on your equipment needs. This quotation is valid for 30 days, after which time 
we reserve the right to re-quote. If there are any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 

 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Zach Tatum 
Machine Sales Representative 
 

 

 

 

65

Item XII. 1.



66

Item XII. 1.



67

Item XII. 1.



68

Item XII. 1.



69

Item XII. 1.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of PO 23-REQ-045 for the Purchase of Two Towable Generators 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Water/Sewer 

Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 

Item Description: PO 23-REQ-045 for the Purchase of Two Towable Generators 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends Approval of the PO 23-REQ-045 for 

the Purchase of Two Towable Generators from Low Country Machinery 

 

Executive Summary/Background:  

 Staff posted a request for quotes for the purchase of two towable generators for 

the Water/Sewer Department. 

 Seven submittals were received: 

 
 EOM personnel reviewed the proposals and recommend award to Low Country 

Machinery. While they are more familiar with the unit submitted by Native 

Instinct, there is a 32-week lead time on their units and Low Country has more 

readily available units and the lower cost. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of the PO 23-REQ-045 for the Purchase of Two Towable Generators 

from Low Country Machinery for $135,000.00 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: EOM, Purchasing 

Funding Source: $200,000 budget, SPLOST 

Attachments: PO 23-REQ-045 

 

 

 

 

#1 Low Country 

Machinery
#2 Native Instinct LLC

#3 Americas Generators, 

Inc
#4 AnA Sourcing

$135,000.00 $146,242.60 $147,985.00 $149,788.00

#5 Ramsay-Bliese Corp
#6 AC and DC POWER 

TECHNOLOGIES, LLC
#7 Cummins

$164,318.00 $184,140.00 $188,033.26

70

Item XII. 2.



#1 Low Country 

Machinery
#2 Native Instinct LLC

#3 Americas 

Generators, Inc
#4 AnA Sourcing

$135,000.00 $146,242.60 $147,985.00 $149,788.00

#5 Ramsay-Bliese Corp
#6 AC and DC POWER 

TECHNOLOGIES, LLC
#7 Cummins

$164,318.00 $184,140.00 $188,033.26

71

Item XII. 2.



804 S LAUREL STREET DATE:

SPRINGFIELD, GA 31329 P.O. #

Phone: 912-754-2159

Fax: 912-754-8413

VENDOR SHIP TO

Low Country Machinery Effingham County Board of Commissioners

1008 US HWY 80 E 311 Hwy 119

Pooler, GA 31322 Springfield, GA 31329

ATTN: Marty Ward ATTN: Charlie Mason

912-663-0228 912-800-1374

mward@lowcountrymachinery.com

ITEM # QTY

1 2

OTHER COMMENTS OR SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS

ECBOC is a tax exempt entity.  Tax ID# is 58-6000821

  

Low Country Machinery - SIGNATURE TITLE

  

Low Country Machinery - PRINT NAME DATE

 

  

AUTHORIZED BY - SIGNATURE AUTHORIZED BY - TITLE

 

AUTHORIZED BY - PRINT NAME AUTHORIZED DATE

 

 

WESLEY CORBITT

-$                 

-$                 

-$                 

Low Country Machinery agrees to furnish two (2) Towable Generator - G125RS JCB as described in 23-REQ-045.  The County 

references the terms, conditions and specifications contained in 23-REQ-045. These units are to be new, never titled and 

acceptance of this PO does not relieve vendor from any requirements listed in the bid documents. 

CHAIRMAN

135,000.00$   

TAX

S & H

OTHER

TOTAL

TAX RATE

135,000.00$   

-$                 

SUBTOTAL

 

UNIT PRICE

135,000.00$   

PURCHASE ORDER
Effingham County Board of Commissioners

REQUISITIONER SHIP VIA F.O.B. SHIPPING TERMS

Towable Generator - G125RS JCB

2 year/3000 hour warranty 

11/21/2023

23-REQ-045

DESCRIPTION

ECBOC  

TOTAL

$67,500.00

72

Item XII. 2.

mailto:mward@lowcountrymachinery.com


73

Item XII. 2.



74

Item XII. 2.



75

Item XII. 2.



76

Item XII. 2.



77

Item XII. 2.



78

Item XII. 2.



79

Item XII. 2.



80

Item XII. 2.



81

Item XII. 2.



82

Item XII. 2.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of PO 23-REQ-046 for the Purchase of a Jetter Trailer 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Water/Sewer 

Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 

Item Description: PO 23-REQ-046 for the Purchase of a Jetter Trailer 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of the PO 23-REQ-046 for 

the Purchase of a Jetter Trailer from Multitech Traders, LLC 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Staff published a request for quotes for the purchase of a jetter trailer for the 

water/sewer department.  

 Four quotes were received: 

1. Technology International, Inc. - $80,980.00 

2. Multitech Traders, LLC - $81,998.00 

3. Environmental Products Group - $84,700.00 

4. Jet-Vac Equipment Company, LLC - $113,746.81 

 During the review of the submittals, EOM noted that bidder #1 and #2 were 

bidding the same unit; however, bidder #1 did not meet the specs included in the 

RFQ. Bidder #2 did include additional items to meet the specs with the exception 

of the hose lead being 10’ instead of 20’. EOM recommends award to bidder #2, 

Multitech Traders, LLC.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of PO 23-REQ-046 for the Purchase of a Jetter Trailer from Multitech 

Traders, LLC. in the amount of $81,998.00 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: EOM, Purchasing 

Funding Source: $92,000 budget, water/sewer funds 

Attachments: PO 23-REQ-046 

 

 

 

 

83

Item XII. 3.



#1 Technology 

International, Inc.

#2 Multitech 

Traders, LLC

#3 Environmental 

Products Group

#4 Jet-Vac Equipment 

Company, LLC

$80,980.00 $81,998.00 $84,700.00 $113,746.81

Brand USJ 3030-600 USJ 3030-600 Vactor RamJet 747 FR 2000 Eco Trailer

Delivery 24 weeks 19 weeks 18 weeks 13-18 weeks
30 GPM @ 3000 PSI yes yes yes yes

Minimum 700 gallon tank capacity 2- 300 gal 2- 375 gal 750 700
Minimum 70 HP tier 4 diesel engine 74 74 74 74

Wireless remote option yes yes see added cost yes
Water recirculation and antifreeze system yes yes yes yes

Air purge system yes yes yes yes
Electronic throttle control yes yes yes yes

Finned nozzle extension yes yes yes yes
Auto shutdown for high engine temperature, low oil pressure yes yes yes yes

Tachometer with hour meter yes yes yes yes
Aluminum Toolbox yes yes yes yes

Hydraulic speed control valve yes yes yes yes
NEMA 4 control panel yes yes yes yes

E-stop No yes yes yes
All LED lights yes yes yes yes

Bypass water control valve yes yes yes yes
Water pressure gauge yes yes yes yes

Electric brakes yes yes hydraulic yes
Aluminum rock guard on fenders yes yes yes Chip guard

2" fill system and 25' hose No yes 2.5" 25' 2.5" 25'
Articulating hydraulic driven hose reel yes yes yes yes

750' capacity pivot hose reel No yes 600' 800' capacity
750' x 3/4" hose 500' 800' 500' yes

3" x 3' Tiger Hose hose protector yes yes yes yes
Nozzle storage rack yes yes yes yes

Fill hose storage rack No yes yes yes
Footage counter No yes yes yes
LED strobe light yes yes yes yes
20' leader hose 10' 10' 25' 25'

Tandem axle trailer (6000 lb DOT rated axles) yes yes yes yes
Minimum 2 year warranty  yes yes yes yes

On site factory training yes yes yes yes
Representative within radius yes yes yes yes

Additional cost to meet spec

90,840.00$                81,998.00$                90,425.00$                113,746.81$                        

84

Item XII. 3.



804 S LAUREL STREET DATE:

SPRINGFIELD, GA 31329 P.O. #

Phone: 912-754-2159

Fax: 912-754-8413

VENDOR SHIP TO

Multitech Traders, LLC Effingham County Board of Commissioners

12603 Raiders Blvd. 311 Hwy 119

Fishers, IN 46037 Springfield, GA 31329

ATTN: Jay Kurtez ATTN: Charlie Mason

812-717-3002 912-800-1374

mtt@multitechtraders.com

ITEM # QTY

1 1

OTHER COMMENTS OR SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS

ECBOC is a tax exempt entity.  Tax ID# is 58-6000821

  

Multitech Traders, LLC - SIGNATURE TITLE

  

Multitech Traders, LLC - PRINT NAME DATE

 

  

AUTHORIZED BY - SIGNATURE AUTHORIZED BY - TITLE

 

AUTHORIZED BY - PRINT NAME AUTHORIZED DATE

 

 

WESLEY CORBITT

-$                 

-$                 

-$                 

Multitech Traders, LLC agrees to furnish one (1) USJ 3030-600 Trailer Mounted High Pressure Jetting as described in 23-REQ-046.  

The County references the terms, conditions and specifications contained in 23-REQ-046.

CHAIRMAN

81,998.00$      

TAX

S & H

OTHER

TOTAL

TAX RATE

81,998.00$      

-$                 

SUBTOTAL

 

UNIT PRICE

81,998.00$      

PURCHASE ORDER
Effingham County Board of Commissioners

REQUISITIONER SHIP VIA F.O.B. SHIPPING TERMS

USJ 3030-600 Trailer Mounted High Pressure Jetting

11/21/2023

23-REQ-046

DESCRIPTION

ECBOC  

TOTAL

$81,998.00

85

Item XII. 3.

mailto:mtt@multitechtraders.com


  Date: 11-01-2023 

 MULTITECH TRADERS LLC | 12603 Raiders Blvd, Fisher, IN 46037 | Tel: (812) 717 3002 | Email: mtt@multitechtraders.com 

    
 
MULTITECH TRADERS LLC UEI :  P8LBDB6HMKB1 
12603 Raiders Blvd, DUNS: 11873413 
Fisher, IN 46037 EIN : 88-2676590 
CAGE Code: 9EZ26 Registered in http://www.sam.gov 
 
Quote #: MTT/1023-26515 
Prepare by:   Jay Kurtez 
Title: Bidding Executive 
Email: mtt@multitechtraders.com 
 
Agency   Effingham County 
Project: Purchase of a Jetter Trailer 
Bid #: 23-REQ-046 
  
FOB: Springfield, GA 31329 
Lead time: 19 Weeks 
Validity: 30 Days 
 
Multitech Traders, LLC is a small business and our Tax Payer Identification Number (EIN): 88-2676590. 
 
We are delighted to present the following for consideration in response to your quote request for " Purchase 
of a Jetter Trailer”. We trust that this proposal will meet your requirements and we look forward to hearing 
from you. 
. 
Description: USJ 3030-600 Trailer Mounted High Pressure Jetting  $81,998.00 
 
Engine/Pump:     Hose Reel & Hose:    Accessories: 
Hatz 74 HP Diesel Engine Tier IV   Standard Pivot Hose Reel   10' Leader Hose 
USJ 30 GPM @ 3000 PSI   3/4" x 500' USJ Sewer Hose  3/4" RPD 6R/1F Nozzle 
Triplex Plunger Pump    Manual Hose Guide   3/4" RPD 8R Nozzle 
Tier 4 Basic Control Panel   Hydraulic Driven Hose Reel  9" Drain Jet Extension 
Auto Shutdown (for High Engine  Trailer:     3" Tiger Tail 
Temp/Low Oil Pressure)    Twin 6000 lbs. Torsion Bar Axle  Nozzle Rack 
Water Recirculation & Anti-Freeze Sys  D.O.T. Approved LED Lighting  Digital Operator/Manual 
Pulsation System    Two (2) 72" Aluminum Tool Box  1 Pair Safety Gloves; 3000 PSI  
Shrouded Engine     Aluminum Rims    7500 PSI Flat or Rotary 
 
Water Tanks: 
Two (2) 300 Gallon Black Water Tanks 
 

Page 1 of 2 
86

Item XII. 3.



 MULTITECH TRADERS LLC | 12603 Raiders Blvd, Fisher, IN 46037 | Tel: (812) 717 3002 | Email: mtt@multitechtraders.com 

 
Included Options 
Engine / Pump:  

 JMS Elite Wireless Remote Control Systems 
 
Hose Reel /Hose: 

 Upgrade To Longer 3/4" Hose; Increments Of 100' 
 Footage Counter Manual Option (J-428-2020-ASSY) 

 
Tank & Fill: 

 Upgrade To Two (2) 375 Gallon Water Tanks 
 2 1/2" Hydrant Hose Holder (2J-284-HOLDER-2.5) 

 
Nozzle & Accessory: 

 Finned Extension 
 

Quotation Acceptance & Purchase Order Confirmation 
Customer to provide equipment and personnel to unload. 
FOB manufacturer, best way PPD and ADD 
Following order receipt, submittal information will be made available for approval. (If appropriate) 
Quoted price is not available on a line item basis. This is an offer for a lump sum contract. 
MSO will be given by Multitech Traders at the moment of payment confirmation. (if applicable) 
The price quoted does not include any sales, excise or similar taxes 
Net 30 days for each invoice 
 
If you have any questions or need more information, please contact us by phone at (812) 717 3002, or email us 
at mtt@multitechtraders.com 
 
Respectfully submitted by: 

 
 
 
 
 

Jey.K 
Bidding Executive 
MULTITECH TRADERS, LLC 
 
 
 

Page 2 of 2 
87

Item XII. 3.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Change Order #3 for Task Order 22-25-006 for the TSPLOST 

Intersections Design and Construction Management with Roberts Civil Engineering  

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Public Works  

Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 

Item Description: Change Order #3 for Task Order 22-25-006 for the TSPLOST Intersections 

Design and Construction Management with Roberts Civil Engineering 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval for Change Order #3 for Task Order 

22-25-006 for the TSPLOST Intersections Design and Construction Management with Roberts 

Civil Engineering in the amount of $105,000.00 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Change Order 1 was approved for the design and construction management of two 

additional intersections: 

o Hodgeville Road @ Scuffletown Road - $74,242 

o Hodgeville Road @ Forest Haven Road - $74,242 

 Change Order 2 was approved to add Right Of Way Acquisition Services and Lighting 

Design to the scope for a NTE total of $437,560.00.  

 Change Order 3 is being requested for the resurfacing of Hodgeville Road in conjunction 

with the turn lane improvements included in CO1, Hodgeville/Scuffletown and 

Hodgeville/Forest Haven. 

 The original contract amount is $742,423.00 

 Change Order 1: $148,484.00 

 Change Order 2: $437,560.00 

 Change Order 3: $105,000.00 

 The new contract total is $1,433,467.00 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval for Change Order #3 for Task Order 22-25-006 for the TSPLOST Intersections 

Design and Construction Management with Roberts Civil Engineering in the amount of 

$105,000 

2. Deny Change Order #3 

3. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: County Manager, Project Manager, Purchasing, Finance  

Funding Source: TSPLOST 

Attachments:  

1. Change Order #3 

2. RCE Request 

88

Item XII. 4.



Change Order # 3

 
 

Project: 22-25-006 – Engineering/Design of TSPLOST Intersections 

Contract Date: December 7, 2021 

Change Order Effective Date: November 21, 2023 

Change Order Issued to: Roberts Civil Engineering 

    301 Sea Island Rd., Suite 10 

    St. Simons Island, GA. 31522 

 
You are directed to make the following changes to this Contract. 

 
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION Unit Price Quantity Total 

1 Hodgeville Road Resurfacing Package   $105,000.00 

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

     

 TOTAL   $105,000.00 

 
The original Contract Sum was............................................................................$ 742,423.00 

Net change by previously authorized Change Orders....................................$ 586,044.00 

The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was...........................................$ 1,328,467.00 

The Contract Sum will be increased by this Change Order............................$ 105,000.00 

The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be..........................$ 1,433,467.00 

 

 

 

Owner       Contractor 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners  Roberts Civil Engineering 

804 S. Laurel Street     301 Sea Island Rd., Suite 10 

Springfield, GA 31329     St. Simons Island, GA. 31522 

 

 

By: ______________________________________  By: ________________________________ 

 

 

Date: ___________________________________  Date: ______________________________ 

89

Item XII. 4.



 
 

St Simons Island | Savannah | Jacksonville | Charleston 
www.robertscivilengineering.com 

                                                              

Additional Work Authorization  

Hodgeville Road Resurfacing 

 Effingham County, GA 

 
On this 8th day of November 2023, the services below are proposed in addition to the executed 

Contract Agreement between Effingham County Board of Commissioners and Roberts Civil 

Engineering, LLC dated December 7th, 2021. All terms of the aforementioned Contract Agreement 

shall remain in effect for all work.    

 

1. Hodgeville Road Resurfacing Package 

 

Additional Work Requested                      Item 1: Hourly Not to Exceed: $105,000.00 

 

 

 

*Delivery of Work Requested as Follows for Approximately 3.88 Miles of Leveling, 

Resurfacing, and Overlay of Hodgeville Road Resurfacing Package:  

 

Items Description Hours Total 

1 Bid Documents / Construction Documents 80 $14,800 

2 Project Management/ Construction Management/ 
Inspections 

448 $82,880 

3 Coordination with Contractors and Review of 
Submittals/Pay Applications 

20 $3,700 

4 Project Close Out 20 $3,700 

 

 

*The above is the budgeted allotment for Hours for the additional work referenced, this 

agreement is ‘Hourly Not to Exceed’ so any time not spent on the project will not be billed to 

the client.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

90

Item XII. 4.

http://www.robertscivilengineering.com/


 IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have caused this agreement to be executed as of the day and 

year first above written.   

ENGINEER:            

CLIENT:            

 

 

          By:  Johnathan Roberts   

          For:  Roberts Civil Engineering, LLC          

           Its:  Professional Engineer   

                 

  

           

 

 

 

          By:  ____________________________   

          For:  ____________________________            

           Its:  ____________________________   

91

Item XII. 4.



Staff Report 
 
Subject:  Purchase of Service Agreement between Coastal Regional 
   Commission and Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
Author:  Tim Callanan 
Department:  County Manager 
Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 
Item Description: Consideration to approve a Purchase of Service Agreement between 
Coastal Regional Commission and Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
 
Summary Recommendation:  The staff recommends the approval of the Purchase of 
Service Agreement between Coastal Regional Commission and Effingham County Board 
of Commissioners. 
 
Executive Summary/Background:  The Coastal Regional Commission has suspended 
the monthly group shopping trips for the Senior Center due to budgetary restraints.  This 
agreement will allow Effingham County Board of Commissioners to continue to provide 
the Seniors at the Senior Center monthly group trips to and from Walmart to support their 
“Quality of Life” purposes.  This agreement will require Effingham County Board of 
Commissioners to commit to an aggregated amount of $50.00 per hour for approximately 
one (1), three-hour round trip (or $150 total per trip) to cover the Coastal Regional 
Commission costs of scheduled trips for the remainder of Fiscal Year 2024.  This being 
an approximate total of $1200. 
 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the Purchase of Service Agreement with Coastal Regional Commission 
2. Do not approve the proposed agreement. 
3. Provide staff with direction. 

 
Recommended Alternative:  Staff recommends alternative 1 – Approve the Purchase of 
Service Agreement with Coastal Regional Commission. 
 
Other Alternatives:   None 
 
Department Review: County Manager 
 
Funding Source:  Fund Balance 
 
Attachments:  Purchase of Service Agreement between Coastal Regional Commission 
and Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

92

Item XII. 5.



Purchase of Service Agreement 
between 

Coastal Regional Commission 
and 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
 

THIS, AGREEMENT, executed this ____ day of          2023, between the 
Coastal Regional Commission, hereinafter referred to as the "Provider" and the Effingham 
County Board of Commissioners, supporting the Springfield Senior Citizens Center, 128 
New Stillwell Rd. Springfield, GA 31328, hereinafter referred to as the "Purchaser". 

 
WHEREAS, the Provider's transportation program is a rural public shared ride, door-

to- door advance request service available to all persons within the ten-counties of the coastal 
region; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Purchaser will respond to the current needs of its community by 

providing transportation that will deliver a monthly group trip that will support the citizens of 
Effingham County for “Quality of Life” (QoL) purposes.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Provider and Purchaser do mutually agree as follows: 

 
I) The service offered to the Purchaser will be an extension of the Provider's regional 

rural public transit system open to other public riders; Provider will also provide 
specific transportation services as requested or needed by the Purchaser; 

 
2) The Provider will provide transportation services during the Provider's normal hours 

of operation for general public clients that reside in the incorporated and 
unincorporated areas of Effingham County, and the City of Springfield.  

 
3) The scheduling/ordering of trips shall be through the use of the Provider's 

established Call Center. The purchaser must notify the CRC Call Center one-week 
in advance of the requested senior group trip for the Springfield Senior Center; 

 
4) The Provider will provide to the Purchaser a monthly invoice with the number of 

trips taken and identified by type of trip, address of origin, and destination; 
 

5) The Provider will be responsible for furnishing drivers, vehicles, maintenance and 
repair of vehicles, insurance and all other costs for the vehicles used to carry out this 
Agreement. Drivers can assist clients with entering and/or exiting the bus as requested; 
however, they are not permitted to leave the line of site of the bus at any time; 

 
6) The Purchaser has committed an aggregated amount of $50.00 per hour, for 

approximately one (1), three-hour round trip to a local shopping establishment (Walmart, 
Etc.) each month to cover the client cost of scheduled trips, for the seven-months of 

93

Item XII. 5.



service remaining in FY24; 
 

7) The Transportation Services provided pursuant to this Agreement shall begin 
immediately upon execution of this Agreement; and shall continue until all funds are 
exhausted, or until seven-month term remaining in FY24 is reached (June 30, 2024), or 
terminated in concurrence by either party.  

 
8) The Provider shall not be liable to Purchaser for any failure, delay, or interruption of 

services, or for failure or delay in the performance of the Agreement due to acts of 
God, fire, riot, governmental restrictions, enemy actions, civil commotion, or other 
similar acts or conditions beyond reasonable control of the Provider; 

 
9) This Agreement may be amended by mutual consent of the contracting parties. Such 

amendment by either party must be in writing, signed by both parties, and attached to 
and made part of this Agreement. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Provider and the Purchaser have executed this Agreement 
as of this date just written above. 

 
 
 COASTAL REGIONAL COMMISSION 
 
 
 ________________________   ________________ 
 Allen Burns, Executive Director   Date 
 
 
 ____________________________   ___________________ 
 Ken Lee, Chairman     Date 
  
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 
 
 
____________________________                               ____________________ 
Wesley Corbitt, Chairman        Date  

94

Item XII. 5.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Contract 23-RFP-042 with Foresite Group, LLC for the SS4A Action Plan 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department:  

Meeting Date: November 21, 2023  

Item Description: Contract 23-RFP-042 with Foresite Group, LLC for the SS4A Action Plan 

 

Summary Recommendation: Approval of Contract 23-RFP-042 with Foresite Group, LLC for 

the SS4A Action Plan for $195,880.00 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Effingham County was awarded grant funds for the Safe Streets and Roads for All 

Action Plan. The SS4A Action Plan will be in accordance with the U.S. Department of 

Transportation guidelines and include the following Action Plan Components:  

o Safety Analysis 

o Public Involvement 

o Identification and analysis of underserved communities 

o Assessment of current policies, guidelines and standards 

o Identification and prioritization of projects and strategies 

 Five (5) proposals were received as follows: 

  Price # of hours 

Atlas $249,933.97 996 

Heath & Lineback $264,401.65 1445 

Forsesite Group $195,880.00 951 

Kimley-Horn $239,970.00 1355 

Pond $233,542.52 1144 

 Staff and Thomas and Hutton personnel have reviewed all of the proposals. After a 

thorough review, the recommendation is to award to Foresite Group, LLC.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Contract 23-RFP-042 with Foresite Group, LLC for the SS4A Action Plan for 

$195,880.00 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: T&H, CIP, County Manager, Purchasing 

Funding Source: Grant Funds 

Attachments: Contract and Proposal Information 

 

 

95

Item XII. 6.



 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

23-RFP-042 

SAFE STREETS AND ROADS FOR ALL ACTION PLAN 

 

 

Effingham County 

804 S Laurel Street 

Springfield, GA 31329 

 

 

 

96

Item XII. 6.



Effingham County 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

23-RFP-042 

Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan 

I. Services Contract  ................................................................................. 
II. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS CONTRACT ...................................... 

III. COMPENSATION, FINANCIAL ADMIN AND GUARANTEES ..................... 
IV. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS ................................................................ 
V. WAIVERS AND EXCEPTIONS  ................................................................. 

VI. GENERAL PROVISIONS .......................................................................... 
VII. AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE AND ENTER AGREEMENT .............................. 

 

 

 

  

97

Item XII. 6.



Request For Proposal #23-RFP-042 
Title: Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan 

3 

 

1. Services Contract 

Services Contract Between 

This Contract (hereinafter referred to as “Contract” or “Agreement”) is made and entered into by and 

between the Board of Commissioners of Effingham County, Georgia (hereinafter referred to as the 

"Board" and/or “County”) and Foresite Group, LLC, 3740 Davinci Ct, Suite 100, Peachtree Corners, GA 

30092, (hereinafter called the "Contractor"). This Contract shall be effective and binding on the date 

that the last authorized signature is affixed. 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to engage a qualified company as specified in 23-RFP-042 - Safe Streets and 

Roads for All Action Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the Vendor has represented to the Board that it is experienced, licensed and qualified to 

provide the services contained herein, and the Board has relied upon such representation; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants herein contained, it is agreed 

by and between the Board and the Vendor as follows: 

  

98

Item XII. 6.



Request For Proposal #23-RFP-042 
Title: Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan 

4 

 

2. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS CONTRACT 

2.1. TERMS OF SERVICE. 

The scope of services and the terms and conditions of performance shall be as specified in this 

document and in 23-RFP-042- Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan and related addenda which are 

hereby adopted and incorporated as if set forth fully herein. 

2.2. CONTRACT. 

This Contract is for the SS4A Action Plan Project in the amount of $195,880.00. 

2.3. REQUIREMENT FOR MANDATORY PERFORMANCE. 

The words "shall", "will" and "must" may be used interchangeably in this Contract and in any case will 

indicate mandatory. 

2.4. PERSONNEL AND EQUIPMENT. 

The Vendor represents that it has secured and will secure, at its own expense, all personnel and 

equipment necessary to perform the services of this Contract, none of whom shall be employees of, nor 

have any contractual relationship with Effingham County. All of the services required hereunder will be 

performed by the Vendor under its supervision, and all personnel engaged in the work shall be fully 

qualified and shall be authorized or permitted under law to perform such services. 

2.5. CHANGES TO THIS CONTRACT 

The County may, at any time, request changes in the Scope of Services of the Vendor to be performed 

hereunder. Such changes, including any increase or decrease in term, rate, or amount of the Vendor’s 

compensation, as more fully described elsewhere herein, which are mutually agreed upon by and 

between the County and the Vendor shall be incorporated in written amendments to this Contract. 

2.6. TERMINATION OF CONTRACT FOR CAUSE. 

County may terminate this Contract for cause or Vendor’s persistent failure to perform the work in 

accordance with the Contract Documents. If County terminates the Contract for cause, Vendor shall not 

be entitled to any further payment from the effective date of the termination which shall be stated in 

the termination letter sent by the County. 

2.7. TERMINATION OF CONTRACT WITHOUT CAUSE. 

County may terminate without cause, upon seven (7) days written notice to Vendor. In such case, 

Vendor shall be paid for completed and acceptable work executed in accordance with this Contract prior 

to the effective date of termination. Vendor shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated profits or 

revenue or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination. 

2.8. TERMINATION OF CONTRACT FOR LACK OF FUNDING. 

The obligation of the County for payment to the Vendor is limited to the availability of funds 

appropriated in the current fiscal year by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners. 

99

Item XII. 6.



Request For Proposal #23-RFP-042 
Title: Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan 

5 

 

2.9. INDEMNIFICATION. 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Vendor shall indemnify and hold harmless County and its 

officers, directors, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors from and against all 

claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, 

architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution 

costs) arising out or relating to the performance of the work, but only to the extent caused by any 

negligent or willful act or omission of Vendor, its subcontractors and suppliers, or any individual or 

entity directly or indirectly employed by them to perform any of the work or anyone for whose acts any 

of them may be liable. 

The Vendor’s obligation to indemnify Effingham County under this Section shall not be limited in any 

way by the agreed upon contract price as shown in this Contract or by the scope and amount of 

insurance maintained by the Contractor. 

2.10. COVENANT AGAINST CONTINGENT FEES. 

The Vendor shall comply with the relevant requirements of all Federal, State, County or other local laws. 

The Vendor warrants this it has not employed or retained any company, person, other than a bona fide 

employee working solely for the Vendor, for any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gifts, or 

any consideration, contingent upon or resulting from the award or making of this contract. 

 

For breach or violation of this warranty, the Board shall have the right to annul this Contract without 

liability or in its discretion to deduct from the Contract price or consideration, or otherwise recover, the 

full amount of such fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gift or contingent fee. 

2.11. PROHIBITED INTERESTS. 

A. Conflict of Interest. The Vendor and its subcontractors warrant that they presently have no interest 

and shall acquire no interest, direct or indirect, that would conflict in any manner or degree with the 

performance of its services hereunder. The Vendor further agrees that, in the performance of the 

Contract no person having such interest shall be employed. 

B. Statement of disclosure: Vendor must provide a statement of disclosure which will allow the County 

to evaluate possible conflicts of interest. 

 

Interests of Public Officials. 

Vendor warrants for itself and any subcontractor that no elected or appointed official or employee of 

Effingham County, Georgia, has any interest in their bid or the proceeds of any contract/agreement 

which may result thereof. In the event that an elected or appointed official or employee acquires any 

interest in any contract/agreement which may result from this bid, or the proceeds thereof, the vendor 

agrees to disclose such interest to the County immediately by written notice. For breach or violation of 

this clause, the County may annul any contract/agreement resulting from this bid without liability, 

terminate any contract/agreement resulting from this bid for default, or take other remedial measures. 

“Interest” as used herein means direct or indirect pecuniary or material benefit accruing to a county 

commissioner, official or employee as a result of a matter which is or which is expected to become the 

subject of an official action by or with the county, except for such actions which, by their terms and by 

the substance of their provisions, confer the opportunity and right to realize the accrual of similar 

100

Item XII. 6.



Request For Proposal #23-RFP-042 
Title: Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan 

6 

 

benefits to all other persons and/or property similarly situated. The term “interest” shall not include any 

remote interest. For purposes of this bid, a county commissioner, official or employee shall be deemed 

to have an interest in the affairs of: (1) his or her family; (2) any business entity in which the county 

commissioner, official or employee is a member, officer, director, employee, or prospective employee; 

and (3) any business entity as to which the stock, legal ownership, or beneficial ownership of a county 

commissioner, official or employee is in excess of five percent of the total stock or total legal and 

beneficial ownership, or which is controlled or owned directly or indirectly by the county commissioner, 

official or employee. Remote interest as used herein means the interest of (1) a volunteer director, 

officer, or employee of a nonprofit corporation; (2) a holder of less than 5 percent of the legal or 

beneficial ownership of the total shares of a business; (3) any person in a representative capacity, such 

as a receiver, trustee, or administrator. Family as used herein means the spouse, parents, children, and 

siblings, related by blood, marriage, or adoption, of a county official or employee. 

2.12. AUDITS AND INSPECTIONS. 

At any time during normal business hours and as often as the County may deem necessary, the Vendor 

and its subcontractors shall make available to the County and/or representatives of the County, 

examination all of its records with respect to all matters covered by this Contract. It shall also permit the 

County and/or representatives of the County to audit, inspect, examine and make copies, excerpts or 

transcripts from such records of personnel, conditions of employment and other data relating to all 

matters covered by this Contract. All documents to be audited shall be available for inspection at all 

reasonable times in the main offices of the County or at the offices of the Vendor as requested by the 

County. 

2.13. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR. 

Vendor hereby covenants and declares that it is an independent business and agrees to perform the 

Work as an independent contractor and not as the agent or employee of the County. The Vendor agrees 

to be solely responsible for its own matters relating to the time and place the services are performed; 

the instrumentalities, tools, supplies, and/or materials necessary to complete the Work; hiring of 

consultants, agents, or employees to complete the Work; and the payment of employees, including 

compliance with Social Security, withholding, and all other regulations governing such matters. The 

Vendor agrees to be solely responsible for its own acts and those of its subordinates and subcontractors 

during the life of this Agreement. 

2.14. NOTICES. 

All notices shall be in writing and any notices, demands, and other papers or documents to be delivered 

to Effingham County, Georgia, under this Contract shall be delivered in person or transmitted by 

certified mail, postage prepaid to 804 South Laurel Street, Springfield, Georgia 31329, or at any such 

other place as may be subsequently designated by written notice to the Contractor. 

 

All written notices, demands, and other papers or documents to be delivered to the Vendor under this 

Contract shall be transmitted by certified mail, postage prepaid, to Foresite Group, LLC and 3740 Davinci 

Ct, Suite 100, Peachtree Corners, GA 30092. It shall be Vendor’s responsibility to inform the County of 

any change to this contact address. 

101

Item XII. 6.



Request For Proposal #23-RFP-042 
Title: Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan 

7 

 

2.15. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. 

The Vendor shall comply with all applicable Federal, State, and local laws, ordinances, rules, and 

regulations relating to the work, including by not limited to Effingham County building code and 

permitting requirements and other local requirements as applicable. 

2.16. ASSIGNABILITY. 

The Vendor shall not assign or transfer any of its rights, obligations, benefits, liabilities, or other interest 

under this Contract without written consent of the County. 

2.17. GOVERNING LAW. 

This Contract shall be governed by the laws of Georgia, with venue in Effingham County. 

102

Item XII. 6.



Request For Proposal #23-RFP-042 
Title: Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan 

8 

 

3. COMPENSATION, FINANCIAL ADMIN AND GUARANTEES 

3.1. COMPENSATION FOR CONTRACTOR SERVICES. 

The County shall pay the Contractor for his services as detailed in the proposal submitted by the Vendor:  

 

These rates and fees shall remain in effect until the end of the project, without exception.  

All invoices shall contain the following:  

Date services performed 

Detailed account of services performed 

Location of services performed 

Name of employee providing said services 

Name of County employee requesting said services 

 

No work shall take place without advanced written approval of the County’s Purchasing Department. If 

the Vendor commences any work prior to receiving written approval, he does so at his own risk. 

 

No work outside the scope of work contained in the RFP will be performed without the advanced 

written approval of the County’s Board of Commissioners. 

 

Advance payments prior to any work shall not be granted unless specified in writing.  

 

Progress payments or draw shall not be granted unless specified in writing.  

 

Notwithstanding any other payment provisions of this contract, failure of the Vendor to submit required 

reports when due or failure to perform or deliver required work, supplies, or services, may result in the 

withholding of payment under this contract unless such failure arises out of causes beyond the control, 

and without the fault or negligence of the Vendor. The County will immediately notify the Vendor of its 

intention to withhold payment of any invoice or voucher submitted. 

3.2. PAYMENT OF TAXES AND FEES. 

The Vendor shall pay the cost of any taxes, permits, fees, or licenses required to complete and satisfy 

the requirements of this Contract. 

3.3. QUANTITIES GUARANTEED. 

The Vendor represents, understands and agrees that this is an “ON CALL” / “LUMP SUM” contract, to 

guarantee pricing for services contained herein. 

103

Item XII. 6.



Request For Proposal #23-RFP-042 
Title: Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan 

9 

 

4. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

4.1. INSURANCE PROVISIONS: 

Vendor shall be required to procure and maintain for the duration of the contract insurance against 

claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the 

performance of the work hereunder by the Vendor, its agents, representatives, employees or 

subcontractors. Contract work will not proceed unless Effingham County has in their possession, a 

current Certificate of Insurance. Effingham County invokes the defense of sovereign immunity. The 

County is not to be included as an additional insured on insurance contracts. 

General Information that shall appear on a Certificate of Insurance: 

1. Name of Producer (contractor's insurance Broker/Agent). 

2. Companies affording coverage (there may be several). 

3. Name and address of the Insured (this should be the Company or Parent of the firm Effingham County 

is contracting with). 

4. A Summary of all current insurance for the insured (includes effective dates of coverage). 

5. A brief description of the operations to be performed, the specific job to be performed, or contract 

number. 

6. Certificate Holder (This is to always include Effingham County). 

 

Limits of Insurance: 

Effective coverage shall have the following limits: 

A. Commercial General Liability of $1,000,000 (one million dollars) per occurrence and $2,000,000 (two 

million dollars) aggregate for bodily and personal injury, sickness, disease or death, injury to or 

destruction of property, including loss of use resulting there from. Excess or umbrella liability coverage 

shall be required for contracts pertaining to road construction or repairs, automotive or motor vehicle 

repairs, or for contracts over $1,000,000.00. 

B. Commercial Automobile Liability (owned, non-owned, hired) of $1,000,000 (one million dollars) per 

occurrence for bodily and personal injury, sickness, disease or death, injury to or destruction of 

property, including loss of use resulting therefrom. 

C. Workers’ Compensation limits as required by the State of Georgia and Employers Liability limits of 

$1,000,000 (one million dollars) per accident or disease. 

 

Special Requirements: 

 

A. Claims-Made Coverage: The limits of liability shall remain the same as the occurrence basis, however, 

the Retroactive date shall be prior to or coincident with the date of any contract, and the Certificate of 

Insurance shall state the retroactive date and the coverage is claims-made.  

B. Extended Reporting Periods:The contractor shall provide the County with a notice of the election to 

104

Item XII. 6.



Request For Proposal #23-RFP-042 
Title: Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan 

10 

 

initiate any Supplemental Extended Reporting Period and the reason(s) for invoking this option. 

Reporting Provisions: Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies shall not affect 

coverage. 

C. Cancellation/Non-Renewal Notification: Each insurance policy shall be endorsed to state that it shall 

not be suspended, voided, or canceled, except after thirty (30) days prior to written notice by certified 

mail, return receipt, has been given to the County. 

D. Proof of Insurance: Effingham County shall be furnished with certificates of insurance and original 

endorsements affecting coverage required by this invitation. The certificates and endorsements are to 

be signed by a person authorized by the insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. All certificates of 

insurance are to be submitted prior to, and approved by, the County before services are rendered. The 

CONTRACTOR must ensure Certificates of Insurance are updated for the entire term of the Contract. 

F. Insurer Acceptability: Insurance is to be placed with an insurer having an A.M. Best's rating of A and a 

five (5)year average financial rating of not less than V. If an insurer does not qualify for averaging on a 

five year basis, the current total Best's rating will be used to evaluate insurer acceptability. 

G. Lapse in Coverage: A lapse in coverage shall constitute grounds for contract termination by Effingham 

County Board of Commissioners. 

H. Deductible and Self-Insured Retention: Any deductibles or self-insured retention must be declared 

to, and approved by, the County. At the option of the County, either: the insurer shall reduce or 

eliminate such deductibles or self-insured retention as related to the County, its officials, officers, 

employees, and volunteers; or the Contractor shall procure a bond guaranteeing payment of related 

suits, losses, claims and related investigation, claim administration and defense expenses 

 

Additional Coverage for Engineering, Architectural and Surveying Services: 

 

Professional Liability: Insure errors or omission on behalf of architects, engineers, attorneys, medical 

professionals, and consultants. Minimum Limits: $1,000,000 per claim/occurrence. Coverage 

Requirement: If “claims made,” retroactive date must precede or coincide with the contract effective 

date or the date of the Notice to Proceed. The professional must state if “tail” coverage has been 

purchased and the duration of the coverage. 

105

Item XII. 6.



Request For Proposal #23-RFP-042 
Title: Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan 

11 

 

5. WAIVERS AND EXCEPTIONS 

No failure by County to enforce any right or power granted under this Contract, or to insist upon strict 

compliance by Contractor with this Contract, and no custom or practice of County at variance with the 

terms and conditions of this Contract shall constitute a general waiver of any future breach or default or 

affect the County’s right to demand exact and strict compliance by Contractor with the terms and 

conditions of this Contract. 

106

Item XII. 6.



Request For Proposal #23-RFP-042 
Title: Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan 

12 

 

6. GENERAL PROVISIONS 

This Contract supersedes any and all agreements, both oral and written, between the parties with 

respect to the rendering of services by Contractor for County and contains all of the covenants and 

agreements between the parties with respect to the rendering of these services in any matter 

whatsoever. Each party acknowledges that no representations, inducements, promises, or agreements, 

written or oral, have been made by either party, or by anyone acting on behalf of either party, that are 

not embodied in this Contract. Any modification of this Contract will be effective only if set forth in 

writing and signed by the party to be charged. 

Vendor warrants that it will not, in the performance of this Contract, illegally discriminate on the basis of 

race, color, sex, or national origin. 

This Contract will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia. If 

any provision in this Contract is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or 

unenforceable, the remaining provisions will continue in full force and effect without being impaired or 

invalidated in any way. 

If Vendor dies or is dissolved prior to the completion of this Contract, any moneys that may be due to 

Vendor from County for services rendered prior to the date of death or dissolution shall be paid to 

Contractor’s executors, administrators, heirs, personal representative, successors, or assigns. 

107

Item XII. 6.



Request For Proposal #23-RFP-042 
Title: Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan 

13 

 

7. AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE AND ENTER AGREEMENT 

By his, her, or their signature(s) below, the person or persons signing on behalf of Vendor warrant that 

(1) they are authorized to sign on behalf of Vendor; (2) that to the extent Vendor; is an entity rather 

than an individual, the entity is currently in existence and is validly registered with appropriate 

government officials; and (3) that the individual and entity contracting herein are in compliance with all 

Georgia requirements related to federal and state immigration laws and the use of E-Verify and shall 

remain in compliance during the term of this Contract. 

  

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto acting through their duly authorized agents have caused this 

Contract to be signed, sealed and delivered. 

This ____ day of ____________________, 20___. 

  

Foresite Group, LLC 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 

Signature                                                      Title 

  

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Witness - Signature                               Witness - Title 

  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

  

_______________________________ 

WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

23-RFP-042 

COMISSION APPROVAL DATE: _____________ 

  

  

 

108

Item XII. 6.



SAFE STREETS AND ROADS FOR ALL ACTION PLANSAFE STREETS AND ROADS FOR ALL ACTION PLAN
23-RFP-04223-RFP-042
EFFINGHAM COUNTY  |  10.30.23EFFINGHAM COUNTY  |  10.30.23

Foresite Group, LLC
3740 Davinci Ct, Suite 100  

Peachtree Corners, GA 30092
o | 770.368.1399

w | ForesiteGroup.net
POINT OF CONTACT: Erik Steavens

esteavens@fg-inc.net

TECHNICAL PROPOSALTECHNICAL PROPOSAL

109

Item XII. 6.



TECHNICAL PROPOSAL

1|  PROJECT PLAN / APPROACH  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

2|  EXCEPTIONS  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

TABLE OF CONTENTS

110

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Technical Proposal) 3

PROJECT PLAN / APPROACH1
The following provides our detailed technical approach 
Effinghams County’s RFP, dated September 26, 2023, including 
key issues, solutions, and assumptions.

TASK 1 - PROJECT MANAGEMENT
Foresite will provide overall management and coordination 
of the project. Foresite’s Project Manager, Erik Steavens, 
successfully managed many planning efforts across the 
country. Mr. Steavens will be responsible for management 
of the scope, schedule and budget of this project and will be 
the primary point of contact with Effingham County’s project 
manager.

Mr. Steavens and the Foresite Team recognizes that moving 
to implementation as early as possible is a goal of this project 
and will continue to look for efficiencies to accomplish this goal 
while not compromising the quality of the work.

Meetings/Coordination: The Foresite Team will provide full 
support to all the Stakeholders Committee, town-hall meetings, 
webinars, and focus group discussions. This includes meeting 
scheduling, preparation of agendas, meeting materials, 
facilitation, and meeting summaries.

Mr. Steavens will provide biweekly progress emails to 
Effingham County’s Project Manager. Foresite, however, will 
not wait to notify Effingham County’s Project Manager of 
issues. Effingham County will be alerted at once and Foresite 
will determine potential solutions and recommendations. 
Foresite and its team members will be available to meet with 
the Effingham County Project Manager to discuss issues or 
prepare for Stakeholders Committee meetings and other 
meetings.  Furthermore, there is a once-a-month meeting 
with the Foresite Team and the County to work through draft 
technical memorandums.

Invoicing: Foresite will prepare monthly invoices accompanied 
by a written progress report that identifies work performed, 
upcoming work and deliverables, as well as any issues or 
potential issues that could affect the project scope, schedule, 
or budget.

Communication: Communication is the key to the successful 
completion of any project. It is particularly important when 
working as part of a multi-discipline team with subconsultants, 
and we recognize that any slip in our schedule could impact 
and delay the entire project delivery process. Keeping our staff 
and the Effingham County informed on a regular basis is critical 
to maintaining schedule, budget, and quality. Foresite’s Project 
Manager will discuss the means for communication with the 
Effingham County and each of the reviewing agencies including 
key county stakeholders and set the protocol for this project. 
Action items will be documented and tracked, identifying task, 
person responsible to complete and date of completion for 
each action item to meet project objectives on schedule.

TASK 2 – SAFETY DATA ANALYSIS
The Foresite team regularly weaves the fundamental 4E’s 
perspective of highway safety (Engineering, Education, 
Enforcement, and Emergency medical services), as well as a 
fifth E for Equity, into a safe systems approach. By blending 
these foundational tools into a system of strategies, we have 
been able to assess the efficacy of safety enhancements more 
holistically both in terms of costs, but also more importantly 
in terms of lives saved. For this engagement, our approach 
to safety analysis will be rooted in a four-step process: data 
collection, data validation, high-injury network identification, 
and data visualization. 

DATA COLLECTION
Effective safety planning requires a diverse set of information 
far beyond crash records, be it MIRE design features / 
roadway geometrics, safe routes to school and other active 
transportation networks, surrounding land use (e.g., local 
alcohol establishments), and disadvantaged community 
identifiers, to name a few. Having worked with various counties, 
MPOs, and DOTs; we have further found it prudent at times to 
include third-party data. For instance, High Street’s subscription 
to Replica has allowed us to conduct comprehensive origin-
destination assessments to better understand the profile 
of roadway users. Combining solutions like Replica with 
Climate and Economic Justice Screening Tool (CEJST) data is 
particularly helpful for identifying VRU routes.  Our staff have 
also leveraged open-source data such as Strava Metro Area 
and RedFin’s Walkscore.com data to capture walking/bicycling 
behaviors and better understand non-motorized crash risks.

Beyond joining in-house and third-party data, the Foresite 
team’s local engineers stand ready to conduct roadway safety 
audits, apply innovative computer visioning to analyze field 
video logs, and collect subjective evaluations from stakeholders 
to ground truth our analysis.

DATA VALIDATION
After meticulous data collection, we conduct an in-depth 
exploratory data assessment, which includes quality checks, 
identification of data types, validation for null values, detection 
of outliers and inconsistencies, exploration of variable 
relationships, and evaluation of overall data quality and 
completeness. 

Combining data layers often yields more value than the sum 
of its parts. As a simple example, crash counts and roadside 
design features are typically separate datasets; combining the 
two can yield important insights such as, the expected number 
of future fatal and serious injury crashes on a horizontal curve 
given its radius and outside shoulder width. To realize this 
value and build out a comprehensive library of safety data, our 
team has learned to employ the following guiding principles:

1.    Add value. Through transformations, cleaning or filling 
erroneous or missing data, combination with other data 

111

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Technical Proposal) 4

sources, or simply creating descriptive field aliases, we 
always aim to improve the usability and value of the 
datasets we process and publish.

2.    Standardize. Whether through conflating data to common, 
canonical linework (e.g., a statewide Linear Referencing 
System (LRS) used by multiple agencies), or reprocessing 
data to exist at the same spatial or temporal “grain” as 
other datasets, we prepare datasets to be easily and 
logically combined with other library datasets.

3.    Plan for sustainability. We assume the data layers we 
produce will be updated over time. We plan for this from 
the outset, writing scripts, applications, and documentation 
that will enable a successful transition to the long-term 
data steward to update and maintain these layers over 
time.

4.     Publish with professionalism. High Street’s 12-step 
Publication Ready checklist for public facing GIS feature 
layers ensures that all published data layers are ready for 
public consumption, with complete metadata, attribution, 
and useful default symbolization.

High Street is an ESRI business partner and has extensive 
experience working with the full gambit of Esri software and 
infrastructure product offerings, including ArcGIS Server/
Portal, ArcGIS Online, ArcGIS Pro, Experience Builder, 
Operations Dashboards, and Esri’s Roads and Highways LRS. 

We will apply our proven approach, collaborating with project 
staff to identify target data layers, methods for adding value, 
and the publication destination. Except where limited by 
privacy concerns, our proposal would be to publish all data 
layers to a publicly accessible data portal to enable use by 
all stakeholders. Visually reviewing the data can further help 
validate that the collected data is fully telling the story given 
our and stakeholders’ understanding of local context.

HIGH-INJURY NETWORK (HIN) IDENTIFICATION
Identifying high risk areas is a pivotal aspect of our safety 
analysis and a strong column in SS4A grant funding. We 
utilize a dual approach, encompassing both location-specific 
and systemic analyses, to identify areas warranting further 
evaluation and potential safety treatments. Our holistic 
approach recognizes the importance of addressing evidence-
based crash hot spots while also proactively modernizing 
high-risk roadways, even before a significant number of 
crashes occur. We then compare this high-injury network to 
disadvantaged and vulnerable road users to find our most 
important types of corridors, intersections, and locations.

LOCATION-SPECIFIC ANALYSIS
To pinpoint high fatal and serious injury crash locations, we 
segment data into 1-mile roadways and intersections and 
calculate five-year rolling average counts and crash rates. 
Our methodology extends to calculating Excess Expected 
Crashes and Level of Service of Safety (LOSS) through the use 
of Safety Performance Functions (SPFs) and the Empirical 
Bayes (EB) Method. This comprehensive approach allows us 
to identify concentrations of fatal and serious injuries that 

exceed expected norms, providing a flexible framework for 
effective intervention, whether infrastructural, behavioral, or 
operational.

SYSTEMIC-BASED ANALYSIS
Harnessing the power of machine learning algorithms and 
empirical analysis, our team delves into data patterns and 
trends to find the contributing circumstances related to crashes. 
We employ techniques such as Pearson correlation plots and 
tables, ensemble decision tree models, and traditional negative 
binomial regression models to identify statistically significant 
contributing factors behind high-severity, low-frequency crash 
locations. Identifying independent variables that correlate to 
crash risk, such as driver condition/behavior, non-motorist 
presence, environmental factors, roadway characteristics, 
crash sequence, injured person characteristics, and vehicle 
crash factors such as speeding. This systemic analysis provides 
an epidemiological framework to treat traffic incidents as a 
public health issue where we aim to identify underlying causes 
and predict future risk of incidents, much like an epidemiologist 
would identify causes and risks of a disease. This enables us to 
propose interventions that are both responsive and proactive, 
addressing the root causes rather than just the symptoms.

DATA VISUALIZATION
Finally, our commitment to clarity and accessibility leads us 
to translate data analyses into engaging and understandable 
graphics, utilizing interactive, dynamic, and static infographic 
visualizations. High Street’s comprehensive approach ensures 
actionable insights and effective safety solutions tailored to 
the unique needs of each project. We stand ready to prepare 
automated spatial tools and dashboards to visualize crash hot 
spots, communicate summary statistics by region and member 
agencies, filter crash types by emphasis area and location, 
collect project submittals, and prioritize them, among other 
policy features identified with your staff. We will also use our 
experience leading the FHWA Data Visualization Center for the 
last decade to prepare infographics and other collateral for 
leadership around key safety messaging and talking points.

TASK 3 – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

ENGAGEMENT PLAN
The purpose of an engagement plan is to serve as a road map for 
community and stakeholder engagement and communications 
in support of the SS4A planning process.

Below is a short list of components that the Foresite Team has 
identified for the SS4A engagement plan:

•   Engagement objectives

•   Target audience(s)

•   Outreach strategies

•   Engagement phasing and scheduling

112

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Technical Proposal) 5

Detailed recommendations related to each item are provided 
below.

1. �Objectives
The objectives for the engagement plan set the tone for 
stakeholder engagement and help determine which outreach 
strategies are appropriate for inclusion in the plan. For the 
SS4A some might include:

•    Identify community-based organizations (CBOs) and others 
with a stake in the development of the plan and consider 
establishing a formal partnership with one or more CBO(s) 
to support the engagement process.

•    Identify outreach techniques for engaging community 
groups and the broader public.

•    Ensure all stakeholders have open access to and input into 
the decision-making process and have timely information 
about the project as it moves forward.

•    Provide reasonable public access to technical and other 
information about the project.

•    Ensure the concerns, issues, and preferences of stakeholders 
are understood and reflected in the final plan document.

2. Target Audience
Engagement will be tailored to include the wide range of SS4A 
internal and external stakeholders. Each target audience has 
a unique constellation of needs regarding how, where, when, 
and with whom engagement will be conducted. Furthermore, 
each target audience has its own unique familiarity with 
different facets of plan content (e.g., engineering knowledge, 
political knowledge and concerns, personal experience with 
safety issues). Audiences should be engaged in an order that 
best leverages and builds upon available information and 
solicits feedback that supports the next phase of engagement 
or plan development.

3. Outreach Strategies
Foresite has used several strategies to get critical input from 
constituents. Foresite will work with County staff on the details 
of our proposed plan. Approaches for engagement could 
include:

•    Establishing a Stakeholders Committee. This group has been 
referred to in the approach but will have a mix of technical 
staff, political and appointed staff, interest groups, and the 
public. 

•    Partnering with community-based organizations (CBOs) 
and neighborhood or district groups to receive input and 
feedback via small group meetings. CBOs can serve as trusted 
liaisons between city/county staff and consultants to the 
public who create a comfortable and familiar small-group 
context in which community members feel comfortable 
asking questions and sharing feedback. They are also great 
at helping to identify and address equity issues.

•    Community workshops and public forums. Large workshops 
and forums (virtual or in-person) provide opportunities 
to share information with the public, get the word out 
about draft plans, and advertise upcoming engagement 

opportunities. In-person workshops provide opportunities 
to gather nuanced insights from the public via hands-on 
idea-generating activities (e.g., mapping and sketching). 

•    Online outreach via a project website and surveys. This 
medium provides the opportunity to engage individuals 
who cannot attend in-person or timed events. It is important 
to be aware of language barriers (i.e., provide the website 
in commonly spoken languages) and acknowledge who 
cannot access this medium based on digital divides in the 
community.

TASK 4 – IDENTIFICATION AND ANALYSIS OF 
UNDERSERVED COMMUNITIES
The SS4A plan will be developed using inclusive and 
representative processes to pursue a comprehensive 
approach to advancing equity for all, including individuals 
who belong to underserved communities that have been 
denied such treatment, such as Black, Latino, Indigenous, 
and Native Americans, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, 
and other persons of color; members of religious minorities; 
lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer (LGBTQ+) 
persons; persons with disabilities; persons who live in rural 
areas; and persons otherwise adversely affected by persistent 
poverty or inequality. The plan will further focus on the 
disproportionate, adverse safety impacts that affect certain 
groups on our roadways, particularly people walking and biking 
in underserved communities. Underserved communities are 
identified through data and available regional Environmental 
Justice Analysis, and in collaboration with community partners.

EQUITY CONSIDERATIONS
Equity considerations are integral to our safety analysis. We 
leverage resources like the Justice40 dataset and Replica 
data to cross-reference findings with crash data, shedding 
light on the connections between transportation safety and 
socio-economic factors. This insight informs the integration of 
equity into location and facility prioritization. We’ll take origin-
destination data and determine if our most disadvantaged 
users are passing through our identified high-injury network. 

FOCUSING ON VULNERABLE ROAD USERS
Our analysis will include quantitative analysis of VRU fatalities 
and serious injuries that includes data such as location, 
roadway functional classification, design speed, speed limit, 
and time of day. To identify the percentage of VRU’s killed or 
seriously injured we will take a multi-pronged approach:

•    Align with upcoming VRU submittals by reviewing the safety 
assessments due to FHWA in November that considers 
the demographics of the locations of fatalities and serious 
injuries, including race, ethnicity, income, and age. 

•    Track trips originating from disadvantaged locations. We will 
leverage census resources like the Equitable Transportation 
Community Explorer (ETCE) to blend with origin-destination 
(OD) data by cross-reference findings with crash data, 
shedding light on the connections between transportation 
safety and socio-economic factors. This insight informs the 
integration of equity into location and facility prioritization. 

113

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Technical Proposal) 6

By combining routing engines like the Open Streets Routing 
Machine (OSRM) with OD information (from the regional 
travel demand model, tools like Replica) to traffic analysis 
zones, the number of trips using a facility can be estimated 
without running a time-intensive select-link analysis with 
the TDM. 

•    Engage with stakeholders to leverage their local knowledge 
of locations with higher VRU and crash density on the HIN.

TASK 5 – ASSESSMENT OF CURRENT POLICIES, 
GUIDELINES, AND STANDARDS
Having a clear vision is important when beginning to develop 
the plan. A vision is a description of the desired outcome of 
the RCSA. This may be simple, such as, “to improve road safety 
within our jurisdiction in order to significantly reduce the 
number of people being killed and seriously injured.” 

GOALS ARE SET TO ACHIEVE A MISSION AND VISION. 
Goals should be linked to the mission statement and should 
be realistic. For example, “saving lives and preventing serious 
injuries over the next decade on our local county roads” is 
concise and easily understood. It creates the need to move 
forward because it prompts action. 

The Foresite Team will work with the County and the 
Stakeholder Committee to ensure regional and local goals that 
lead to action are thoughtfully developed.

PROPOSE ORDINANCES AND POLICIES
One potential outcome to assist in implementing emphasis 
areas may be changes in current practices. This may 
necessitate changes to the laws and regulations in the County. 
Local ordinances and local government policies addressing 
local road safety may help support efforts to meet the goals 
and objectives of the SS4A and increase public awareness of 
driver behavior issues.

Formalizing policies can also help to improve and institutionalize 
safety. For example, a locality can develop polices related to 
maintenance of signs and pavement markings, provision of 
pedestrian features, transverse rumble strips, or vegetation 
removal. These policies can also serve as proactive risk 
management tools if they improve and institutionalize safety, 
by showing a measured approach towards improving safety.

If these types of changes are deemed necessary by the County 
and Stakeholder Committee, the Foresite team will assist 
drafting such items for the County member jurisdictions.

TASK 6 – IDENTIFICATION AND PRIORITIZATION OF 
PROJECTS AND STRATEGIES
The true challenge in transportation safety lies not just in 
gathering abundant data but in transforming that information 
into meaningful, targeted actions. Task 6 is designed to 
synthesize analytical findings, community sentiments, and 
expert opinions to pinpoint emphasis areas that are both data-
validated and community-endorsed. This nuanced approach 
allows us to leverage available resources efficiently, while 
laying the groundwork for securing additional funds.

UTILIZATION OF ADVANCED DATA LAYERS AND 
PREVIOUS EXPERIENCE
Leveraging the multi-layered safety database developed in Task 
2, we will use our High-Injury Network to identify emphasis 
areas that are important to the region. Diving into community 
meetings, stakeholder engagement, and planning documents 
to identify areas of most concern that match our high-risk 
network. We will also integrate the lessons learned from our 
implementation of the Strategic Highway Safety Plan (SHSP) in 
Kansas. For instance, rural intersections with poor lighting can 
be overlooked but may have a higher rate of nighttime crashes. 
We will apply similar insights to identify often overlooked but 
crucial emphasis areas. Our team of data scientists and GIS 
professionals will be able to quickly flag and explore potential 
causes and risk factors associated with different crash types.

DEEP-DIVE COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND 
STAKEHOLDER MEETINGS
To augment our data-driven approach, we plan to hold a 
series of town-hall meetings, webinars, and focus group 
discussions. Unlike general community sessions, these will be 
thematic based on information from the systemic analysis, 
e.g., “Pedestrian Safety in School Zones,” to obtain specific and 
actionable community insights. For example, we found that 
involving local schools in discussions about pedestrian safety 
resulted in more targeted and effective solutions. 

VULNERABLE ROAD USERS SUB-COMMITTEE
We propose a special sub-committee to deal exclusively with 
the safety of vulnerable road users. This sub-committee will 
utilize the portion of the data analysis that used Justice40 
and Replica data to combine them with field studies and 
stakeholder interviews. The aim will be to create an effective 
method to categorize a vulnerable user emphasis area.

REVIEW OF PLANNING DOCUMENTS AND SPEED 
MANAGEMENT
After identifying a preliminary list of emphasis areas, we will 
consult existing planning documents, such as the Strategic 
Highway Safety Plan, County Traffic Study Plans, and historical 
complaints databases for validation. 

Using the machine learning algorithms refined in Task 2 
systemic analysis, we will dig deep into broader issues like 
speed management to identify a speed related emphasis area. 
Speeding crashes involve exceeding safe speed for conditions, 
failing to reduce speed to avoid a crash or operating a vehicle in 
an erratic, reckless, careless, negligent, or aggressive manner. 
Speeding often results in greater potential of losing control of 
the vehicle, less time for driver response for crash avoidance, 
and the need for increased stopping distance and increased 
crash severity. 

PRESENTATION TO COUNTY STAFF AND FINAL 
DELIVERABLES
We will compile a detailed final report that incorporates all 
aspects mentioned above. Our experiences have taught us 
the importance of engaging with County staff early and often. 
Hence, this report will be presented in a workshop setting to 

114

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Technical Proposal) 7

the County staff, allowing for real-time feedback and iterative 
revisions. All allowing us to employ a data-driven yet deeply 
human-centered approach to identify and prioritize emphasis 
areas.

TASK 7 – IDENTIFY STRATEGIES TO ADDRESS 
EMPHASIS AREAS
The Foresite team will facilitate the working group to identify 
the key emphasis areas for the SS4A plan. An emphasis 
area is an area of opportunity to improve safety through a 
comprehensive 4 E -approach(engineering, enforcement, 
education, and emergency services). 

The emphasis areas will be consistent with trends identified 
during the data analysis. The development of emphasis areas 
should have a robust public engagement process so that 
citizens have the chance to identify areas of concern.

IDENTIFY EMPHASIS AREA OBJECTIVES AND 
PERFORMANCE MEASURES 
Each emphasis area will help meet the plan’s overall goal 
by establishing objectives and performance measures. 
Performance measures are short term outcomes that 
contribute to achieving the strategic plan. They provide 
milestones, indications of progress, and will be established 
within a specific, actionable time period. Performance 
measures may be set at specified time intervals measured 
over the life of the plan such as, “reducing roadway departure 
fatalities each year and an overall reduction of 10 percent 
within five years.”

CATEGORIZE AND REVIEW
The SS4A will include strategies focused on addressing 
the emphasis areas that are confirmed by the working 
group. Strategies will be based on identifying, categorizing, 
and reviewing high priority corridors or intersections for 
improvement. These are locations where safety improvements 
are most needed to achieve the goals of the SS4A and can 
form the basis for system-wide improvement strategies. 
Strategy selection will also be based on effective and validated 
practices. Options will be provided by the Foresite Team to 
the County and working group for consideration and ultimate 
inclusion in the plan.

IDENTIFY PRIORITIES
The Foresite team will propose strategies for each key 
emphasis area. These will be prioritized by the working group 
by comparing the benefits and costs of implementation. This 
comparison will help the implementation phase by starting 
with the strategies that provide the highest benefit (e.g., 
reduction in crashes) for the least cost. However, costs and 
benefits are not the only considerations. Other considerations 
for prioritization will include the availability of manpower (e.g., 
does the County maintenance staff have time available to trim 
vegetation over the summer), the schedule for implementation 
(e.g., are there short-term strategies that can be implemented 
rather quickly), and the relative importance of each emphasis 
area. The working group will determine an agreed upon priority 
for the strategy with these considerations in mind.

TASK 8 – DEVELOP THE SS4A PLAN

DRAFT THE PLAN
At this point the working group has developed and prioritized 
the issues, needs, and strategies to address the safety 
concerns in the County and at the local level. The Foresite 
Team will provide a through accounting of this process using 
the following as out report outline.

INTRODUCTION

PURPOSE

MISSION AND VISION STATEMENTS

FINDINGS FROM CRASH ANALYSIS

• Objectives
• Performance Measures
• Strategies
• Action Plans

EMPHASIS AREAS

The goal of the written report will be to make the case for 
safety improvements in the County but at the local level as 
well. This document will be the basis for engaging state and 
federal agencies funding to implement the plan.

115

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Technical Proposal) 8

2 EXCEPTIONS

Foresite Group has no exceptions or changes to the County’s proposal at this time.

116

Item XII. 6.



SAFE STREETS AND ROADS FOR ALL ACTION PLANSAFE STREETS AND ROADS FOR ALL ACTION PLAN
23-RFP-042 23-RFP-042 
EFFINGHAM COUNTY  |  10.30.23EFFINGHAM COUNTY  |  10.30.23

Foresite Group, LLC
3740 Davinci Ct, Suite 100  

Peachtree Corners, GA 30092
o | 770.368.1399

w | ForesiteGroup.net
POINT OF CONTACT: Erik Steavens

esteavens@fg-inc.net

STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONSSTATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS

117

Item XII. 6.



STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS

1|  LETTER OF COMMITMENT   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

2|  PROJECT APPROACH  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

3|  QUALIFICATIONS / RELEVANT EXPERIENCE   .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

4|  KEY STAFF  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .

TABLE OF CONTENTS

118

Item XII. 6.



October 30, 2023

Alison, Bruton Purchasing Agent  
804 S Laurel St  
Springfield, GA 31329

RE: 23-RFP-042 Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan

Dear Ms. Bruton and Selection Committee,

We appreciate the opportunity to submit our qualifications for the Effingham County SS4A plan. We are a unique firm that 
possesses a proper mix of practitioners, planners, and engineers that can guide a truly innovative effort as this. Our goal is 
to assist the County develop an implementation-based plan that can solicit funding from state and federal partners for its 
execution. 

Foresite Group (Foresite) is a Georgia-based multi-discipline planning, engineering, design, and consulting firm that 
provides MEP engineering, civil engineering, landscape architecture, structural engineering, traffic engineering, broadband 
engineering, and wireless services all in-house. Having all these engineering and design disciplines in one place allows for 
less coordination between consultants and eases the project management process. Our divisions work together on these 
projects enabling us to come up with creative designs and solutions to satisfy your needs so that each project is successful.

We have also included in the proposal High Street Consulting Group. High Street is a small firm of experienced professionals 
who help their clients plan, develop, deliver, and evaluate transportation projects, policies, and programs.  High Street has 
a wealth of experience in safety data visualization and plan development for many agencies large and small.  They have 
tremendous expertise and have worked with several State DOT in the development of Statewide Safety Plans.

Effingham County is undertaking a truly unique effort to provide a regional overview while addressing the unique safety 
challenges of each of its communities. As part of the study effort, we will ensure that the key areas the County wants to 
accomplish are executed in a manner that will allow it to successfully compete for future SS4A implementation funds.

DATA IS THE KEY. 
The Foresite Team will ensure that the appropriate mix of data sources and data assessment tools are used to ensure that 
all safety concerns in the region are addressed. The Georgia SHSP is a great starting point for the RSAP. GDOT has a great 
wealth of data on many of the roadways in the region. We will leverage the GIS data that the County has collected and use 
it in the development of the RSAP. In addition, there are several analysis resources available that the Foresite Team will 
leverage at the national level from FHWA, TRB, and the Governors Highway Safety Office to name a few.  

3740 Davinci Ct, Suite 100  
Peachtree Corners, GA 30092

o | 770.368.1399
f | 770.368.1944

w | ForesiteGroup.net

LETTER OF COMMITMENT1

119

Item XII. 6.



ROBUST PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT.
The Foresite Team as used several strategies to get critical input from constituents. Our team will work with the County staff 
on the details of our proposed plan. Approaches for engagement could include:

• Establishing a Working Group.   
• Partnering with community-based organizations (CBOs) and neighborhood or district groups 
• Community workshops and public forums. 
• Online outreach via a project website and surveys .
• Tabling activities near key community services and gathering spaces. 

ADDRESSING EQUITY.
The RSAP will be developed using inclusive and representative processes to pursue a comprehensive approach to advancing 
equity for all, including individuals who belong to underserved communities that have been denied such treatment, such 
as Black, Latino, Indigenous, and Native Americans, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, and other persons of color; 
members of religious minorities; lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer (LGBTQ+) persons; persons with disabilities; 
persons who live in rural areas; and persons otherwise adversely affected by persistent poverty or inequality. The RSAP 
will further focus on the disproportionate, adverse safety impacts that affect certain groups on our roadways, particularly 
people walking and biking in underserved communities. Underserved communities are identified through data and available 
regional Environmental Justice Analysis, and in collaboration with community partners.

MAKING AN ACTIONABLE PLAN. 
Our proposed project manager, Erik Steavens, has over 30 years working at local, state, and federal transportation agencies. 
Mr. Steavens was previously the Rail Division Director for TxDOT and knows a great deal about the unique issues in Rosenberg 
with the confluence of several class one railroads in your community.  In his career, he has developed discretionary funding 
programs at the national level and understands how agencies “fund” projects. He will be guiding the working group’s effort 
with a focus on projects that are practical and effective at solving the safety problems at hand. Our engagement manager, 
Doug Stoner, is well known in the County and the region having served in the Georgia Legislature.  He is well attuned to 
issues and making sure there can be a political “win” for projects and strategies. Our team collectively will ensure that 
projects are not just technically but politically viable at the local level and with potential funding agencies. We have worked 
on bringing over $100M in discretionary projects to local jurisdictions using this approach.   Furthermore, we have a strong 
team of safety professionals form High Street Consulting in Mark Egge, Kevin Ford, and Rebecca Van Dyke.  This team is 
currently working on a few SS4A plans now across the county.

Our firm and our staff have worked with several communities on practical and innovative safety programs and projects. 
We are committing in that the team in our proposal will be the team that delivers the project to completion.  There is a 
commitment from both firms that the personnel will be dedicated to delivering an actionable SS4A plan for Effingham 
County.  Furthermore, shall remain in effect and will not be withdrawn for 90 days from the due date of this RFP of October 
30, 2023.

We hope to have the opportunity to assist the County and its member jurisdictions make informed decisions on addressing 
safety for now and the future.

 

Thanks, and regards, 
FORESITE GROUP, LLC   

Erik Steavens  
Program Manager

120

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 5

PROJECT APPROACH2
The SS4A plan is a means for providing Effingham County with an opportunity to address unique roadway safety needs while 
contributing to the success of the Georgia Strategic Highway Safety Plan and statewide safety goals. The process of preparing the 
plan creates a framework to systemically identify and analyze safety problems and recommend safety improvements. Preparing 
the plan facilitates the development of local agency partnerships and collaboration, resulting in a prioritized list of improvements 
and actions that can demonstrate a defined need and contribute to the statewide plan. The plan will offer a proactive approach 
to addressing safety needs and demonstrates Effingham County’s responsiveness to safety challenges.

This will be the first comprehensive safety plan for Effingham County. This plan builds on the County’s prior roadway safety 
efforts and will serve as a resource for the County when it applies for future safety infrastructure funding.

WHAT IS THE SS4A APPROACH? 
The SS4A plan utilizes the Safe System approach which aims to eliminate fatal and serious injuries for all road users by keeping 
impacts on the human body at tolerable levels and accommodating human mistakes. Embedded in this approach is a Vision 
Zero goal, with the creation of a Safe System as the method to achieve that goal. Making a commitment to zero deaths means 
addressing every aspect of crash risks through the five elements of the Safe System and promoting a holistic approach to safety 
across the entire roadway system.

Creating a Safe System means shifting a major share of the responsibility from road users to those who design the road transport 
system. “Individual road users have the responsibility to abide by laws and regulations”6 and do so by exhibiting due care 
and proper behavior on the transportation system. While road users are responsible for their own behavior, this is a shared 
responsibility with those who design, operate, and maintain the transportation network: including the automotive industry, law 
enforcement, elected officials, and government bodies. In a Safe System, roadway system designers and operators take on the 
highest level of ethical responsibility.

The Safe System approach addresses the five elements of a safe transportation system – safe road users, safe vehicles, safe 
speeds, safe roads, and post-crash care – in an integrated manner, through a wide range of interventions.

121

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 6

Foresite Group, LLC is a privately-held, full-service engineering, 
planning, and design firm. Since January 24, 2003, we have 
provided comprehensive consulting services to public and 
private clients throughout the country. Our team takes pride 
in its accomplishments; we enjoy enhancing and developing 
the cities and communities where we live, work, and raise 
our families. Regardless of size, we plan, design, and engineer 
our projects to positively impact their surroundings and 
strengthen their communities. With over 155 associates in 18 
offices, our experienced, award-winning team understands 
the complexities of each individual site and is dedicated to 
providing efficient, effective, and economical solutions.

Our success is driven by our prioritization of our client 
relationships. We strive to understand our clients’ challenges 
and the maintenance resources they have available to factor 
into our design approach. Our goal is to understand our 
clients’ goals and priorities and communicate what is most 
important for the client to our team.

For infrastructure and public works projects, we focus on 
designing and planning assets that are easy to maintain 
and have longevity. Our design is also oriented around 
sustainability, functionality, and efficiency.

Our approach to projects begins by outlining our client’s 
project needs, timeframe, and budget available. From there, 
we provide concepts with approximate budgets, schedules, 
benefits, and risks to help the client determine which direction 
should be taken to best achieve their goals. Along with the 
client’s direction, we coordinate with surveyors, geotechnical 
engineers, and other design team members to assemble 
solid base information (as the accuracy of budgets and 
quality of decisions are only going to be as good as the base 
information), review the information, and develop the concept 
into a working design. With updates to budgets and schedules 
and another round of review with the client to confirm the 
design appears the best approach to meet their needs, we 
will proceed with development of construction drawings 
and specifications for the project to be competitively bid. 
Foresite Group typically works with clients to also aid during 
the bid process, conducting meetings to help communicate 
expectations and answer questions. Finally, Foresite Group 
remains a partner throughout the construction process to 
help interpret construction drawings. They will work with 
the owner to make sure that the contractor or third party is 
conducting proper testing, close-outs, and provision of as-
builts and records needed for operation/main.

We have the capability to handle the majority of your 
planning and design service needs in-house, which gives 
us a unique perspective on project communication, design 

collaboration, schedule management, and cost control. We 
understand the ins and outs of community projects, and we 
are committed to providing efficient and economical designs 
within your schedule and budget. Our multi-disciplinary, 
collaborative structure has guided our approach to providing 
comprehensive consulting services to both public and private 
clients nationwide.

Our team is experienced in using County provided GIS data 
and moving it into an AutoCAD environment. We also use 
MicroStation CAD software for projects that must be submitted 
to Georgia DOT. Our digital resources include: Revit (Building 
Information Modeling), 3D Studio Max, Sony Vegas Video, 
AutoCAD, Adobe Creative Cloud, TwinMotion, Bluebeam, and 
BaseCamp, ESRI GIS (ArcMap 10.3), and Windows Office. We 
will update our software to the current versions, as you see 
fit. We readily utilize these programs on our projects, which 
contributes added value and efficiency to the process.

TRAFFIC ENGINEERING 
The experience of our engineers, planners, and designers 
span multiple modes of transportation. Whether by foot, car, 
or bike, we are experienced in connecting people to places. 
Planning and designing for community connectivity is key 
and understanding the ebb and flow of all types of traffic is 
essential. This is one reason why our traffic team includes 
traffic engineering and transportation planning professionals. 
We attack each problem from multiple angles and collaborate 
across disciplines to achieve truly sustainable results. Our 
clients enjoy working with us because our transportation 
solutions are known for their creativity, safety, and feasibility.
• Bike/Pedestrian Studies 
• Corridor Studies 
• Forecasting/Modeling 
• Intersection Design 
• ITS Design 
• Legal Traffic Review
•  Roundabout Analyses and 

Design 
• Safety and Crash Analyses 
• Sidewalk Design

• Signal Design
•  Signal Timing and 

Implementation 
• Signal Warrant Analyses 
• Signing and Marking Plans 
• Traffic Control Plans/MOT 
• Traffic Impact Studies 
• Traffic Simulation 
• Transportation Planning 

GEORGIA LOCATIONS
• Atlanta
• Cumming
• Roswell

QUALIFICATIONS / RELEVANT EXPERIENCE3

122

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 7

SUBCONSULTANT FIRM INFORMATION

High Street is a small firm of experienced professionals 
who help our clients plan, develop, deliver, and evaluate 
transportation projects, policies, and programs. 

At High Street, foresight is the essence of our philosophy. 
We help transportation practitioners understand emerging 
issues, solve problems, and deliver the best possible future for 
their constituents. We provide insight and innovation that no 
other company can through our dedication to seven essential 
attributes.

Since our inception 16 years ago, High Street Consulting 
Group, LLC (High Street) has worked at the forefront of 
U.S. surface transportation policy to provide federal, state, 
and local government leaders with accurate, objective, and 
actionable analysis to inform investment decisions. Our 
experienced professionals take pride in offering a variety of 
transportation services with safety being the single thread 
that ties them together:

Highway Safety Planning

Performance-based Planning & Programming (PBPP)

Data Science & Digital Innovation

Data Visualization

Clean, Equitable, Resilient Transportation

Grant Writing

Strategic Policy Guidance 

Transportation Performance Management (TPM)

Long-Range Transportation Plans

Organizational Improvement

Transportation Asset Management (TAM) Planning

Transportation Finance

OUR VISION: TO BE THE BEST STRATEGIC DECISION-MAKING 
TRANSPORTATION CONSULTING FIRM IN THE U.S.

The core values we strive for:

CREATIVITY: We are intellectually curious and apply that 
curiosity to deliver inventive and imaginative solutions to our 
clients

EXCELLENCE: We always deliver timely, high quality, 
thoughtful solutions

DEPENDABILITY: We reliably do what it takes to come 
through for our clients, our partners, and each other

COLLABORATION: We work as a cooperative team, both 
internally and externally, that leverages each other’s strengths

DIVERSITY: We recognize the value that our diverse 
backgrounds and perspectives contribute to our products, 
client services, and company culture

GRIT: We have the passion, perseverance, and resourcefulness 
to ensure we always deliver our best, even when challenges 
arise

FLEXIBILITY: We readily adjust to changing project 
circumstances, respond to evolving client needs, and maintain 
balance with life outside of work.

AREAS OF EXPERTISE

 

Impact Analysis: 
Safety needs, crash data & equity impacts

HSM 6 Steps: 
Implementation & predictive safety tools

Performance: 
Metrics, evaluation, tracking & reporting, hot 
spot identification

Strategic Planning: 
Strategic safety plans & integration with long-
range plans

Innovative Technology: 
Data augmentation, predictive analytics, 
customizable applications

HSM 6 Steps: 
Strategic messaging & material development 
including infographics

123

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 8

FORESITE GROUP RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE 

BIKE/PEDESTRIAN MASTER PLAN UPDATE |  Forsyth County, GA

 CLIENT CONTACT INFORMATION
Tim Allen, PE | Assistant Director of Traffic 
and Transportation Engineering
Forsyth County
o | 770.781.2165                 
e | tlallen@forsythco.com

DATES OF SERVICE 
2015 - 2016

PROJECT BUDGET 
$35,000

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
Foresite Group was tasked with updating the Forsyth County Bicycle Transportation 
and Pedestrian Walkways 2025 Plan. In order to update the plan, Foresite Group 
took an extensive inventory of existing bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure, and 
reviewed every planned and on-going project in the county that had bicycle and 
pedestrian aspects. In addition to the existing projects, Foresite Group worked 
with a team of stakeholders and the County to identify new projects for the county 
to pursue. In order to identify new projects, Foresite Group utilized data obtained 
from STRAVA (a fitness app for smartphones) to identify where users were going 
and how they were getting to their destinations. The data revealed many project 
corridors that previous plans did not consider and helped to prioritize high-use 
corridors in desperate need of improvement. The 2015 update to the bicycle and 
pedestrian plan was published at the end of 2015.

SERVICES PROVIDED 
Data Collection, GIS Analysis, Infrastructure, Master Plan Update, Policy and 
Project Inventory, Public Outreach and Involvement, Safety Analysis
Transportation Planning, Visioning

SULLIVAN ROAD OPERATIONAL AND SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS |  Coweta County, GA

 CLIENT CONTACT INFORMATION
Tom Fravel, PE | Principal Project Engineer 
American Engineers, Inc.
o | 770.421.8422                 
e | tfravel@aei.cc

DATES OF SERVICE 
2016

PROJECT BUDGET 
$14,500

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
Sullivan Road was a two-lane County road. The 2.05 mile project area begins at 
Lower Fayetteville Road and ends at the intersection with Oak Hill Boulevard. The 
existing width was 18 feet with short sections that have been widened to add 
deceleration lanes at subdivision entrances. Little to no usable shoulders existed 
and roadway drainage was conveyed via ditches. The purpose of this project was 
to widen the roadway to provide two 11ft minimum travel lanes and improve 
horizontal and vertical alignment to meet an increased mph design speed and 
remove roadside obstructions. 

SERVICES PROVIDED 
Traffic Counts, Traffic Forecasting, Synchro Modeling, Capacity/Roundabout, 
Analysis, Concept Report, Traffic Analysis Report, Signal Modification Plan

GDOT SAFE ROUTE TO SCHOOLS (SRTS) |  Metro Atlanta, GA

 CLIENT CONTACT INFORMATION
Alexander Stone, PE | VP, Atl. Office Director
TranSystems
o | 770.633.7644                 
e | arstone@transystems.com

DATES OF SERVICE 
2014

PROJECT BUDGET 
$8,750 (FG SERVICES)

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
Foresite Group is partnered with Mulkey Engineering on this design-build safety 
project with Baldwin Paving Co. The Safe Routes to School (SRTS) program consists 
of making improvements in school zones to upgrade Manual on Uniform Traffic 
Control Devices (MUTCD) standards. This specific project includes improvements 
for eight schools across Metro Atlanta. Foresite Group is tasked with the design 
of all traffic engineering components of the project such as signing and marking 
plans, ADA compliant ramp locations, crosswalks, signals, etc.

SERVICES PROVIDED 
Signing and Marking Plans, ADA Compliant Ramp Locations, Crosswalks Design, 
Signal Design

124

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 9

HIGH STREET RELEVANT PROJECT EXPERIENCE:

 High Street’s expertise in safety planning is exemplified by a diverse portfolio of projects, including developing and implementing 
State Highway Safety Plans (SHSPs) in states like South Carolina and Kansas, evaluating the cost-effectiveness of countermeasures 
like cable barriers for the Nebraska Department of Transportation’s (NDOT) Business Intelligence/Data Analytics (LINC-D) initiative, 
leading historical before/after spatial crash analysis for the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT), and incorporating 
safety impact assessments into project prioritizations for transportation agencies spanning 25+ states.

High Street’s experts also regularly contribute towards the advancement of the state of the safety planning practice by publishing 
insightful NCHRP projects, reports, and web only documents (WOD), including supporting Report 715 and WOD 323 on Highway 
Safety Manual (HSM) training materials and Project 23-07 on effective methods for setting safety targets. High Street further 
focuses on best practices for including equity in the full life cycle of project development as evident by our on-going effort NCHRP 
08-155 on addressing racial disparities in project delivery; and disseminating visualization best practices via NCHRP project 08-
167.

Representative Safety Planning & Policy Qualifications

COMPASS BOISE, IDAHO – SAFE STREETS FOR ALL ACTION PLAN | 2023 - PRESENT
Hunter Mulhall, Principal Planner | 208-475-2231 | hmulhall@compassidaho.org
High Street is strategically combining systemic and location-specific analyses to thoroughly assess and elevate transportation 
safety. We are identifying features that correlate with severe accidents across the regional network, which could range from 
inadequate pedestrian infrastructure to speeding-related driver behaviors. Simultaneously, our Location-Specific Analysis 
is deploying GIS-based tools to pinpoint areas of high incident concentration, providing actionable insights for improvement. 
Underpinning this effort is an interactive visualization tool that dynamically presents the High Injury Network (HIN) and other 
analysis results. This tool will serve as a catalyst for planning potential safety enhancements. 

CAMPO RALEIGH, NC – REGIONAL MULTIMODAL (SS4A) SAFETY ACTION PLAN | 2023 - PRESENT
Tim Shortley, GIS Programmer/Analyst | 919-996-4405 | timothy.shortley@ccampo-nc.us
High Street is establishing data-driven and community processes to create a SS4A action plan by:

• conducting multimodal crash data analysis, developing a high injury network, performing a risk assessment, conducting an 
equity analysis, and recommending safety enhancements; 

• developing regional goals, objectives, policies, and implementation framework;

• conducting public engagement activities for leadership, stakeholders, and the general public;

• developing a Regional Multimodal Safety Action Plan and providing recommendations for how CAMPO and partners can 
improve regional safety performance; and

• enhancing MTP prioritization processes in light of identified safety improvement metrics.

KANSAS DOT - STRATEGIC HIGHWAY SAFETY PLAN IMPLEMENTATION | 2020 – 2023 
Vanessa Spart, Chief of Transportation Safety | (785) 296-6893 | Vanessa.Spartan@ks.gov
High Street is helping KDOT meet its safety targets by: i) interviewing KDOT leadership, safety staff and members of the Drive to 
Zero Coalition to inform recommended process changes, ii) developing a quantitative strategy prioritization methodology with 
stakeholders, and iii) preparing the SHSP Diagnostic Assessment, SSA Foundational Research Report, and Pedestrians & Cyclists 
Strategy Action Plans. 

SOUTH CAROLINA DOT | STRATEGIC HIGHWAY SAFETY PLAN | 2019 - 2020
Emily Thomas, Highway Safety Data and Research Manager | (803) 737-0403 | thomaseg@scdot.org
High Street led the literature review to summarize the effectiveness of numerous engineering, enforcement, and educational 
safety countermeasures using high-quality safety research. High Street also conducted stakeholder interviews to understand 
perceived safety issues in the state, and assessed the alignment between the state SHSP and regional safety plans from the 
perspective of visions, goals, objectives, performance measures, emphasis areas, data, and countermeasures. This work helped 
shape the plan to align with planning partners’ initiatives and to respond to safety priorities identified through data and local 
knowledge. Finally, High Street developed alternative approaches for setting targets for federal safety performance measures, 
analyzed historical data to show resulting targets with each approach, and identified the approaches’ advantages.

125

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 10

Representative Safety Data Analytics and Tool Development Qualifications

NEBRASKA DOT | LINKING INFRASTRUCTURE CHALLENGES WITH DATA (LINC-D) | PHASE 1: 2017 –2019; 
PHASE 2: 2020 – PRESENT
Ryan Huff, Chief Strategy Officer | 402.479.3797 | Ryan.Huff@nebraska.gov 
Our data scientists help NDOT leverage its existing data to answer questions of organizational importance, leading to meaningful 
incorporation of data into agency decision-making and optimizing organizational efficiency. We have completed a multitude of 
safety-related efforts including developing guardrail, pedestrian crossing, and horizontal curves inventories, assessing the cost-
effectiveness of cable barriers and alternative shoulder design standards, and a data-driven assessment of NDOT’s safety project 
selection process. The inventory development involved training and applying object-detection models on pavement profile van 
images, then leveraging location data embedded within the images to create GIS based inventories. 

MARICOPA ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENT (MAG) | SUN CLOUD CORRIDOR PRIORITIZATION TOOL | 2022 - 2023
Edward “Ted” Brown, Performance Program Manager | 602.452.5082 | EBrown@azmag.gov 
High Street developed the Sun Cloud Explorer web application using Esri’s Experience Builder Developer framework and the 
JavaScript API. The ‘Explorer’ provides planning data to 6 regional associations of governments representing 5 million residents. 
The tool provides a unified view of investment needs and opportunities, informed by travel demand, equity considerations, 
broadband access, and safety performance. This effort required a thorough data cleaning and involved estimating excess crashes 
along roadway segments and at junctions using statewide and regional Safety Performance Functions (SPFs). 

[CHICAGO, IL] CMAP  | TRANSPORTATION PROJECT ANALYSIS TOOLSET | 2021 - 2023 
Martin Menninger, MPO Program Lead | (312) 386-8725 | MMenninger@cmap.illinois.gov
High Street is helping the Chicago MPO enhance their multipurpose project impact evaluation tools to support ON TO 2050 
principles of inclusive growth, prioritized investment, and resilience by prioritizing the efficacy of Regionally Significant 
[multimodal] Projects towards agency goals given limited resources. For safety, High Street has helped automate the identification 
of vulnerable road users overlaid on the regional high injury network.

WISCONSIN DOT  |  PEDESTRIAN AND BICYCLE CRASH ESTIMATION STUDY | 2023
Sean Debels, Asset and Performance Management | (715) 365-5740 | Sean.Debels@dot.wi.gov
High Street developed a Machine learning algorithm to predict bicycle and pedestrian crashes on the state highway network 
based on roadway, traffic, and existing crash data, as well as to prepare more accurate cost estimates. This analysis relies on 
Replica bicycle and pedestrian counts for non-motorist exposure factors. 

[CHICAGO, IL] CMAP | SAFETY SPEED DATA | 2023 - PRESENT 
Parry Frank | Data Analyst | (312) 386-8762 | PFrank@cmap.illinois.gov
Focused on processing big Wejo data and creating spatial tools to locate emphasis area crashes, particularly those associated 
with vulnerable road users to support their county safety action plans. High Street has led the literature review and will help 
prepare the final Esri-based dashboarding platform to explore the data.

CONNECTICUT DOT | ENHANCING PROJECT CONCEPT SCREENING AND PRIORITIZATION 
Edgardo Block, Transportation Supervising Engineer | (860) 594-2495 | Edgardo.Block@ct.gov
High Street helped CTDOT comply with state legislation to develop performance-based project prioritization processes for 
significant projects. This involved establishing an impact-oriented prioritization framework for development authority and 
programming decisions, then developing and implementing a broader strategic roadmap to improve data management and 
agency analytical capabilities. For safety considerations, High Street leveraged the CRSMS tool to implement the HSM six-step 
framework with diagnostics for concept screening and SPF/CMF application for evaluation. The team further is pairing Replica 
with Justice 40 data to capture VRU travel patterns.

TEXAS DOT | PERFORMANCE METRICS: DATA INTEGRATION SYSTEM, TRANSPORTATION ALTERNATIVES, 
AND STATEWIDE BICYCLE NETWORK PRIORITIZATION TOOLS 
Noah Heath, Public Transportation | (361) 876-7184 | Noah.Heath@txdot.gov
High Street supported TxDOT in complying with state legislation by developing a series of impact-oriented project prioritization 
processes used to score TxDOT’s 10-year $75B+ capital program. The data-informed scoring process – inclusive of safety impacts 
using state-vetted CMFs - was translated into software as part of a statewide data-sharing program with TxDOT districts and state 
MPOs. The solution automatically extracts data from multiple state databases, transforms the data into predictive performance 
impacts at the project-level via geospatial crosswalks, and loads that data into a prioritization platform. High Street further 
developed automated TA program and bike network scoring tools that estimate the reduction in non-motorized crashes and 
bicyclist level-of-stress. Stakeholders and advocacy groups were brought into the process to identify criteria, form consensus 
priority weights for scoring, and upload plans to an active transportation spatial repository to support project development. High 
Street’s data assessments helped TxDOT make the case for a $600M Vision Zero Biennium and more broadly increase their 10-
year program by $35 B.

126

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 11

EFFINGHAM COUNTY

KEY STAFF4

ERIK STEAVENS
PROGRAM MANAGER + MAIN POINT-OF-CONTACT

FORESITE GROUP

REBECCA VAN DYKE
STRATEGIC SAFETY

YOUSEF DANA, PE
PERFORMANCE IMPACTS

MARK EGGE 
DATA SCIENCE

JEFF CARROLL  
PROJECT ADVISOR

KEVIN FORD, PH.D., PE  
PROJECT ADVISOR

ARNALDO BLANCO, PE
QA/QC

DOUG STONER
PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT

STEVIE BERRYMAN, PE
TRAFFIC ENGINEERING ANALYSIS

FORESITE GROUP HIGH STREET FORESITE GROUP

127

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 12

BACKGROUND

Mr. Steavens has over 30 years of experience in infrastructure development. He is known as a leader driving transportation 
infrastructure development for federal, state, and local governments. Highly competitive, passionate, persuasive, and articulate, 
able to achieve results others believed to be impossible. Experienced in multi-modal planning, environmental analysis, partnership 
building and project management. His past work experience includes Manager, Planning and Operations for FHWA; Senior Policy 
Advisor, U.S. Senate Environment and Public Works Committee; Senior Transportation Analyst, Georgia State Road and Tollway 
Authority ; Intermodal Division Director, Georgia DOT; Rail Division Director, Texas DOT;  and MPO Administrator, Albany, GA. His 
planning and programmatic advisory skills are known nationwide.  

QUALIFICATIONS

YEARS EXPERIENCE
Foresite Group: <1 
Total: 30

EDUCATION
Georgia Institute of Technology 
Master of Science in Civil Engineering

Georgia Institute of Technology 
Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering

AFFILIATIONS + ORGANIZATIONS
Georgia Transit Association

Association for the Improvement of 
American Infrastructure

Association of Metropolitan Planning 
Organizations

Transportation Research Board, Intercity 
Passenger Rail Committee

COURSES TAUGHT
National Highway Inst., Intro to Public 
Involvement

National Transit Institute, Intro to 
Metropolitan Planning

National Highway Inst., Administration 
of Planning Funds

National Highway Institute, Intro to 
NEPA & Transportation Decision-making

ERIK STEAVENS  

Program Manager
esteavens@fg-inc.net  |  Peachtree Corners, GA

HIGHLIGHTED EXPERIENCE

NEW JERSEY TRANSIT 
Newark, NJ
Program Manager

TEXAS CENTRAL RAILWAY 
Dallas, TX
Program Manager

METROPLEX HIGH SPEED RAIL 
FEASIBILITY 
Dallas, TX
Program Manager

TEXAS / OKLAHOMA PASSENGER 
RAIL STUDY 
Dallas, TX
Program Manager

TOWER 55 
Fort Worth, TX
Program Manager

NETEX INTERMODAL FACILITY 
Sulphur Springs, TX
Program Manager

BORDER WEST EXPRESSWAY 
El Paso, TX
Program Manager

GRAND PARKWAY 
Houston, TX
Program Manager

P3 SMART CITY LIGHTING 
PROGRAM 
Terrabone Parrish, LA
Program Manager

ELECTRIC VEHICLE AND 
CHARGING STATION PROGRAM 
State of Hawaii
Program Manager

ADVISORY SERVICES, 
LOUISIANA DEPARTMENT 
OF TRANSPORTATION AND 
DEVELOPMENT 
Louisiana
Program Manager  

ADVISORY SERVICES, MBTA 
Boston, MA
Program Manager  

ADVISORY SERVICES, NEW 
JERSEY TRANSIT 
Newark, NJ
Program Manager  

PHASE 1, II, & III, PI# 621410, 
621415, & 0000291, SR 113/OLD 
ALABAMA ROAD RELOCATION 
FROM STATE ROUTE 113 TO I-75 
Bartow County, GA 
Program Manager

GDOT PROJECT PI# 0004915, 
621500, & 621505, WIDENING OF 
SR 140 FROM SR 53 TO SR 3/US 41 
Floyd and Bartow County, GA
Program Manager.

GDOT SR 162/SALEM RD. FM CR 
55/FLAT SHOALS RD. TO CR 34/
OLD SALEM RD. (PI 0013628) 
AND SR 162 FM CR 511/BROWN 
BRIDGE RD. TO CR 34/OLD SALEM 
RD. (PI 231210) Newton and 

KEY TEAM RESUMES

128

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 13

Rockdale Counties, GA
Program Manager

285 AT SR 400 INTERCHANGE 
IMPROVEMENTS 
Fulton County, GA
Program Manager

HORIZON MOBILITY GROUP P3 
PROPOSAL 
Georgia DOT
Program Manager

ALBANY DOUGHERTY REGIONAL 
TRANSPORTATION PLAN 
Albany, GA
Program Manager

YOSEMITE AREA REGIONAL TRANSIT 
SYSTEM 
Yosemite National Park
Program Manager

MARTA COMPREHENSIVE FACILITIES 
ASSESSMENT 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager

HINESVILLE TRANSIT OPERATIONS 
RECOMPETE 
Hinesville, GA
Program Manager

MARTA RAIL SAFETY OVERSIGHT 
PROGRAM 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager 

GEORGIA STATE HUMAN SERVICE 
COORDINATION PLAN 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager

GEORGIA STATEWIDE TRANSIT 
SCHEDULING AND COORDINATION 
SYSTEM 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager

GEORGIA TRANSIT GRANT 
PROGRAM Atlanta, GA
Program Manager

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
SYSTEM (MIS) 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager 

STATE OF GEORGIA TRANSIT DATA 
FACT BOOK 
Atlanta, GA  
Program Manager 

GEORGIA STATE TRANSIT PLAN 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager

GDOT TRANSIT POLICY AND 
PROCEDURES MANUALS 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager 

GEORGIA STATE TRANSIT 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager

HIGH OCCUPANCY TOLL AND TRUCK 
ONLY TOLL LANE STUDIES 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager

ATLANTA TO CHATTANOOGA HIGH 
SPEED GROUND TRANSPORTATION 
STUDY 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager 

ATLANTA TO BIRMINGHAM HIGH 
SPEED RAIL STUDY 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager 

ATLANTA TO CHARLOTTE HIGH 
SPEED RAIL STUDY 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager

CALIFORNIA ELECTRONIC 
TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAM 
Sacramento, CA
Program Manager

MARYLAND TRANSIT 
ADMINISTRATION SELF INSURANCE 
CLAIMS MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 
Baltimore, MD
Program Manager

CENTRAL HOSPITAL 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
– BROADBAND INITIATIVE 
Milledgeville, GA
Program Manager

EAST POINT CITY HALL 
East Point, GA
Program Manager

CLAYTON COUNTY 
INTERGENERATIONAL CENTER 
Clayton County, GA
Program Manager

MERCEDES BENZ STADIUM 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager

STATE FARM ARENA 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager

HJIA HILTON HOTEL 
Atlanta, GA
Program Manager

SAVANNAH ARENA 
Savannah, GA
Program Manager

BIG CREEK WASTEWATER 
TREATMENT PLANT 
Roswell, GA
Program Manager

BIRMINGHAM ENERGY 
PERFORMANCE CONTRACTING 
PROGRAM 
Birmingham, AL
Program Manager

129

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 14

BACKGROUND

Stevie has 19 years of professional engineering experience. His expertise lies in traffic engineering, traffic signal and ITS design, 
signal timing, signing and marking plans, ADA accessibility standards, project reviews, and design for public and private clients 
throughout the southeast. Stevie’s past experience with Pedestrian Hybrid Beacons includes work with DeKalb County preparing 
documents for FHWA review for interim approval, prior to their inclusion in the 2009 edition of the MUTCD, at eight locations 
along Buford Hwy and Candler Road.  As part of GDOT and DeKalb County efforts to improve pedestrian safety along Buford 
Hwy, Stevie designed the ten Pedestrian Hybrid Beacons on Buford Hwy.  He also provided the traffic warrant analysis and 
design for two Pedestrian Hybrid beacon’s on GDOT’s SR 8/Ponce de Leon safety and pedestrian improvement project.  Stevie’s 
comprehensive knowledge of pedestrian design and safety standards as well as ADA accessibility standards contributes to the 
success of his projects.

STEVIE BERRYMAN  PE

Traffic Engineering Analysis
sberryman@fg-inc.net  |  Peachtree Corners, GA

HIGHLIGHTED EXPERIENCE

GEORGIA TECH FERST DRIVE 
STREETSCAPE
Atlanta, GA
Traffic Engineer

GEORGIA TECH FERST DRIVE 
AND 6TH STREET INTERSECTION 
DESIGN
Atlanta, GA
Traffic Engineer

CITY OF CUMMING INDUSTRIAL 
PARK DRIVE CONNECTION ROAD 
DESIGN
Cumming, GA
Traffic Engineer

CITY OF CUMMING SAWNEE 
DRIVE ROAD EXTENSION
Cumming, GA
Traffic Engineer

CITY OF EAST POINT HEADLAND 
AND DELOWE SIDEWALK 
IMPROVEMENTS
East Point, GA
Traffic Engineer

GDOT REGIONAL TRAFFIC 
OPERATIONS PROGRAM
Atlanta Metro Area, GA
Traffic Engineer

GDOT STATEWIDE SIGNAL 
TIMING PROGRAM
Statewide, GA
Traffic Engineer

GDOT METRO SIGNAL TIMING 
PROGRAM
Atlanta Metro Area, Georgia

Traffic Engineer

GDOT  BUFORD HWY 
PEDESTRIAN IMPROVEMENTS, 
PH I, PEDESTRIAN HYBRID 
SIGNAL CONVERSIONS*
DeKalb County, GA
ITS/Traffic Engineer

GDOT INTERSTATE 75 WIDENING 
& ARKWRIGHT RD, MACON, GA, 
SIGNALS AND ITS* 
Macon, GA
ITS/Traffic Engineer 

GCDOT SR 124 ATMS SYSTEM*
Snellville, GA
ITS/Traffic Engineer

GCDOT MCGINNIS FERRY ROAD 
EXTENSION, SIGNALS AND ITS*
Gwinnett County, GA
ITS/Traffic Engineer

GCDOT ARCADO ROAD 
WIDENING, SIGNALS AND ITS*
Lilburn, GA
ITS/Traffic Engineer

CITY OF TUCKER ON-CALL 
TRAFFIC ENGINEERING SERVICES 
Tucker, GA
Traffic Engineer

CITY OF CUMMING ON-CALL 
ENGINEERING SERVICES
Cumming, GA
Traffic Engineer

DEKALB COUNTY PROGRAM 
MANAGEMENT
DeKalb County, GA
Traffic Engineer

QUALIFICATIONS

YEARS EXPERIENCE
Foresite Group: 7 
Total: 19

LICENSES + CERTIFICATIONS
GA Professional Engineer #PE036065

Additional Licenses: AL, ID, OR, TX, WA 

EDUCATION
Georgia Institute of Technology 
Masters in Civil Engineering 

Georgia Institute of Technology  
Bachelors in Industrial and Systems 
Engineering

AFFILIATIONS + ORGANIZATIONS
Institute of Transportation Engineers 
(ITE)

Georgia Intelligent Transportation 
Society (ITS)

130

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 15

BACKGROUND

Arnaldo is Chief Engineer for Foresite Group’s Broadband Engineering Division. He brings 9 years of professional experience 
in Telecommunication Engineering & Civil Engineering and is well versed in outside plant design and utility permitting work. 
Originally from Guaynabo, Puerto Rico, Arnaldo has a Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering from the Polytechnic University of 
Puerto Rico and is licensed Professional Engineer with the States of Texas & Washington. Before joining Foresite Group Arnaldo 
was a Project Manager working on utility permitting projects for telecom and gas companies with ENCO Consulting.  He’s also 
been a Design Manager for Google Fiber’s Austin project and an Outside Plant Engineer for multiple projects in his native Puerto 
Rico. Arnaldo’s experience also includes providing traffic and transportation engineering services for Foresite Group’s Texas 
region.

ARNALDO BLANCO  PE

Safety Assessments + Chief Engineer  
ablanco@fg-inc.net  |  Austin, TX

HIGHLIGHTED EXPERIENCE

VERIZON ONE FIBER 
Austin, TX
Chief Engineer

VERIZON ONE FIBER 
Dallas, TX
Chief Engineer

AT&T MULTIPLE PERMITTING 
PROJECTS 
Austin, TX
Project Manager 

TEXAS GAS MULTIPLE 
PERMITTING PROJECTS 
Austin, TX
Project Manager 

GOOGLE FIBER 
Austin, TX
OSP Design Manager

VERIZON ONE FIBER 
Seattle, WA
Permitting Program Manager

VERIZON ONE FIBER 
Knoxville, TN 
Permitting Program Manager

VERIZON ONE FIBER 
Cleveland, TN
Permitting Program Manager

UTOPIA FIBER 
Salt Lake City, UT
Chief Engineer

UTOPIA FIBER 
Bozeman, MT
Chief Engineer

QUALIFICATIONS

YEARS EXPERIENCE
Foresite Group: 5 
Total: 10

LICENSES + CERTIFICATIONS
TX Professional Engineer #126224
WA Professional Engineer #20106832

EDUCATION
Polytechnic University of Puerto Rico
Bachelor of Civil Engineering

131

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 16

DOUG STONER

Public Engagement
dstoner@fg-inc.net  |  Peachtree Corners, GA

BACKGROUND

Doug is a respected public figure and business leader with a 25+ year record of championing economic/business development 
and building strategic alliances as a COO, management consultant, elected officeholder (Georgia State Senator, 2005-2013), 
public servant, and civic volunteer. Doug leverages a deep understanding of business/public affairs to source opportunities, form 
networks, and engage stakeholders. He is a solution-focused consensus builder able to bridge the divide among diverse factions 
to create synergy and drive results. 

HIGHLIGHTED EXPERIENCE

CHAIRMAN, SOUTH COBB 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
2015 - Present 

PRESIDENT/PRINCIPAL, LD 
SQUARED, INC.
2003 - Present

VICE CHAIR, SMYRNA 
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY
1991 - 2016

MANAGING DIRECTOR/
CONSULTANT, DEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY OF DEKALB COUNTY
2014

CHAIRMAN, SENATE 
DEMOCRATIC CAUCUS
2010 - 2012

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
CONSULTANT, EXELOO, INC.
2003 - 2017

GOVERNMENT AFFAIRS 
CONSULTANT, ATLANTA 
BELTLINE PARTNERSHIP, INC.
2015 - 2017

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
CONSULTANT, VEOLIA 
TRANSPORTATION
2013 - 2014

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
CONSULTANT, GAS SOUTH
2010 - 2014

DIRECTOR OF BUSINESS 
DEVELOPMENT, CROY 
ENGINEERING, INC.
2011 - 2013

SENIOR BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 
MANAGER, ATKINS NORTH 
AMERICA,
2009 - 2011

VICE PRESIDENT, VEE-JAY INC.
1990 - 2003

GEORGIA STATE SENATOR
2005 - 2013
Ranking Member, Senate 
Committees: Economic 
Development | Transportation 
| Regulated Industries & Public 
Utilities | State & Local Government 
Operations | Intermodal, Rail, and 
Transit Subcommittee (Chairman)

GEORGIA STATE 
REPRESENTATIVE, 
2003 - 2005
Georgia State House

QUALIFICATIONS

YEARS EXPERIENCE
Foresite Group: 3 
Total: 25+

EDUCATION
Kennesaw State University 
Bachelor of Science in Political Science 
Carl Vinson Institute of Government 
Development Authority Training

AFFILIATIONS + ORGANIZATIONS
Board Member, Cobb Chamber 
Government Affairs Committee, 
2013-Present
Board Member, Cobb Chamber 
Competitive EDGE Steering Committee, 
2011-2012
Chairman, Cobb Chamber 
Transportation Committee, 2008-2009
Member, Southern States Energy Board, 
2005-2007
Member, Georgia Rail Passenger 
Authority Oversight Committee, 
2003-2007
Chairman, Cobb Transit Advisory Board, 
1999-2002
Board Member, Cobb Transit Advisory 
Board, 1995-2002

HONORS + AWARDS
Environmental Leadership Award, 
Georgia Conservation Voters, 2006, 
2008-2012
Friend of Transit Award, Georgia Transit 
Association, 2010
Champions of Mobility Award, Get 
Georgia Moving Coalition, 2008
Legislator of the Year Award, Georgia 
Association of Educators, 2005
Georgia Legislator of the Year Award, 
American Cancer Society, 2003-2005
Distinguished Local Service Award, 
American Public Transportation 
Association, 2004

132

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 17

Rebecca Van Dyke 
Senior Consultant 

Rebecca Van Dyke is a city aficionado and idea-generator with a special love 
for equitable and sustainable transportation. Rebecca brings a multi-
disciplinary background that ranges from operations management and video 
production to graphic design and data analysis. While at Georgia Tech, she 
served as President of the Student Planning Association and held a position 
with the American Planning Association (APA) as the Region II representative 
on the Student Representatives Council Executive Committee from 2018 to 
2020. At High Street, Rebecca has been involved in a variety of projects 
including software system analyses, freight and safety planning, bicycle and 
pedestrian focused tasks, and stakeholder and public engagement. 

Experience  
TxDOT – Texas Active Transportation Plan Inventory Tool. Rebecca led a project for TxDOT’s Public 
Transportation Division (PTN) developing a GIS-based bicycle and pedestrian plan inventory tool. This 
statewide planning tool uses ESRI’s ArcGIS Online resources and will enable transportation planning 
professionals to search a database of active transportation plans using a map and other features. To gauge 
reception among stakeholders, Rebecca assisted PTN in compiling an Advisory Group that would provide 
crucial feedback about the tool’s functionality and usefulness. The project team held multiple virtual 
meetings with the Advisory Group, during which Rebecca facilitated feedback sessions among meeting 
participants. 

Bureau of Transportation Statistics (BTS) – Improving Public Transportation Finance Statistics. Rebecca is 
project manager for an engagement with BTS to identify and develop new data sources and methods for 
improving the BTS Government Transportation Finance Statistics (GTFS). This work has a particular focus on 
improving the timeliness and granularity of the GTFS and includes developing baseline documentation of 
current data sources and timelines for data acquisition and publication. It also includes exploration of 
potential new data sources and GTFS development methodologies. Rebecca has led the technical report 
writing and helped plan and execute a visioning workshop focused on the future of the GTFS.  

State Amtrak Intercity Passenger Rail Committee (SAIPRC) – Program Management Support for 
Commercial Performance. Rebecca is serving as the project manager and lead facilitator for the SAIPRC 
Commercial Performance Working Group. In this role, Rebecca is responsible for planning and facilitating 
the monthly conference calls with the working group membership. Other activities include coordinating and 
facilitating regular meetings (2-6 times a month) with the group co-chairs and/or group members as well 
as organizing other workshops as needed. Rebecca is leading the development of an annual work plan 
which involves soliciting and documenting stakeholder input, writing and formatting the plan, and collecting 
feedback.    

Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT) – Texas Transportation Plan (TTP) 2050. Rebecca was 
involved in nearly every aspect of TxDOT’s most recent update to its statewide long-range plan since the 
project began in 2018. Among her key roles were assisting with the logistics for public meetings and 
planning and facilitating stakeholder engagement sessions all over the state, developing outreach 
materials, writing technical memos on statewide bicycle and pedestrian planning and implementation 
strategies, and co-leading the final plan design effort. She also assisted with the bicycle and pedestrian 
needs analysis, contributed to the freight technical memo writing, and led the environmental documentation 
requirement task.  

 

 

Years of Experience 
8 

Education 
MS, City and Regional 
Planning, Georgia Institute 
of Technology, 2018 

BA, English Language and 
Literature, University of 
Virginia, 2001 

Kansas Department of Transportation (KDOT) – Strategic Highway Safety Plan (SHSP) Implementation. 
Rebecca is project manager for a 3-year KDOT SHSP implementation contract aimed at assisting the 
agency with meeting its safety targets. She has contributed to a variety of tasks, including a review of and 
report on all SHSP and safety-related documentation; interviews with KDOT safety staff, leadership, 
members of the Executive Safety Council (ESC), FHWA staff, and other stakeholders; best practices 
research; and developing a key findings report that incorporated recommended changes. She also assisted 
with developing a quantitative strategy prioritization methodology and led a strategy prioritization 
workshop with stakeholders. She manages the Pedestrian and Bicycle EAT and is developing an action plan 
for each of the team’s top strategies. She is currently researching and producing a report on high-level 
plans, studies, and other documents that have any kind of connection to FHWA’s Safe System approach in 
preparation for the next Kansas SHSHP update.  

Idaho Transportation Department (ITD) – OTIS Software Business Analysis. Rebecca led a team that 
recently completed a one-year software system analysis project for the Idaho Transportation Department 
(ITD) to help the agency prepare to replace or rewrite their transportation investment management system, 
OTIS. The work required extensive stakeholder engagement through a series of small group interviews with 
system users of all types, both internal and external to ITD. The goal of these meetings was to document 
user experiences with current system, including strengths and weaknesses and exposing technical flaws. 
High Street amended the findings with surveys, comprehensive reviews of historical internal documents, 
best practices research, draft business requirements, and peer state DOT interviews. The outcomes included 
a recommended path forward for ITD, which was incorporated into a final report. ITD will use the 
deliverables from this project to draft an RFP for the new system. The final report can be viewed on ITD's 
website here: https://apps.itd.idaho.gov/apps/research/Completed/RP298.pdf. 

NCHRP Guide to Making Targets Matter: Managing Performance to Enhance Decision-Making. Rebecca 
was part of the team developing a Guide on Making Targets Matter. This guide is meant to help 
transportation agency leaders and policy makers more effectively incorporate feedback from people and 
data into their existing transportation performance management (TPM) and performance-based planning 
and programming (PBPP) frameworks. Her contributions include a case study on the Virginia DOT’s (VDOT) 
data-driven safety policy changes, illustrative documentation on the successful use of feedback in other 
industries, assistance with follow-up peer exchanges that informed a guide addendum, and drafting a case 
study on the East-West Gateway Council of Government’s equity analysis born out of their long-range 
transportation plan update. 

Virginia Office of Intermodal Planning and Investment – Growth and Accessibility Program Technical 
Assistant (GAP-TA). Rebecca was part of a team helping five GAP-TA grant recipients that are Virginia 
localities or regional planning organizations develop robust and data-driven processing for prioritizing study 
locations, solutions, and projects. For the City of Richmond, the team completed the Multimodal Network 
Equitable Access Study. Rebecca analyzed transportation technology access in the city using U.S. Census 
and locally collected Path to Equity data. For the Roanoke Valley region, the team developed a process to 
identify solutions to the transportation needs of in the, including both engineering and policy solutions. The 
process allows the Roanoke Valley Transportation Planning Organization to identify multiple ways to solve 
each transportation problem and evaluate these solutions for how well each moves the region toward its 
goals and objectives. 

NCHRP 20-24(130) - Into the 2020s: A Peer Exchange Series for State Department of Transportation CEOs. 
The objective of this research is to organize, support, deliver, and document a series of six in-person state 
DOT CEO peer exchanges that will provide useful information for state DOT leaders in more effectively 
fulfilling their responsibilities. Two peer exchanges will be designed for recently appointed CEOs. The 
remaining four peer exchanges will be designed for a mix of new and more seasoned CEOs and held in each 
AASHTO region with attendance open to any CEO. Rebecca’s roles include preparing advanced materials, 
assisting with the Atlanta peer exchange delivery, debrief meetings, and report development. Example 
topics include Emerging Challenges and Legacy Cultures; Navigating Relationships with Industry Partners; 
Leading in Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion; Opportunities and Threats in Funding and Finance; Managing 
Through Your Next Crisis; Thriving in the Political and Public Arenas; Workforce; Safety; IIJA.  

133

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 18

Yousef Dana, P.E. 
Senior Consultant 

Yousef is a Transportation Engineer, Planner, and Data Analyst with 
experience in performance-based transportation planning, operations, 
analytics, and design. His experience mostly lies in assessing statewide 
transportation needs with predictive safety analysis, performance-based 
planning, forecasting, and data-driven project prioritization. Yousef focuses 
on delivering strategic approaches intended to produce measurable results. 
Converting safety datasets into digestible recommendations via logical, 
defensible, and replicable methods; particularly implementing HSM methods. 

Over his career, Yousef has worked on projects as a transportation engineer 
and data analyst with various government DOTs, MPOs, and private clients. 
He utilizes his knowledge and experience in R, GIS, Python, and SQL to 
implement Safe Systems and HSM approaches, including network screening, 
diagnosis, and predictive safety analysis.  

Experience  
Performance Based Planning, Operations, and Analytics 
COMPASS Boise, Idaho MPO – Safe Streets for All Action Plan. High Street is strategically combining 
systemic and location-specific analyses to thoroughly assess and elevate transportation safety. Yousef is 
identifying features that correlate with severe accidents across the regional network, which could range 
from inadequate pedestrian infrastructure to speeding-related driver behaviors. Simultaneously, Yousef is 
conducting a location specific analysis by deploying GIS-based tools to pinpoint areas of high incident 
concentration, providing actionable insights for improvement. Underpinning this effort is an interactive 
visualization tool that dynamically presents the High Injury Network (HIN) and other analysis results. This 
tool will serve as a catalyst for planning potential safety enhancements.  

Maricopa Association of Governments (MAG) – SunCloud Data Dashboard for Sun Corridor. Yousef 
provided a safety data layer utilizing the five-year crash data from MAG and adapted safety performance 
functions from the Highway Safety Manual (HSM). He generated five-year data statistics by categorization 
for segments and intersections. Performance metrics include crash frequency, crash rate, LOSS, and excess 
expected crashes. Yousef calculated predicted crash measures by utilizing SPFs and adjusting per EB 
method to determine excess expected crashes and level of service safety. SPF calibration was conducted for 
the Sun Corridor region of Arizona utilizing historic crashes.  

Utah Department of Transportation (UDOT) – STIP Impact Analysis. Yousef was the project manager for 
the analysis and oversaw the application of various statistical models to forecast both ‘no build’ and ‘build’ 
impacts over a six-year period for projects within the STIP. Outcomes were used to inform future 
performance bridge, pavement, safety, capacity, and ancillary asset target setting through use of a cross-
investment performance dashboard tool. Countermeasures were chosen based on project descriptions and 
Crash Modification Factors were applied to determine the overall impact of safety related projects relative 
to baseline measurements.  

Connecticut Department of Transportation (CTDOT) – Enhancing Project Prioritization. Yousef has provided 
a repeatable, transparent project prioritization framework for major highway mobility projects in the 
categories of pavement, environmental, and bridge conditions. Utilizing several tools with a combination of 
R and GIS to project performance. The prioritization framework enables CTDOT to communicate the likely 
performance benefits of their planned major transportation investments more effectively and track 
performance impacts in alignment with their strategic goals.  

Years of Experience 
7 

Education 
BS, Civil and Material 
Engineering, University of 
Illinois at Chicago, 2018 

Certifications/Licenses 
Professional Engineer, 2022 

Social-Behavioral 
Educational Researcher, 
HSR Basic, 2021 

Cook County Department of Transportation (CCDOTH) – Highway Safety Improvement Program (HSIP) 
Projects. Yousef was a lead engineer on the implementation of the six HSIP Projects of multiple intersections 
and corridors in Cook County. He managed a team of five subcontractors that worked to analyze traffic, 
crash, geometric, and environmental conditions based on existing data and historical crash data. He also 
coordinated with various government agencies such as CCDOTH, FHWA (Federal Highway Administration), 
and IDOT for approval and data retrieval. 

134

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 19

Mark Egge 
Director 

Mark is an expert advisor to transportation agencies on using and integrating 
data to achieve their agencies’ objectives. He is a tenured match maker 
between analytical tools, agency data, and decision makers’ needs. Mark 
combines his information systems management training with more than a 
decade of experience building and deploying lightweight tools that brilliantly 
solve specific needs. 

Experience  
Nebraska DOT – Linking Infrastructure Challenges and Data (LINC-D) (2017 
– Present). Mark leads Nebraska DOT’s ongoing initiative to incorporate data 
science into agency decision making. With over twenty successfully 
completed projects, LINC-D has provided key insights for decision makers, 
built data literacy and analytics capability across the organization, and 
supported the use of data to communicate performance and policy issues to 
the state governor and legislature. 

Nebraska DOT – Horizonal Curve Extraction Tool & Inventory (2022). Mark planned and oversaw the 
development of a horizontal curve inventory for NDOT using their existing roadway linework. This task 
included porting GIS source code to create a new GIS-based curve extraction tool, fine-tuning parameters 
to optimize curve identification, and manual review and quality control processing of the automated curve 
inventory. NDOT has used the resulting inventory for horizontal curve safety analysis. 

Wasatch Front Regional Council – Accessibility Impacts Scoring Tool (2022). Mark designed and 
implemented a GIS-based tool to calculate changes in regional accessibility for individual candidate 
transportation investments. Accessibility is quantified in terms of Access to Opportunity (ATO) which 
measures how well residents can access jobs, or how well employers can access the labor force. The 
solution leverages Esri ArcGIS’s Network Analyst to sum the distance-discounted count of households and 
jobs reachable within a defined travelshed. Projects are simulated via changes to the underlying network 
and impedance values. ATO impacts are estimated for roadway, transit, active transportation, and land use 
projects. Results will be integrated into WFRC’s project selection processes. 

Federal Highway Administration – Data Science Workshop (2022). Mark developed the curriculum and co-
instructed the full-day “Data Science 101” workshop at the first annual International Data Science for 
Pavements Symposium hosted at the Turner-Fairbank Highway Research Center. The workshop was mix of 
instruction and hands on experience using the R programming language. The lab sections used real-world 
pavement condition data and introduced participants to analytical tools that can be used with data form 
their own agencies. During the workshop participants gained familiarity with foundational data science 
concepts, including exploratory data analysis, data cleaning, supervised and unsupervised machine 
learning, and data visualization. 

Maricopa Association of Governments (MAG) – Sun Cloud Regional Data Portal (2022). Mark is leading the 
development of new data layers and online analysis tools for the Arizona Sun Cloud open data portal. This 
work has included data layer development, defining data quality and metadata standards, data lifecycle 
planning, and GIS application development. Mark’s key contributions included significant data management 
activities (combining heterogenous data sources from many agencies) and developing an innovative equity-
focused layer of disadvantaged roadway users. The data portal provides a unified regional view of 
investment needs and opportunities, informed by travel demand, equity considerations, broadband access, 
and safety performance. 

Years of Experience 
12 

Education 
Masters, Information 
Systems Management - 
Business Intelligence and 
Data Analytics, Carnegie 
Mellon University 

BS, Economics, Montana 
State University 

BA, History, Montana State 
University 

Idaho Transportation Department – Automated Traffic Count Site Group Assignment (2021). Mark 
designed the approach and prototype for the automated assignment of temporary traffic count locations to 
seasonal adjustment factor groups. This assignment is used to accurately estimate an annualized average 
daily traffic count from a short term counts. The solution implements k-means clustering unsupervised 
machine learning algorithm to group automated traffic recorders into factor groups, and Naïve Bayes 
classification to assign short term sites to the appropriate factor group. 

Nebraska DOT – Estimating Seat Belt Use via Proxy Data (2021). To better target its outreach, education 
and enforcement efforts promoting seat belt use, NDOT needs more granular data on seat belt use than its 
annual statewide survey. Mark led High Street in employing a data fusion approach to produce biannual 
county-level estimate of seat belt usage from crash data, citation data, and enforcement data. 

Nebraska DOT – Pedestrian Crossing Inventory Using Machine Learning (2021). To support a statewide 
pedestrian safety initiative, High Street developed for Nebraska DOT a statewide inventory of marked 
pedestrian crossings. Using profiler van roadside imagery, Mark and his team trained a deep learning model 
to identify the presence of painted pedestrian crossings in images and applied this model to multiple years 
of roadway imagery. The team then created a simple web app to allow a GIS analyst to quickly place 
crosswalks points on their precise locations using aerial imagery. By leveraging the respective strengths of 
machine intelligence and human intelligence, High Street created for Nebraska DOT an accurate, turn-key 
and cost-effective statewide inventory of pedestrian crossing locations. 

Nebraska DOT – Public Involvement Effectiveness (2020). Having assumed NEPA assignment, Nebraska 
DOT is evolving its public engagement and involvement practices based on evidence of effectiveness. Under 
this assignment Mark led an initial effort to quantify the effectiveness of public engagement activities in 
terms of awareness and engagement, establishing a dataset of activities and enhanced data collection for 
future analysis. 

Texas DOT – Transportation Alternatives and Bicycle Tourism & Trails Scoring Tools (2019 – 2021). Mark 
designed the architecture supporting two project scoring tools sharing an integrated database. Each tool 
and the shared database is encapsulated into a Docker container, deployed together as a container stack. 
This architecture enables a seamless Continuous Integration & Deployment pipeline from High Street’s 
development environment into TxDOT’s hosting environment on RedHat OpenShift. Additionally, the 
containerized architecture enables the solution’s single-sign on integration and scaling and load balancing 
to support high user loads. The resulting tools spatially integrate a half dozen data sources to calculate 
more than two dozen evaluation criteria. 

Alabama DOT - National Transportation Performance Measures Compliance Strategy & Reporting. Mark is 
the technical lead supporting Alabama DOT’s calculation, target setting, and reporting for ALDOT’s national 
(MAP-21/FAST Act) PM3 system performance measures. Mark’s processing methodology that calculates 
ALDOT’s reliability performance from NPMRDS data is sufficiently efficient to allow these calculations to be 
run on any professional workstation (no server required). ALDOT’s PM3 performance information is 
delivered to ALDOT via an interactive web-based dashboard also design and created by Mark.  

Maryland DOT – State Highway Administration – PM3 Performance Management Support. To establish 
data-informed targets for the Federal TPM System Performance & Freight Movement (“PM3”) performance 
measures, Mark developed and applied with MDOT SHA a novel forecasting methodology that relates 
segment-level roadway capacity and traffic volume to reliability performance. Mark generated multiple 
forecast scenarios, reflecting multiple levels of traffic growth rates and investment strategies. The forecasts 
provide a realistic basis for setting future targets, while simultaneously demonstrating how growing travel 
demand affects system reliability and the user experience improvements from MDOT’s investments in ITS 
and new system capacity.  

 

High Street  |  www.highstreetconsulting.com  |  240.252.5111 

 

135

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 20

Jeff Carroll 
Partner 

Mr. Carroll has 28 years of experience in multimodal transportation planning 
and policy analysis. He started his career at Georgia DOT Office of Planning 
and since then he has managed and/or led tasks on 25+ statewide, regional, 
and metropolitan transportation plans. Jeff further has developed 12 USDOT 
grant applications which have generated $95 million for his clients. 

Experience  
South Carolina DOT | Strategic Highway Safety Plan. For this effort, Jeff’s 
team: i) summarized the effectiveness of numerous engineering, enforcement, 
and educational safety countermeasures using high-quality safety research, 
ii) conducted stakeholder interviews to understand perceived safety issues in 
the state, iii) assessed the alignment between the state SHSP and regional safety plans from the 
perspective of visions, goals, objectives, performance measures, emphasis areas, data, and 
countermeasures, and iv) developed and demonstrated alternative approaches for setting federal safety 
targets using historical data. 

INFRA Grant: I-44 and US 75 Corridor Improvement Projects: Tulsa, Oklahoma. Jeff was the project 
manager of the Oklahoma DOT (ODOT) 2020 INFRA Grant. Jeff led the development of the Project 
Description, Project Location, and Project Parties sections. Jeff worked closely with ODOT and the 
consultant team to complete the Grant Funds, Sources, Uses of Project Funds, Merit Criteria, Project 
Readiness, and the Benefit-Cost Analysis section. Jeff met with ODOT weekly during the development of the 
application. 

RAISE Grant application SH-37 BNSF Railroad Crossing: Moore, OK. Jeff was the project manager of the 
ODOT's 2021 RAISE Grant application SH-37 BNSF Railroad Crossing: Moore, OK. Based on the FHWA 
debrief, Jeff updated the graphics depicting the project and revised the Environmental Sustainability and 
Quality of Life Merit Criteria narrative.  Jeff worked closely with the team to update other sections based on 
the FHWA debrief. ODOT was awarded $10 million to help fund improvements to resolve blocked train 
crossings on State Highway 37 in the city of Moore. 

RAISE Grant: Enhancing Safety and Mobility in West Tulsa: I-44 & US-75 Corridor Improvements. Jeff was 
the project manager of the ODOT 2022 RAISE Grant: Enhancing Safety and Mobility in West Tulsa: I-44 & 
US-75 Corridor Improvements. Based on FHWA's debrief, Jeff worked closely with the team to finalize all 
sections of the application. Jeff met with ODOT weekly during the development of the application. FHWA 
awarded ODOT $85 million in MEGA funds to help fund projects related to improvements of the Interstate 44 
and US-75 interchange. This is the largest grant awarded to ODOT. 

MPDG RURAL Grant: At-Grade Rail Safety Improvements to Reestablish the Heartland Flyer Northern 
Extension. Jeff was the project manager, responsible for writing the Project Description, Project Location, 
and Project Parties sections. He also worked with the team to develop the six Project Outcome criteria, 
Funding, Benefit-Cost Analysis appendix, Project Readiness, and Environmental Risk.  Jeff met with ODOT 
weekly during application development.  

2022 MPDG RURAL Grant: PWF Road Safety & Rehabilitation Improvements. Jeff was the project manager 
for Jefferson County, Nebraska 2022 MPDG RURAL Grant: PWF Road Safety & Rehabilitation Improvements. 
Jeff wrote the Project Description, Project Location, Project Parties sections, and the Equity, Multimodal 
Options, and Quality of Life Criteria sections. He worked with the team to develop and finalize the full 
application. Jeff met with Jefferson County Chairman weekly during application development and 
participated in the FHWA debrief. 

 

Years of Experience 
28 

Education 
Master of Public 
Administration, University 
of Kentucky, 1997 

B.A., Business and 
Economics, Asbury College, 
1990 

Bridge Investment Program (BIP) Planning Grant: I-35 Bridge Replacement and Trail Connections over the 
Oklahoma River. Jeff was the project manager for the ODOT 2022 Bridge Investment Program (BIP) 
Planning Grant: I-35 Bridge Replacement and Trail Connections over the Oklahoma River. Jeff wrote the 
Project Description, Criteria #4 Climate Change, Resiliency, and the Environment and Criteria #5 Quality of 
Life sections. Jeff worked closely with the team to finalize all sections of the application, including the 
Benefit-Cost Analysis appendix. Jeff met with ODOT weekly during the development of the application. 

BIP Bridge Grant: Crossroad of America I-40 BIP Bridge Grant. Jeff was the project manager for the ODOT 
2022 Bridge Investment Program (BIP) Bridge Grant: Crossroad of America I-40 BIP Bridge Grant. Jeff 
completed the FHWA Grant Template and wrote the Project Description, Criteria #4 Climate Change, 
Resiliency, and the Environment and Criteria #5 Equity, Multimodal Options, and Quality of Life sections. 
Jeff worked closely with the team to finalize all sections of the application, including the Benefit-Cost 
Analysis appendix. Jeff met with ODOT weekly during the development of the application. 

BIP Large Bridge Grant: I-40/US-93 West Kingman Traffic Interchange. Jeff wrote the Project Description, 
Project History, Project Location, Project Parties sections, as well as the State of Good Repair and 
Innovation Outcome Criteria.Jeff was the project manager for the Arizona DOT 2022 Bridge Investment 
Program (BIP) Large Bridge Grant: I-40/US-93 West Kingman Traffic Interchange. Jeff wrote the Project 
Description, Project History, Project Location, Project Parties sections, as well as the State of Good Repair 
and Innovation Outcome Criteria. Jeff worked with the team to complete all sections of the application 
including the Benefit-Cost Analysis. Jeff met with the ADOT Grant team weekly during the development of 
the application.  

RAISE Grant: Bridging the Gap: Multimodal Connections on I-35 over the Oklahoma River. Jeff was the 
project manager for ODOT's 2023 RAISE Grant: Bridging the Gap: Multimodal Connections on I-35 over the 
Oklahoma River. Jeff wrote the Project Location, Historically Disadvantaged Communities and Areas of 
Persistent Poverty, Transportation Challenges, and Project History and Incurred Costs. Jeff worked with the 
team to complete the Merit Criteria, and Project Budget. Project Readiness, and the Benefit-Cost Analysis. 
Jeff met with ODOT weekly during the development of the application. 

 

136

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 21

Kevin Ford 
Partner 

As High Street’s PBPP lead, Dr. Kevin Ford regularly develops and implements 
innovative data-driven solutions to optimize performance outcomes for his 
clients. With no outcome more critical than reducing fatalities, Kevin has 
leveraged his civil engineering and data science background to: i) develop 
SS4A action plans, ii) create automated GIS tools to visualize high injury 
networks and evaluate candidate projects, iii) integrate big speed data into 
VRU analysis, iv) prepare HSM training materials, v) identify and prioritize 
safety improvement projects with the most potential to reduce fatalities and 
serious injuries, vi) generate funding by communicating the likely 
performance implications of different investment levels and quantifying what 
would be required to achieve aspirational targets, and vii) Incorporating 
safety into prioritization processes for which Kevin is a nationally recognized 
expert as evident by having been entrusted by MPOs and State DOTs in 25+ 
states to build buy-in around investment decisions. 

Experience  
Safety Action Plans 
[Raleigh, NC] CAMPO – Regional Multimodal (SS4A) Safety Action Plan, Prioritization Lead. Kevin is 
helping CAMPO blend data-driven and community processes in support of developing a SS4A action plan.  
This includes providing technical expertise toward conducting multimodal crash data and equity analyses, 
developing a high injury network, performing a risk assessment, and recommending safety enhancements.  
Kevin is further enhancing the MTP prioritization process he previously developed with CAMPO to integrate 
new crash analysis metrics, such as excess expected crashes, developed under this effort. 

[Boise, ID] COMPASS – SS4A Action Plan, Technical Quality Manager. Dr. Ford is overseeing the strategic 
combination of systemic and location-specific analyses (via AASHTOWare Safety) to assess safety needs 
and plan system enhancements. Kevin and team are identifying design features correlated with severe 
accidents across the regional network and developing an interactive GIS visualization tool to dynamically 
present the High Injury Network (HIN) and provide actionable insights.  

High Injury Network Development & Safety Concept Screening 
[Phoenix, AZ] MAG and PAG –Sun Cloud Aid Grant Corridor Prioritization. Quality Manager. Kevin 
developed safety and equity methodologies and provided quality control services as part of the Sun Cloud 
Corridor data portal development. The portal provides a unified assessment of investment needs and 
opportunities, brought to life through interactive, ESRI-based map viewers and analysis tools. High Street's 
team developed and published data layers for bridge conditions, safety performance, current and future 
travel demand, long-range plan projects, broadband access, transit ridership, freight flows, disadvantaged 
populations and roadway users, and travel time reliability. Kevin identified high-injury locations by blending 
regional and state SPFs to estimate excess crashes relative to expectations. 

Crash Trends & Safety Diagnostics 
Virginia DOT – I-81/I-77 Overlap Transportation Study, Traffic & Safety Analyst. Dr. Ford evaluated crash 
trends and proposed crash countermeasures for the Interstate overlap section of I-81/I-77 in Fort Chiswell,  

Virginia DOT - VA Route 7 Corridor Safety Study, Safety Analyst. Dr. Ford assisted with the safety analysis 
of the VA Route 7 corridor in Wolf Trap, VA by developing automated safety tools including the production 
of greenband diagrams for gap analysis, and tabular and graphical crash summaries of historical segment 
and intersection crashes.  Countermeasures were proposed to reduce corridor crash rates and severities. 

Years of Experience 
16 

Education 
Ph.D., Civil Engineering, 
Purdue University 

M.S., Civil Engineering, 
Purdue University 

B.S., Civil Engineering 
Valparaiso University 

Professional License 
PE [IL# 062.075527;                 

NC# 057066] 

137

Item XII. 6.



FORESITE GROUP, LLC  |  23-RFP-042  Effingham County, Safe Streets and Roads for All Action Plan (Statement of Qualifications) 22

Crash Data & Analytics 
[Chicago, IL] CMAP – Safety Speed Data, Quality Manager. Kevin is helping CMAP create spatial tools 
around big Wejo data to locate emphasis area crashes, particularly those associated with vulnerable road 
users to support their county safety action plans. Kevin’s team led the literature review and will help 
prepare the final Esri-based dashboarding platform to explore the data. 

Wisconsin DOT - Pedestrian and Bicycle Crash Estimation Study, Quality Manager. Kevin’s team of data 
scientists developed a Machine learning algorithm to predict bicycle and pedestrian crashes on the state 
highway network based on roadway, traffic (using Replica bike/ped counts), and existing crash data, as 
well as to prepare more accurate cost estimates. Kevin has helped to identify possible non-motorist 
exposure factors, determine model functional form, and establish goodness-of-fit metrics.  

NCHRP 17-38 [and 17-50] - HSM Implementation and Training Materials, Safety Analyst. As part of the 
NCHRP study, later published as NCHRP Report 715, Dr. Ford performed quality control/quality assurance 
on the automated spreadsheets designed to replicate HSM statistical analyses. He further aided in the 
development of examples designed to demonstrate HSM analytical techniques to state highway agencies – 
now published in Web-Only Document 323.   

Safety Prioritization 
[Chicago, IL] CMAP –Transportation Project Analysis Toolset, Project Manager. Kevin is helping the 
Chicago MPO enhance their multipurpose project impact evaluation tools to support ON TO 2050 principles 
of inclusive growth, prioritized investment, and resilience by prioritizing the efficacy of Regionally Significant 
[multimodal] Projects towards agency goals given limited resources. For safety, Kevin has helped automate 
the identification of vulnerable road users overlaid on the regional high injury network. 

Connecticut DOT – Enhancing Project Concept Screening and Prioritization, Technical Lead. Kevin helped 
CTDOT comply with state legislation to develop performance-based project prioritization processes for 
significant projects. This involved establishing an impact-oriented framework for development authority 
and programming decisions, then preapring and implementing a broader strategic roadmap to improve 
data management and agency analytical capabilities. For safety, Kevin leveraged the CRSMS tool to 
implement the HSM six-step framework with diagnostics for concept screening and SPF/CMF application for 
evaluation. The team further is pairing Replica with Justice 40 data to capture VRU travel patterns. 

Texas DOT – PBPP Investment Planning and Prioritization Tools, Data Scientist. Kevin supported TxDOT in 
complying with state legislation by developing impact-oriented project prioritization processes – inclusive 
of safety using state-vetted CMFs - used to score TxDOT’s 10-year $75B+ capital program. The data-
informed process was translated into software as part of a data-sharing program with districts and MPOs. 
Dr. Ford’s ability to link investment levels to performance outcomes, helped TxDOT secure a $600M Vision 
Zero biennium and increase the 10-year program by $35B. Kevin further automated TA and bike network 
scoring tools that estimate the reduction in non-motorized crashes and bicyclist level-of-stress. 
Stakeholders and advocacy groups were engaged to identify criteria and form consensus priority weights.  

Virginia DOT - US 501 Corridor Safety Project Prioritization, Safety Analyst. As part of the evaluation of 
safety improvement projects recommended for the rural US 501 corridor in southern Virginia, Dr. Ford 
applied benefit-cost analysis to prioritize projects, by first estimating project costs and service lives, and 
using the Highway Safety Manual (HSM) to assess potential crash reductions. 

Washington, D.C. DOT - Highway Safety Improvement Program Evaluation, Safety Analyst. Dr. Ford 
performed field visits to evaluate the safety performance of seven intersections in downtown D.C.  Having 
made recommendations, estimated project costs and service lives, and used the HSM to estimate crash 
reduction, Dr. Ford prioritized recommended projects using life-cycle based benefit-cost analysis. 

138

Item XII. 6.



Staff Report 
Subject: Approval of Amendment No. 1 to the McDaniel Supply Company Agreement 

with the Effingham County Prison 

Author: Alison Bruton, Purchasing Agent 

Department: Prison 

Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 

Item Description: Amendment No. 1 to the McDaniel Supply Company Agreement with 

the Effingham County Prison 

 

Summary Recommendation: Staff recommends approval of Amendment No. 1 to the 

McDaniel Supply Company Agreement with the Effingham County Prison 

 

Executive Summary/Background: 

 Effingham County Prison Personnel have been discussing the possibility of 

adding vending machines for inmate use. Currently, inmates are allowed one visit 

to the commissary per day, but this would allow for items to be purchased 

throughout the day.  

 McDaniel has submitted an amendment allowing for two (2) vending machines to 

be set up for inmate use. These machines will continue to be the property of 

McDaniel Supply Company. Prison staff will order the vending machine items 

from MSC and will restock the machine. There will be no cash used.  

 The vending machine commission rate paid to the County will be 25% on the 

sales generated once the machines are operational.  

 This amendment has been reviewed and approved to form by the County 

Attorney. 

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider 

1. Approval of Amendment No. 1 to the McDaniel Supply Company Agreement with 

the Effingham County Prison 

2. Take no action. 

 

Recommended Alternative: 1 

Other Alternatives: 2 

Department Review: Prison, Purchasing, County Attorney 

Funding Source: Prison Operating Budget 

Attachments: MSC Agreement and Amendment 

 

 

 

 

139

Item XII. 7.



140

Item XII. 7.



141

Item XII. 7.



142

Item XII. 7.



143

Item XII. 7.

fcharleton
Sticky Note
36 months May 2016 to May 2019Annual one year renewals unless terminated.



144

Item XII. 7.



145

Item XII. 7.



146

Item XII. 7.



147

Item XII. 7.



148

Item XII. 7.



149

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

1 
 

 

Request for Proposals 
 

No. 16-16-002 
 

To provide 
Inmate Commissary Services 

 
to 
 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
Springfield, Georgia 

 
For  

Effingham County Prison 
 
 

MARCH 2016 
 
 

 

 
 

 
All Submissions returned to: 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
ATTN: Purchasing Office 
601 North Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA 31329 

150

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

2 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

March 1
st
, 2016 

 
 

RE:   RFP No. 16-16-002  

Request for Proposals for Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 
 

 
 
Dear Sir or Madam: 

 

This is an invitation to submit a proposal to supply Effingham County, Georgia with the professional services 

as specified herein.  Sealed proposals will be received at the Office of the Purchasing Agent, EFFINGHAM 

COUNTY ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLEX, 601 N. LAUREL STREEET, SPRINGFIELD, 

GEORGIA, up to 10.00am (local time) Tuesday April 5
th

, 2016.  

 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners reserves the right to reject any and all bids or any and all bids 

that are non-responsive or not responsible.  Additionally, Effingham County Board of Commissioners has the 

right to waive any technicalities or informalities. Effingham County may issue change orders altering the 

original scope of work to address changes or unforeseen conditions necessary for the project completion. 

 

Instructions for the preparation and submission of a proposal are contained in the request for proposal package. 

If you do not submit a proposal, please return the no-bid sheet and state the reason. 

 

A MANDATORY PRE-PROPOSAL CONFERENCE has been scheduled for 10.00am (local time) 

Thursday March 17
th

, 2016 and will be conducted in the Conference Room of the EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

PRISON, 321 HWY 119 SOUTH, SPRINGFIELD, GEORGIA, 31329, to discuss the specifications and 

resolve any questions and/or misunderstanding that may arise.  An accompanied site visitation will follow. 

 

Proposals will not be accepted from any firm that is not represented at the Mandatory 

Pre-Proposal Conference. 
 

Any questions that arise after the pre-proposal conference must be made in writing and must be received at the 

office of the Purchasing Agent no later than 10.00am (local time) Tuesday March 22
nd

, 2016 No response 

will be given to any questions received after 10.00am (local time) Tuesday March 22
nd

, 2016. Questions may 

be faxed to 912-754-8413; emailed to fcharleton@effinghamcounty.org or mailed to the address below. If 

questions are mailed, please DO NOT put the bid number on the outside of the envelope. 

 

The response to all questions will be in the form of an addendum and will be posted on the Effingham County 

website www.effinghamcounty.org before 5.00pm (local time) Monday March 28
th

, 2016. 

 

The only official answer or position of Effingham County will be the one stated in writing. 
 

 

 

 

151

Item XII. 7.

mailto:fcharleton@effinghamcounty.org
http://www.effinghamcounty.org/


RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

3 
 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA  

DOCUMENT CHECK LIST 

 

Company Name : ________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Please indicate you have completed the following documentation; and then submit them in the following order of shown 

as REQUIRED. 

 

________________________________________          ___________________________________ 
Authorized Signature                                 Title                           

 

________________________________________          ___________________________________ 
Print Name                                            Date                           

THIS PAGE MUST BE COMPLETED AND SUBMITTED AS PART OF YOUR PROPOSAL 

 

REQUIRED COMPLETED ITEM DESCRIPTION 

  
INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

  REQUEST FOR QUOTE 

X  BID / QUOTE SUBMITTAL FORM 

  SURETY REQUIREMENTS (Certified check or other security of _% required with BID 

SUBMITTAL – BID BOND FORM PROVIDED) 

  PERFORMANCE BOND- UPON AWARD OF CONTRACT (FORM PROVIDED) 

  PAYMENT BOND- UPON AWARD OF CONTRACT ( FORM PROVIDED) 

X  CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE (SAMPLE ATTACHED)  

X  W-9 

  LEGAL NOTICE 

X  CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT & AGREEMENT (E-VERIFY) 

X  SUB-CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT & AGREEMENT (E-VERIFY)  

  GEORGIA PROFESSIONAL LICENCE CERTIFICATIONS 

X  LIST OF SUB-CONTRACTORS 

X  ATTACHMENTS 

X  RECEIPT OF ADDENDA IF ANY 

152

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

4 
 

SECTION I 

INSTRUCTIONS TO VENDORS 

 

1.1 PURPOSE:  
The purpose of this document is to provide general and specific information for use in submitting a 

proposal to supply Effingham County with services as described herein. All proposals are governed by the 

Code of Effingham County, and the laws of the State of Georgia. Any contract and/or agreement and any 

addendums to it that result from this RFP shall be governed by the laws of Georgia, with venue in 

Effingham County. 

 
1.2 HOW TO SUBMIT PROPOSALS:  
 All proposals shall be: 

 
A. Submitted in sealed opaque package (envelope or box as necessary), plainly marked with the RFP 

number and title, date and time of submission, and company name. 
 

B. Mailed or delivered in sufficient time to ensure receipt by the Purchasing Agent on or before the time 
and date specified above. 

 
  Hand Delivery and Mailing Address:  

Effingham County Purchasing Agent,  
601 North Laurel Street,  
Springfield, Georgia, 31329. 
 

C. Please check the County’s website www.effinghamcounty.org prior to submission for any 
addendum to the RFP 

 
PROPOSALS NOT RECEIVED BY THE TIME AND DATE SPECIFIED WILL NOT BE 

OPENED OR CONSIDERED. 

1.3 HOW TO SUBMIT AN OBJECTION:  
Objections from Vendors to this request for proposal and/or these specifications should be brought to the 
attention of the County Purchasing Agent either verbally at the pre-proposal conference, or in writing at 
least two (2) days prior to pre-proposal conference. The objections contemplated may pertain to form 
and/or substance of the request for proposal documents. Failure to object in accordance with the above 
procedure will constitute a waiver on the part of the business to protest this request for proposal. 

 
1.4 ERRORS IN PROPOSALS:  

Vendors or their authorized representatives are expected to fully inform themselves as to the conditions, 
requirements, and specifications before submitting proposals. Failure to do so will be at the Vendor’s own 
risk.  
 

1.5 STANDARDS FOR ACCEPTANCE OF VENDORS FOR CONTRACT AWARD:  
The County expressly reserves the right in its sole judgement, to accept or reject any or all proposals with 
or without cause and to waive any technicalities or irregularities in proposals received whenever such 
rejection or waiver is in the best interest of the County. The County reserves the right to reject the offer of 
a Vendor who has previously failed to perform properly or complete on time contracts of a similar nature, 
or an offer from a Vendor whom investigation shows is not in a position to perform the contract. 
 

1.6 VENDOR:  
Whenever the term "vendor" is used it shall encompass the "person," "business," "firm," or other party 
submitting a proposal to Effingham County in such capacity before a contract has been entered into 
between such party and the County. At times throughout this request for proposal the term “vendor” may 
be used interchangeably with the terms “contractor”, “proposer” and “bidder”. 
 
 

153

Item XII. 7.

http://www.effinghamcounty.org/


RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

5 
 

1.7 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS:  
The Vendor shall obtain and maintain all licenses, permits, liability insurance, workman's compensation 
insurance and comply with any and all other standards or regulations required by Federal, State or County 
statute, ordinances and rules during the performance of any contract between the Vendor and the County. 
Any such requirement specifically set forth in any contract document between the Vendor and the County 
shall be supplementary to this section and not in substitution thereof. 

 
1.8 COUNTY:  

Whenever the term "County" or "Owner" is used it is to refer to the Effingham County Board of 
Commissioners. 

 

1.9 DEBARRED FIRMS AND PENDING LITIGATION:  
Any potential Vendor/firm listed on the Federal or State of Georgia Parties Listing (barred from doing 

business) will not be considered for contract award. Vendors shall disclose any record of pending 

criminal violations (indictment) and/or convictions, pending lawsuits, etc., and any actions that may be a 

conflict of interest occurring within the past five (5) years.  

 

Proposals will not be accepted from any company, firm, person, party or parent subsidiary, against which 

Effingham County has an outstanding claim, or financial dispute relating to prior contract performance. If 

the County, at any time, discovers such a dispute during any point of evaluation, the proposal will not be 

considered further. Any Vendor/firm previously defaulting or terminating a contract with the County will 

not be considered 
 

Vendor acknowledges that in performing contract work for the County, Vendor shall not utilize any firms 
that have been a party to any of the above actions. If Vendor has engaged any firm to work on this contract 
or project that is later debarred, Vendor shall sever its relationship with the firm with respect to County 
contract. 
 
** All Vendors are to read and complete the Vendors certification regarding debarment, suspension, 
ineligibility, and voluntary exclusion enclosed as Disclosure of Responsibility - Attachment E to be 
returned with response. Failure to do so may result in your proposal being rejected as non-responsive. 

 
1.10 IMMIGRATION: 

On 1 July 2009, the Georgia Security and Immigration Compliance Act (SB 529, Section 2) became 
effective. All employers, contractors and subcontractors entering into a contract or performing work must 
sign an affidavit that he/she has used the E-Verify System. E-Verify is a no-cost federal employment 
verification system to insure employment eligibility. Affidavits are enclosed in this solicitation.  You 
may download M-274 Handbook for Employers at 
http://www.dol.state.ga.us/spotlight/employment/rules.  You may go to http://www.uscis.gov to find the 
E-Verify information. 
 
** All Vendors are to read and complete the E-Verify affidavit enclosed as Attachment E to be returned 
with response. Failure to do so may result in your solicitation response being rejected as non-responsive. 
 

1.11 PRISON RAPE ELMINATION ACT (PREA): 
On 4 September 2003, the Prison Rape Elimination Act was signed into law. By completing the 
Attachment G, contractor certifies that he/she will comply with the national standards to prevent, detect, 
and respond to prison rape under the Prison Rape Elimination Act (PREA), Federal Rule 28 C.F.R. Part 
115. The contractor also certifies that he/she will comply with all Effingham County policies and 
procedures that relate to PREA.  Contractor certifies that he/she will be responsible for the completion of 
Attachment G by any and all sub-contractors he/she employs to complete the project.  
 

1.12 PROTECTION OF RESIDENT WORKERS:  
Effingham County Board of Commissioners actively supports the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA) 
which includes provisions addressing employment eligibility, employment verification, and 
nondiscrimination. Under the INA, employers may hire only persons who may legally work in the United 

154

Item XII. 7.

http://www.dol.state.ga.us/spotlight/employment/rules
http://www.uscis.gov/


RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

6 
 

States (i.e., citizens and nationals of the U.S.) and aliens authorized to work in the U.S. The employer 
must verify the identity and employment eligibility of anyone to be hired, which includes completing the 
Employment Eligibility Verification Form (I-9). The contractor shall establish appropriate procedures 
and controls so no services or products under the Contract Documents will be performed or manufactured 
by any worker who is not legally eligible to perform such services or employment. 

 
1.13 RFP SCHEDULE: 

 

Request for Proposal Date/ Time 

Owner issues public advertisement of RFP March 1
st
, 2016 

Pre-Proposal Conference (if scheduled) 
March 17

th
, 2016 at 

10.00am local time 

Deadline for submission of written questions 
March 22

nd
, 2016 at 

10.00am local time 

Addendum issued to answer questions (if any) and posted online at 

www.effinghamcounty.org 

March 28
th
, 2016 

before 5.00pm (local 

time) 

Deadline for submission of Proposals 
April 5

th
, 2016 at 

10.00am (local time) 

SECTION II 
GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 
2.1 SPECIFICATIONS:  

     Any obvious error or omission in the specifications shall not inure to the benefit of the Vendor but shall 

put the Vendor on notice to inquire of or identify the same to the County. 
 
2.2 GEORGIA OPEN RECORDS ACT:  

The responses will become part of the County's official files without any obligation on the County's part. 

Ownership of all data, materials, and documentation prepared for and submitted to Effingham County in 

response to a solicitation, regardless of type, shall belong exclusively to Effingham County and will be 

considered a record prepared, maintained or received in the course of operations of public office or agency 

and is subject to public inspection in accordance with the Georgia Open Records Act. Official Code of 

Georgia Annotated, Section 50-18-070, et.Seq. unless otherwise provided by law. The Georgia Open 

Records Act is applicable to the records of all contractors and subcontractors under contract with the 

County. This applies to those specific contracts currently in effect and those which have been completed 

or closed up to three (3) years following completion.  
 

2.3 GEORGIA TRADE SECRET ACT OF 1990: 
In the event that a Vendor submits secret information to the County, the information must be clearly 

labeled as a "Trade Secret". The County will maintain the confidentiality of such trade secrets to the extent 

provided by law. 
 
2.4 OFFERS TO BE FIRM:  

The Vendor warrants that terms and conditions quoted in his offer will be firm for acceptance for a period 

of ninety (90) days from the date of proposal submittal. Fees quoted must also be firm for a ninety (90) day 

period. 
 
2.5 COMPLETENESS:  

All information required by the request for proposal must be completed and submitted to constitute a 

proper proposal. The County shall have sole discretion in evaluating qualifications and responses of 

155

Item XII. 7.

http://www.effinghamcounty.org/


RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

7 
 

Vendors. Vendor acknowledges that in performing a contract for the Board, Vendor shall not utilize any 

firms that have been a party to any of the actions listed in paragraph 1.9. If Vendor has engaged any firm to 

work on this contract or project that is later debarred, Vendor shall sever its relationship with that firm 

with respect to the Board’s contract. 

 
2.6 MULTIPLE PROPOSALS:  

No Vendor will be allowed to submit more than one offer. Any alternate proposals must be brought to the 

Purchasing Agent's attention during the Pre-proposal Conference if one is scheduled, or submitted in 

writing at least five (5) days preceding the date for submission of proposals. 

 
2.7 PATENT IDEMNITY:  

Except as otherwise provided, the successful Vendor agrees to indemnify Effingham County and its 

officers, agents and employees against liability. 

 
2.8 QUALIFICATION OF BUSINESS (RESPONSIBLE VENDOR):  

A responsible Vendor is defined as one who meets all requirements of the RFP. Effingham County has the 

right to require any or all Vendors to submit documentation of their ability to perform, provide or carry out 

the service as requested herein and to disqualify the proposal of any Vendor as being unresponsive or 

un-responsible whenever such Vendor cannot. 
 
2.9 CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT PRICE DETERMINATION:  

By submission of this proposal, the Vendor certifies, and in the case of a joint proposal each party thereto 

as to its own organization, that in connection with this procurement: 
A. The prices in this proposal have been arrived at independently, without consultation, 

communication, or agreement, for the purpose of restricting competition, as to any matter 

relating to such prices with any other Vendor or with any competitor; 
B. Unless otherwise required by law, the prices which have been quoted in this proposal have not 

been knowingly disclosed by the Vendor and will not knowingly be disclosed by the Vendor 

prior to opening, directly or indirectly to any other competitor; and; 
C. No attempt has been made or will be made by the Vendor to induce any other person or firm to 

submit or not to submit a proposal for the purpose or restricting competition. 
 
2.10 AWARD OF CONTRACT:  

The contract, if awarded, will be awarded to the responsible Vendor whose proposal will be most 

advantageous to Effingham County, price and other factors considered. The Board of Commissioners 

will make the determination as to which proposal best serves the interests of Effingham County.  

Appeal of an award can only be made after the Board of Commissioners award a contract. 

 
2.11 TERM OF THE CONTRACT:  

The initial term of the contract will be for three (3) years with the option to automatically renew for two 

(2) additional one (1) year terms. 
A. Unless otherwise directed by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners. 
B. Unless budgeted funds are not appropriated for said term. 

 
2.12 INSURANCE PROVISIONS:  

The selected Vendor shall be required to procure and maintain for the duration of the contract insurance 

against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with 

the performance of the work hereunder by the Vendor, his agents, representatives, employees or 

subcontractors. The cost of such insurance shall be included in the Vendor's fee proposal. Contract work 

will not proceed unless Effingham County has in their possession, a current Certificate of 

Insurance. Effingham County invokes the defense of sovereign immunity. The County is not to be 

included as an additional insured on insurance contracts. 

156

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

8 
 

A. General Information that shall appear on a Certificate of Insurance: 
a. Name of Producer (contractor's insurance Broker/Agent). 
b. Companies affording coverage (there may be several). 
c. Name and address of the Insured (this should be the Company or Parent of the firm Effingham 

County is contracting with). 
d. A Summary of all current insurance for the insured (includes effective dates of coverage). 
e. A brief description of the operations to be performed, the specific job to be performed, or contract 

number. 
f. Certificate Holder (This is to always include Effingham County). 

 
2.13 LIMITS OF INSURANCE:  

Effective coverage shall have the following limits:  
A. Commercial General Liability: Provides protection against bodily injury and property 

damage claims arising from operations of a contractor or tenant. Minimum limits: 

$1,000,000 bodily injury and property damage per occurrence and annual aggregate. 

B. Worker's Compensation and Employer’s Liability: Provides statutory protection against 

bodily injury, sickness or disease sustained by employees of the contractor while performing 

within the scope of duties. Minimum limits: $500,000 for each accident, disease policy limit, 

and disease each employee and Statutory Worker’s Compensation limit. 

C. Business Automobile Liability: Coverage insures against liability claims arising out of the 

contractor’s use of automobiles. Minimum limit: $1,000,000 combined single limit per 

accident for bodily injury, property damage, and should be written on an “Any Auto” basis. 

 

2.14 SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS: 

A. Claims-Made Coverage: The limits of liability shall remain the same as the occurrence basis, 
however, the Retroactive date shall be prior to or coincident with the date of any contract, and 
the Certificate of Insurance shall state the retroactive date and the coverage is claims-made.  

B. Extended Reporting Periods: The contractor shall provide the County with a notice of the 
election to initiate any Supplemental Extended Reporting Period and the reason(s) for 
invoking this option. 

C. Reporting Provisions: Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies shall 
not affect coverage provided in relation to this invitation. 

D. Cancellation/Non-Renewal Notification: Each insurance policy supplied in response to this 
invitation shall be endorsed to state that it shall not be suspended, voided, or canceled, except 
after thirty (30) days prior to written notice by certified mail, return receipt, has been given to 
the County. 

E. Proof of Insurance: Effingham County shall be furnished with certificates of insurance and 
original endorsements affecting coverage required by this invitation. The certificates and 
endorsements are to be signed by a person authorized by the insurer to bind coverage on its 
behalf. All certificates of insurance are to be submitted prior to, and approved by, the County 
before services are rendered. The Vendor must ensure Certificates of Insurance are updated for 
the entire term of the Contract. 

F. Insurer Acceptability: Insurance is to be placed with an insurer having an A.M. Best's rating 
of A and a five (5)year average financial rating of not less than V. If an insurer does not qualify 
for averaging on a five year basis, the current total Best's rating will be used to evaluate insurer 
acceptability. 

G. Lapse in Coverage: A lapse in coverage shall constitute grounds for contract termination by 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners. 

H. Deductible and Self-Insured Retention: Any deductibles or self-insured retention must be 
declared to, and approved by, the County. At the option of the County, either: the insurer shall 
reduce or eliminate such deductibles or self-insured retention as related to the County, its 
officials, officers, employees, and volunteers; or the Vendor shall procure a bond guaranteeing 
payment of related suits, losses, claims and related investigation, claim administration and 
defense expenses. 

157

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

9 
 

 
2.15 INDEMNIFICATION:  

The CONTRACTOR agrees to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Effingham County, 
Georgia, its commissioners, officers, agents, and employees from and against any and all liability, 
damages, claims, suits, liens, and judgments, of whatever nature, including claims for contribution and/or 
indemnification, for injuries to or death of any person or persons, or damage to the property or other rights 
of any person or persons caused by the CONTRACTOR or its subcontractors. The CONTRACTOR'S 
obligation to protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless, as set forth herein above shall include, but 
not be limited to, any matter arising out of any actual or alleged infringement of any patent, trademark, 
copyright, or service mark, or any actual or alleged unfair competition, disparagement of product or 
service, or other business tort of any type whatsoever, or any actual or alleged violation of trade 
regulations. CONTRACTOR further agrees to investigate, handle, respond to, provide defense for, and to 
protect, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Effingham County, Georgia, at his sole expense, and 
agrees to bear all other costs and expenses related thereto, even if such claims, suits, etc., are groundless, 
false, or fraudulent, including any and all claims or liability for compensation under the Worker's 
Compensation Act arising out of injuries sustained by any employee of the CONTRACTOR or his 
subcontractors or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them. The CONTRACTOR'S 
obligation to indemnify Effingham County under this Section shall not be limited in any way by the 
agreed-upon contract price, or to the scope and amount of coverage provided by any insurance maintained 
by the CONTRACTOR. 
 

2.16 INTERPRETING SPECIFICATION:  
The specifications or scope of services contained herein are intended to be descriptive rather than 
restrictive.  The County is soliciting a proposal to provide a complete product or service package which 
meets all requirements.  Changes in the scope of services, specifications, or terms and conditions if the 
RFP will be made in writing by the County prior to the proposal opening or due date.  Results of informal 
meetings between a potential Vendor and a County official or employee may not be used as a basis for 
deviations from the requirements contained in this solicitation. 
 

2.17 SIGNED RESPONSE CONSIDERED AN OFFER:  
The signed Response shall be considered an offer on the part of the Vendor, which offer shall be deemed 
accepted upon approval by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners, or their designee. In case of a 
default on the part of the Vendor after such acceptance, Effingham County may take such action as it 
deems appropriate, including legal action for damages or lack of required performance. 
 

2.18 PAYMENT TO CONTRACTORS:  
A. Questions regarding payment may be directed to the Effingham County Finance Department, at 

(912) 754-8057.  
B. Effingham County is a tax exempt entity. Every contractor, vendor, business or person under 

contract with Effingham County is required by Georgia law to pay State sales or use taxes for 
products purchased in Georgia or transported into Georgia and sold to Effingham County by 
contract. Please consult the State of Georgia, Department of Revenue, Sales and Use Tax Unit 
in Atlanta (404) 656-4065 for additional information. 
 

2.19 VENDOR DEFAULT:  
In case of Vendor default, the County will provide a letter of official notice of non-performance.  If the 
issue(s) are not remedied 30 days from receipt of said notice, the County reserves the right to procure 
services from other sources. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

158

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

10 
 

 
 
The undersigned Vendor certifies that he/she has carefully read the preceding list of instructions and all other 
data applicable hereto and made a part of this invitation; and, further certifies that the prices shown in his/her 
proposal are in accordance with all documents contained in this request for proposal package, and that any 
exception taken thereto may disqualify his/her proposal. 
 
This is to certify that I, the undersigned Vendor, have read the instructions to Vendor and agree to be bound by 
the provisions of the same. 
 

 

This _______day of_____________________________20 _________ . 

 

 

BY: _________________________________________________  

SIGNATURE 

 

 

__________________________________________________ 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE 

 

 

__________________________________________________  

    COMPANY 

 

 

__________________________________________________  

 ADDRESS 

 

 

 __________________________________________________ 

 

 

__________________________________________________  

 PHONE NO. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

159

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

11 
 

SECTION III 
 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

 

3.1 DESCRIPTION AND OBJECTIVES  
Effingham County Prison, operating under the authority of the Effingham County Board of 
Commissioners is seeking sealed proposals from qualified vendors who specialize in providing inmate 
commissary services. 
 

3.2 ACCEPTANCE AND EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS:  
A selection committee shall evaluate all proposals submitted to the RFP.  All technical requirements, 
unless otherwise specified, must be met by the Vendor or such proposal will be disqualified as being 
non-responsive. Proposals that are deemed to be incomplete as to substance and content may be returned 
without further consideration. 
 

3.3 PRICING PROPOSAL:  
Provide a completed Pricing Proposal Form (Attachment A).  
 

3.4 PROPOSAL DEADLINE:  
The response to the request for proposal must be received by the Effingham County Purchasing Office no 
later than 10.00am (local time) Tuesday April 5

th
, 2016. Any proposal received after the time and date 

stipulated will be rejected and returned to the Vendor. The County may, for good and sufficient reason, 
extend the response deadline, in which case all potential Vendors will receive an addendum setting forth 
the new date. 

 
3.5 WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL:  

Effingham County Board of Commissioners reserves the right to withdraw the RFP in whole or in part, at 
any time and for any reason. Submission of a proposal confers no rights upon the vendor nor obligates the 
Board of Commissioners in any manner. Effingham County Board of Commissioners reserves the right to 
award no agreement and to solicit additional offers at a later date. 
 
 Vendor proposal may be withdrawn by written REQUEST received by the County before the time fixed 
for receipt of proposals 

 
3.6 CONFIDENTIALITY OF DOCUMENTS:  

Upon receipt of a proposal by the County the proposal shall become the property of the County without 

compensation to the Vendor, for disposition or usage by the County at its discretion. Due to the fact that 

the proposals will be subject to an evaluation review for accurate qualifications, only the respondent 

names who submit proposals to this RFP and the total bid price will be read aloud publicly. The details 

and particulars of the proposal documents will remain confidential until final award of the contract. 
 

3.7 FORMAT OF RESPONSES:  
To be considered, Vendors must submit a complete response to the request for proposals. Proposals are to 

be submitted in 8½” x 11” size, typed or printed in ink and bound with a simple method of fastening. 

Lengthy narratives are discouraged; presentations should be brief and concise and not include extraneous 

or unnecessarily elaborate promotional material. The proposal should not exceed 50 pages in length, 

excluding appendices, if any; vendor policies and procedures (see 5.1 item f); vendor maintenance and 

quality assurance programs (see 5.1 item f).  To assure a uniform review process and obtain the 

maximum degree of comparability, each proposal shall include the following content and shall be 

presented in the following order: 
 

A. Letter of Interest 

The Letter of Interest shall be limited to three (3) single-spaced typewritten pages. The purpose of 
the Letter of Interest is to provide a description of the Vendor’s ability to meet the requirements of 
the RFP. 

160

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

12 
 

 
B. Business/Firm Profile 

State the full name, address, and telephone number of your organization and include the name, 
title, address, and telephone number of the person(s) who will be assigned to perform the service 
of the proposal. Indicate whether you operate as a sole proprietorship, individual, partnership, 
corporation or limited liability company, and the State in which your firm is incorporated or 
licensed to operate. 
 

C. Experience and Capability 
     List of current or former clients with requirements similar in scope and content to the proposed 

contract. Effingham County reserves the right to verify the information furnished. 
A. For each similar and completed project of this type, give the following  information: 

 The Name and Location of Facility 
 A Brief Description of the Services Provided 
 The Name of the Client Contact and his/her phone number 
 Date that services were provided and completed 

B. State if your firm has operated under a different name within the past 10 years and 
provide the name that your firm previously operated under. 

C. Provide complete details of any contract, during the last five (5) years, in which your 
firm has been fired. 
 

 D. Current Audited or Compilation Financial Statements  

Current audited or compilation financial statements, or two (most recent) years of reviewed 
financial statements from a Certified Public Accounting firm. 
 

 E. Appendices     

Include any additional information you deem essential to a proper evaluation of your proposal not     
included in the preceding section. These Appendices should be relevant and brief. 

  
Each proposal must be submitted in one (1) original and six (6) copies bound to: 

Effingham County Purchasing Department 
Fiona Charleton, Purchasing Agent 

601 N Laurel Street 
Springfield, GA  31329 

 

3.8 COST TO PREPARE RESPONSES: 
The County assumes no responsibility or obligation to the Vendors and will make no payment for any 

costs associated with the preparation or submission of the proposal. 
 

3.9 EVALUATION PROCESS: 
A selection committee shall evaluate all proposals submitted to this RFP.  The award will be based on 

general criteria, as outlined in this RFP.  After an initial screening process, the Vendor may be asked to 

make an oral presentation of its proposal.  All arrangements and scheduling shall be coordinated by the 

RFP contact. 

 

Selection Criteria 
The following criteria will be used, as a minimum, to determine the responsibility of each Vendor: 

A. Does the Vendor demonstrate an understanding of the County's needs and proposed approach to 

the project, and possess the ability, capacity, skill, and financial resources to provide the service? 
B. Can the Vendor take upon himself the responsibilities set forth in the RFP and the resultant 

contract and produce the required outcomes in a timely manner? 
C. Has the Vendor performed satisfactorily in previous contracts of similar size and scope; or if the 

Vendor has not performed a contract of similar size and scope, has it, and/or it's team members 

161

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

13 
 

otherwise demonstrated its capability to perform the contract that the County seeks to establish 
through this RFP? 

D. Does the Vendor propose to perform the work at a fair and reasonable cost? 
E. Has the Vendor declared bankruptcy within the past 10 years under its current name or any prior 

names? 
 
 

Evaluating Factor: Points Possible: 

Qualifications, Experience, and References: 25 

Methodology, Approach to Scope of Work, Schedule for Implementation 25 

Price Proposal 35 

Financial Stability 15 

TOTAL POINTS: 100 

 
 

SECTION IV 
 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS 
 

4.1 STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE:  

All Vendors must provide a statement of disclosure which will allow the County to evaluate possible 

conflicts of interest. 

 

Interests of Public Officials. 

The vendor warrants for itself and any subcontractor that no elected or appointed official or employee of 

Effingham County, Georgia, has any interest in their bid or the proceeds of any contract/agreement which 

may result thereof.  In the event that an elected or appointed official or employee acquires any interest in 

any contract/agreement which may result from this bid, or the proceeds thereof, the vendor agrees to 

disclose such interest to the BOARD immediately by written notice.  For breach or violation of this 

clause, the BOARD may annul any contract/agreement resulting from this bid without liability, terminate 

any contract/agreement resulting from this bid for default, or take other remedial measures.  “Interest” as 

used herein means direct or indirect pecuniary or material benefit accruing to a county commissioner, 

official or employee as a result of a matter which is or which is expected to become the subject of an 

official action by or with the county, except for such actions which, by their terms and by the substance of 

their provisions, confer the opportunity and right to realize the accrual of similar benefits to all other 

persons and/or property similarly situated.  The term “interest” shall not include any remote interest.  

For purposes of this bid, a county commissioner, official or employee shall be deemed to have an interest 

in the affairs of: (1) his or her family; (2) any business entity in which the county commissioner, official or 

employee is a member, officer, director, employee, or prospective employee; and (3) any business entity 

as to which the stock, legal ownership, or beneficial ownership of a county commissioner, official or 

employee is in excess of five percent of the total stock or total legal and beneficial ownership, or which is 

controlled or owned directly or indirectly by the county commissioner, official or employee.  Remote 

interest as used herein means the interest of (1) a volunteer director, officer, or employee of a nonprofit 

corporation; (2) a holder of less than 5 percent of the legal or beneficial ownership of the total shares of a 

business; (3) any person in a representative capacity, such as a receiver, trustee, or administrator.  Family 

as used herein means the spouse, parents, children, and siblings, related by blood, marriage, or adoption, 

of a county official or employee. 

 

 

162

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

14 
 

4.2 CONTRACT:  

The successful contractor will be expected to provide an executed contract for approval by the Board. 

Upon receipt of the fully executed contract, the contractor shall be bound to deliver the stated services 

according to the terms and conditions of the contract and any addendums thereto. The County shall also 

be bound on the said terms and conditions to procure the services described and remit payment to the 

contractor when said services are completed. The successful contractor shall not commence work under 

this Request for Proposal until a written contract is awarded. If the successful contractor does commence 

any work or deliver items prior to receiving official notification, he does so at his own risk. 

 

4.3 PERFORMANCE AND APPROVAL OF SUB-CONSULTANTS:  

The Vendor will perform the work as an independent contractor and not as an agent or employee of the 

County, and will secure written permission from Effingham County before subcontracting any part of this 

service.  

 

4.4 CHANGES:  

In the event a contract is awarded, the County may, with prior Board approval, make changes at any time 

during the contract period within the general scope of the contract and its technical provisions. If any such 

change causes any increase or decrease in the Vendor’s cost of performing any part of the contract, an 

equitable adjustment shall be made in the contract prices, or in the time of performance, or in both. A 

written memorandum of such adjustment shall be made prior to any changes in contract pricing schedules. 

 

4.5 TERMINATION OF CONTRACT:  

Effingham County shall have the right to terminate any contract to be made hereunder for its convenience 

by giving written notice 30 days in advance of its election to do so and by specifying the effective date of 

such termination. The Vendor shall be paid for services rendered through the effective date of such 

termination. Further, provided a contract is awarded, if a Vendor shall fail to fulfill any of its obligations 

hereunder, the County may, by giving written notice to the Vendor, terminate the agreement with said 

Vendor for such default. If this agreement is so terminated, the Vendor shall be paid only for work 

satisfactorily completed.  

 

SECTION V 

  

SCOPE AND CLASSIFICATION 

 
5.1 SCOPE OF WORK:  

The proposed system shall be a turnkey solution for inmate commissary services that is compliant with all 
requirements of Federal and Georgia State Law. 
 
Turnkey installation to be completed in forty-five (45) days or less from receipt of fully executed contract.  

If  Vendor is unable to complete the work within forty-five (45) days, Effingham County reserves the 

right to select a different vendor. Vendor shall be responsible for all costs associated with the inmate 

commissary system including but not limited to: purchase of equipment, installation - including, but not 

limited to all electrical and any other wiring necessary for the operation of their computer systems, 

service, maintenance and day- to-day operation.  Neither the Effingham County Board of 

Commissioners nor the Effingham County Prison shall have any responsibility for any costs associated 

with the system. 

 

Vendor will describe in detail any alterations to the building that are necessary to facilitate the start-up of 

their services.  Vendor will notify the County in advance of any future alterations necessary for the 

continued operation of their services.  No alterations will be made without written approval of the 

County. Vendor will be responsible for the cost of any changes that need to be made in order to comply 

with all current and future federal and state inmate commissary regulations    

163

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

15 
 

 

Vendor is responsible for determining all wiring and software requirements and costs associated with the 

conversion of service from current inmate commissary providers to the successful new service provider.  

Successful proposer shall coordinate all details of switching out services with the current vendor, the 

County I.T. Director and the County Purchasing Agent. 
 

a. Hardware and Software:   
Vendor to supply one (1) kiosk per dorm, for three (3) dorms., and one (1) kiosk in the visitation 

room. Effingham County reserves the right to add to or remove from the locations services at any 

time and shall do so without any penalties or fees. 

Kiosks will be installed in a way to avoid injury to inmates, example: no pieces easily broken, 

tamperproof, etc. 

All vendor equipment shall comply with all GA State and FCC regulations. 

The proposed equipment and system shall be scalable to meet the County’s growing needs. 

Vendor will grant the Effingham County Prison / Effingham County Board of Commissioners the 

necessary licenses to operate the hardware at no additional cost to the County.   

Vendor will be responsible for keeping the hardware and software updated with complete 

information as to commissary items available, pricing, and other terms and conditions of sales.   

Software should maintain inmate ledgers with funds placed on the inmates accounts and funds 

used. The system should incorporate internal controls and financial reporting and reconciliation 

features. Software should allow for placement of funds and recording of funds on the inmate 

account.   

 

b. Deposit Services:   
The vendor will facilitate family deposits to inmate accounts via website and IVR with a toll free 

phone number.  The vendor will guarantee that family deposits to inmate accounts are deposited 

to the appropriate Effingham County Inmate Account on a nightly basis by Electronic Funds 

Transfer from the vendor to the County’s designated account. Vendor software should allow for 

placement of funds and recording of funds on the inmate account through its system. 

 

c. Menu:   
Product selection and pricing will be agreed upon by Effingham County and the vendor.  Menu 

selections will be reviewed as needed but no less than annually.  All changes must be approved by 

the County.  Price adjustments may be made annually on the contract anniversary date but must 

be reviewed and approved by Effingham County in advance of the price change. Submit sample 

menu(s) with proposal. 

 

d. Commissary Service Operations:   
On a weekly basis as agreed upon by the vendor and Effingham County, the vendor will download 

all inmate orders for commissary items and deliver these items to the Prison.  The vendor will 

bag, box, and ship the commissary items to the Effingham County Prison. The Prison will be 

responsible for the distribution of commissary orders to the appropriate inmate when the vendor 

delivers the orders to the facility. 

 

e. Service Fee / Commission:  
Effingham County will be paid a service fee for engaging the vendor to be the sole provider of 

Inmate Commissary Services.  The amount of this fee will be calculated as a percent of Adjusted 

Gross Sales and will be listed on the RFP Price Proposal Sheet provided in this RFP.  Adjusted 

Gross Sales is defined as Gross Sales less the sales of noncommissioned items as reviewed and 

agreed upon by the County from the Price Proposal Sheet submitted with the proposal. 

 

 

 

164

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

16 
 

f. Customer Service:  
Vendor to provide 24/7 customer service support via toll-free telephone number. Vendor to 

disclose any associated cost with this service on the Vendor’s Price Proposal Form. 

Vendor to provide service policies and procedures as an attachment to this proposal. 

Vendors are to describe the maintenance and quality assurance programs for equipment to be 

installed as an attachment to this proposal. 

Detail the method of determining when the system is down. Vendor shall be able to respond to all 

major problems within the same day. If response time will be longer than one day vendor to 

explain why in proposal. 

Vendor to provide a contact person who will be responsible for ongoing support. 

Vendors to handle all customer complaints directly. Effingham County will not be involved in 

customer complaints. Describe in detail customer service processes for complaints. 

 

g. Other Considerations:   
Each vendor may have their own special requirements that enable them to provide outstanding 

commissary services.  Therefore, the vendor should outline these items in their proposal so that 

Effingham County will be able to negotiate, if necessary, these considerations. 
 

h. Additional Information: 
Kiosks currently on-site: 2. 

Kiosks location: Dorm A (1) and Dorm B (1). 

Current vendor: S.A.C.S – Smith’s Automated Commissary Services. 

Kiosks Owner: S.A.C.S – Smith’s Automated Commissary Services. 

Average daily inmate count from 01-01-15 to 01-01-16: 180. 

Current commission rate: 20% on all categories (excluding postage). 

Average orders per month for the last 12 months: 246. 

Current spending limit per order: $60.00. 

See Attachment J for current commissary menu.  

 

ALL ITEMS LISTED IN THE SCOPE OF WORK MUST 

BE COMPLIANT WITH FEDERAL AND GEORGIA 

STATE LAW AND MUST REMAIN COMPLIANT WITH 

FEDERAL AND GEORGIA STATE LAW FOR THE 

DURATION OF THE CONTRACT 

 

 

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

165

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

17 
 

 

 

ATTACHMENT A 

PRICE PROPOSAL (PAGE 1) 
 

 
 

COMPANY NAME: ____________________________________________________________ 

 

The vendor offers to pay Effingham County Board of Commissioners, Georgia a Service Fee as defined in the 

RFP in the amount of: 

  

      _________ percent of Adjusted Gross Sales. 

 

Adjusted Gross Sales is calculated as Gross Sales less the Sales of Noncommissioned Items:  The following is 

a list of items the vendor considers to be Noncommissioned Items: 

 

 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 ________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
 

 

The vendor’s proposed percentage will not be decreased during the full 

term of the contract without expressed written authorization of Effingham 

County Board of Commissioners. 
 

 

 

 

 

 
PLACE THIS FORM ON TOP OF PROPOSAL 

166

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

18 
 

ATTACHMENT A 

PRICE PROPOSAL (PAGE 2) 

 

 

If Vendor offers incentive, please list here: 

 

INCENTIVE OFFERED : 

 
$ 

 
Proposing Company Contact Information: 

 

Company Name: 

 

Billing Address: 

 

Telephone: 

Service Address: 

 

Telephone: 

Representative Name: 

 

Representative Contact 

Address: 

 

Telephone: 

E-Mail: 

 

It is agreed by the undersigned offeror that the signature and submission of this proposal represents the 

vendor's acceptance of all terms, conditions and requirements of specifications and, if awarded, the 

proposal will become part of the contract agreement between the parties. 

 

 

 
Signed:  (sign manually, in ink)   

(Signature of Authorized Representative of the Company) 

 

 

 

Name Printed:  Title:  Date:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

167

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

19 
 

 

EXCEPTION SHEET 

 

 

If Commodity(s) and/or Service proposed in quote is in ANYWAY different from that contained in this 

proposal, the Bidder is responsible for clearly identifying all such differences in the space below.  Otherwise, 

it will be assumed that the Bidder’s offer is in total compliance with all aspects of the proposal. 

Below are the only differences between my offer and the County’s proposal: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

______________________________     ______________________________     
Signature                                                   Date 

 

 

 

 

168

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

20 
 

ATTACHMENT B 

DRUG FREE WORKPLACE CERTIFICATION 

 

The undersigned certifies that the provisions of Code Sections 50-24-1 through 50-24-6 of the Official Code to 

Georgia Annotated, related to the Drug Free Workplace have been complied with. 

 

1.  A drug-free workplace will be provided for the employees during the performance of the contract;   

    and; 

2.  Each Subcontractor under the direction of the contractor shall secure the following written certification: 

 

___________________________________ (Contractor) certifies to Effingham County that a drug-free 

workplace will be provided for the employees during the performance of this contract known as RFP No. 

16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison pursuant to paragraph (7) of 

subsection (B) of Code Section 50-24-3.   Also, the undersigned further certifies that he/she will not engage in 

the unlawful manufacture, sale, distribution, dispensation, possession, or use of a controlled substance or 

marijuana during the performance of the contract. 

 

 

 
_________________________________________________ _________________________ 

CONTRACTOR DATE 

 

 

 

 

 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN BEFORE ME ON THIS THE 
 
 

       DAY OF    _____                      , 20____   

 

 

_________________________________________________ 

Notary Public 
 

 

My Commission Expires:                      , 20____   

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

169

Item XII. 7.

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
________________________________________________

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

21 
 

 
ATTACHMENT C 

 
PROMISE OF NON-DISCRIMATION STATEMENT 

 
 

Know all men by these presence, that I (We), _________________, ____________,___________________,                                        

      Name             Title             Name of Vendor 

  

(herein after "Company"),  in consideration of the privilege to Bid/Propose on the following Effingham  

 

County Procurement titled RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County 

Prison hereby consent, covenant, and agree as follows: 
 

A.  No person shall be excluded from participation in, denied the benefit of, or otherwise discriminated 

against on the basis of race, color, national origin or gender in connection with the Proposal submitted 

to Effingham County or the performance of the contract resulting there from; 

B.  That it is and shall be the policy of this Company to provide equal opportunity to all business persons 

seeking to contract with or otherwise interested in the Company, including those companies owned 

and controlled by racial minorities and women; and 

C.  That the promises of non-discrimination as made and set forth herein shall be continuing throughout the 

duration of this contract with Effingham County. 

D.  That the promises of non-discrimination as made and set forth herein shall be and are hereby deemed to 

be made part of and incorporated by reference in the contract which this Company may be awarded. 

E.  That the failure of this Company to satisfactorily discharge any of the promises of non-discrimination 

as made and set forth above may constitute a material breach of contract entitling the County to declare 

the contract in default and to exercise appropriate remedies including but not limited to termination of 

the contract. 

 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________________ _________________________ 

SIGNATURE DATE: 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

170

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

22 
 

 

ATTACHMENT D 

DISCLOSURE OF RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT (page 1) 

 
Failure to complete and return this information will result in your bid/offer/proposal being disqualified from 
further competition as non-responsive. 
 
 

  1. List any convictions of any person, subsidiary, or affiliate of the company, arising out of  

  obtaining, or attempting to obtain a public or private contract or subcontract, or in the  

  performance of such contract or subcontract. 

 

 
2.     List any indictments or convictions of any person, subsidiary, or affiliate of this company for 

offenses such as embezzlement, theft, fraudulent schemes, etc. or any other offenses indicating 
a lack of business integrity or business honesty which affects the responsibility of the 
contractor. 

 
 

3. List any convictions or civil judgments under states or federal antitrust statutes. 

  

 

 4.     List any violations of contract provisions such as knowingly failing (without good cause) 

failing to perform, or unsatisfactory performance, in accordance with the specifications of a 

contract. 
 
 
 5.     List any prior suspensions or debarments by any governmental agency. 

 

 

 6.     List any contracts not completed on time. 

 

 

 7.     List any penalties imposed for time delays and/or quality of materials and workmanship. 

 

 
8.     List any documented violations of federal or any state labor laws, regulations, or         

standards, and any occupational safety and health rules. 
 

 
 

NOTE: The penalty for making false statements in offers is prescribed in 18 U.S.C. 1001 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

171

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

23 
 

DISCLOSURE OF RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT (page 2) 

 
 

 

I, _________________________________ , as________________________________________ 

Name of individual Title & Authority 

 

of ______________________________________ , declare under oath that the above statements, 

   Company Name  

 

 

including any supplemental responses attached hereto, are true. 

 

 

_____________________________________________ 

Signature 

State of:         _____________________________________________ 

County of :       _____________________________________________ 

 

Subscribed and sworn to before me on this _________________ day of ___________ 2016  

by _________________________________________________ representing him/herself to be 

___________________________________________________  of the company named. 

 

 

 

_______________________________________________ 

Notary Public 
 

 

 

My Commission Expires:                      , 20______ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

172

Item XII. 7.

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
________________________________       ________________________________________

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
______________________________________________

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
_____

fcharleton
Typewritten Text



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

24 
 

ATTACHMENT E 
 

CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT AND AGREEMENT 

By executing this affidavit, the undersigned Contactor verifies its compliance with O.C.GA § 13-10-91, 

stating affirmatively that the individual, firm, or corporation that is contracting with Effingham County has 

registered with and is participating in a federal work authorization program* [any of the electronic verification 

of work authorization programs operated by the United States Department of Homeland Security or any 

equivalent federal work authorization program operated by the United States Department of Homeland 

Security to verify information of newly hired employees, pursuant to the Immigration Reform and Control Act 

of 1986 (IRCA), P.L. 99-603], in accordance with the applicability provisions and deadlines established in 

O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91, and shall agree to use this program for any newly hired employees throughout the 

duration of the contract. 

The undersigned further agrees that, should it employ or contract with any subcontractor(s) in connection with 

the physical performance of services pursuant to this contract with Effingham County, contractor will secure 

from such subcontractor similar verification of compliance with O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91on the subcontractor 

Affidavit provided in Rule 300-10-01-.08 or a substantially similar form. The contractor further agrees to 

provide notice to the County of the identity of each subcontractor hired under the contract within five (5) 

business days of entering into a contract for hire. Such notice shall include a copy of the Subcontractor 

Affidavit for each subsequent subcontractor attesting to the subcontractor’s name, address, user identification 

number, and date of authorization to use the federal work authorization program. Contractor further agrees to 

maintain records of such compliance and provide a copy of each such verification to the Effingham County 

within five (5) days of the time the subcontractor(s) is retained to perform such service. 

 
___________________________________________ 

EEV/ Basic Pilot Program* User Identification Number 

 

___________________________________________   ________________________ 

BY: Authorized Officer or Agent                    Date 

(Contractor Name) 

 

___________________________________________ 

Title of Authorized Officer or Agent of Contractor 

 

___________________________________________ 

Printed Name of Authorized Officer or Agent 

 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN BEFORE ME ON THIS THE 
 

 ____ DAY OF ______________________ 20 

 

___________________________________________ 

Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: ______________ , 20 ___  
 
* As of the effective date of O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91, the applicable federal work authorization program is the 
"EEV/ Basic Pilot Program" operated by the U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services Bureau of the U.S. 
Department of Homeland Security, in conjunction with the Social Security Administration (SSA). 

 

173

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

25 
 

ATTACHMENT F 
 

SUBCONTRACTOR  AFFIDAVIT 

By executing this affidavit, the undersigned subcontractor verifies its compliance with O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91, 

stating affirmatively that the individual, firm or corporation that is engaged in the physical performance of 

services under a contract with (name of contractor) on behalf of Effingham County has registered with and is 

participating in a federal work authorization program* [any of the electronic verification of work authorization 

programs operated by the United States Department of Homeland Security or any equivalent federal work 

authorization program operated by the United States Department of Homeland Security to verify information 

of newly hired employees, pursuant to the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 (IRCA), P.L. 99-603], 

in accordance with the applicability provisions and deadlines established in O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91 and will 

agree to use this program for any newly hired employees throughout the duration of the contract. The 

subcontractor further agrees to provide a copy of the executed Subcontractor Affidavit to the contractor in 

order to be provided to the County within five (5) days entering into the contract for hire. 

 

___________________________________________ 

EEV / Basic Pilot Program* User Identification Number 
 

__________________________________________ 

Date of E-Verify Authorization 

 

__________________________________________ 

 

___________________________________________ 

Address 

 

___________________________________________   ________________________ 

BY: Authorized Officer or Agent                    Date 

(Subcontractor Name) 

 

___________________________________________ 

Title of Authorized Officer or Agent of Subcontractor 
 
___________________________________________ 
Printed Name of Authorized Officer or Agent 
 
 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN BEFORE ME ON THIS THE 
 
 

       DAY OF    _____                      , 20____   
 

 

_________________________________________________ 

Notary Public 
 

 

My Commission Expires:                      , 20____   
 
* As of the effective date of O.C.G.A. 13-10-91, the applicable federal work authorization program is the 
"EEV/ Basic Pilot Program" operated by the U. S. Citizenship and Immigration Services Bureau of the U.S. 
Department of Homeland Security, in conjunction with the Social Security Administration (SSA). 

174

Item XII. 7.

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
____________________________________________

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
__________________________________________

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
__________________________________________        ______________________________

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
_______________________________________________

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

26 
 

 

ATTACHMENT G 

PRISON RAPE ELMINATION ACT 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT STATEMENT 

 

I understand that the Effingham County Correctional Institute has a zero tolerance policy prohibiting visitors, 

contractors and volunteers from having sexual contact of any nature with offenders.  I agree not to engage in 

sexual contact with any offender while visiting a correctional institution, whether in a visiting capacity, 

contractor capacity, or volunteer capacity.  I agree that if I witness another having sexual contact with an 

offender, or if someone reports such conduct to me, that I will immediately report it to a corrections employee.  

I understand that my authorization to enter a correctional institution is conditioned on my agreement not to 

engage in sexual contact of any nature with any offender and to report such conduct when I learn of it.  I also 

understand that if I violate this agreement I will be permanently banned from entering all Georgia correctional 

institutions, and that the Effingham County correctional institute may pursue criminal prosecution.  I 

understand that if I should learn of an incident involving sexual abuse or sexual harassment of an offender I 

will report it to the supervisor in charge immediately.  

 

 

 
_________________________________________________ _________________________ 

CONTRACTOR DATE 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN BEFORE ME ON THIS THE 
 
 

       DAY OF    _____                      , 20____   
 

 

_________________________________________________ 

Notary Public 
 

 

My Commission Expires:                      , 20____   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

175

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

27 
 

ATTACHMENT  H 
 

NO-BID STATEMENT 

In an effort to make the procurement of construction, goods and services for Effingham County as competitive 

as possible, we are soliciting information from contractors and or vendors who cannot Bid. Your 

"responsiveness" and "constructive" comments will be appreciated. Completion of this form will assist us in 

evaluating factors which relate to the competitiveness of our Proposals. Please check any of the boxes below 

which may apply. 

□ Specifications - Restrictive, too "tight", unclear, specialty item, geared toward one (1) brand or 

manufacturer only. (Explain below) 

□ Manufacturing - Unique item, production time for model or item has expired, etc. 

□ Proposal Time - Insufficient time to properly respond to Proposal or bid. 

□ Delivery Time - Specified delivery time cannot be met. 

□  Payment - Delay in payment terms. Please be specific. 

□  Bonding - We are unable to meet bonding requirements. 

□ Insurance -We are unable to meet insurance requirements.  

□ Removal - From Vendors list for this particular commodity or service. 

□ Keep - Our Company on your Vendors list for future reference. 

□       Project is - Too Large ___ __________  Too Small ___________________    

□       Site Location Too Distant. 

 □ Miscellaneous - Do not wish to Bid, do not handle this type of item (s), unable to compete,  contract 

clause (s) not acceptable, etc. Please be specific. 

CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS: Please provide reason for obtaining a Proposal package. Check one below. 

Interest in this project as a:  

       Prime Contractor __________ 

       Sub-Contractor __________ 

       Supplier __________ 

 

RFP No: RFP No. 16-16-002  Title: Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

Signature: ____________________________  Telephone Number: _____________________  

 Firm Name:    _______________________________  

 

 

 

176

Item XII. 7.



RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

28 
 

ATTACHMENT  I 
 

Legal Notice 

Request for Proposal 

 
RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

 

Effingham County, Georgia is seeking proposals from firms interested in providing Inmate Commissary 

services for Effingham County Prison. 

 

Sealed proposals are due by 10.00am (local time) Tuesday April 5
th

, 2016 and must be mailed or hand 

delivered to the Effingham County Purchasing Office, 601 N. Laurel Street, Springfield, GA 31329. 
 

A copy of this Request for Proposal is available at the address listed above or online at 

www.effinghamcounty.org - Purchasing tab. For additional information please contact, Fiona Charleton at 

(912) 754-2159 or via email: fcharleton@effinghamcounty.org  
 

 

 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY RESERVES THE RIGHT TO REJECT ANY/AND ALL PROPOSALS AND TO 

WAIVE ALL FORMALITIES. "EFFINGHAM COUNTY IS AN EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER, 

M/F/H, ALL VENDORS ARE TO BE EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYERS". 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

177

Item XII. 7.

mailto:fcharleton@effinghamcounty.org


RFQ No. 16-16-002 - Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

178

Item XII. 7.

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT J

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
29



RFQ No. 16-16-002 - Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

179

Item XII. 7.

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT J

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
30



Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

ADDENDUM NO. 1 

 
PROJECT: RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham 

County Prison 

 

CONTACT:  Fiona Charleton, Purchasing Agent 

   912-754-2159 fcharleton@effinghamcounty.org 

        

DATE ISSUED: March 28, 2016  

 

 

RFP No.16-16-002 dated March 2016 is hereby amended as noted herein: BIDDER TO 

ACKNOWLEDGE RECEIPT OF ADDENDUM BY SIGNING ON THE SIGNATURE LINE 

BELOW AND INCLUDING A COPY WITH SUBMITTED BID.  FAILURE TO DO SO MAY, 

AT THE OWNER’S DISCRETION, SUBJECT THE BIDDER TO DISQUALIFICATION 

 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION / SPECIFICATIONS FOR THE RFP: 

 

The county would like to start including “monthly packages” to include (but not limited to) items 

such as tennis shoes, sunglasses, towels, wash cloths etc. 

 

The county would like to include a lot more product – seasonal items etc.  

 

County will have say over product i.e. generic brand as opposed to name brand tennis shoes etc. 

If the product is less expensive, the volume of sales will go up and everyone will benefit. 

 

Fees are a big part of this bid.  The county does not want the inmates to get an inferior product 

due to vendor fees being high.   

 

The county requires 4 (four) kiosks, 1 (one) in each dorm and 1 (one) in the visitation/family 

room. 

 

The inmates need to be able to check their account balances and also communicate with the 

warden via the kiosks. 

 

County would like the product to be delivered by dormitory. 

 

Vendor is 100% responsible for connectivity. 

 

The County will ensure that any sub-contractors working for the successful vendor will be dealt 

with in an expeditious manner. 

 

Please submit documents’ showing how you’re reporting is done; what reports you have; how the 

reports are run; what details the reports show - to what level i.e. the subsidiary legers pertaining 

to the inmates accounts.  We currently create journal entries but would like to transmit the data 

directly so we need to know how the file formats are so that we can pull that in directly. How 

does your system interface? We need to know if there will be an issue with our accounting 

software. 

 

1
180

Item XII. 7.

mailto:fcharleton@effinghamcounty.org


Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Please describe in your proposal how inmates can be restricted from ordering certain items every 

month, such as tennis shoes. 

 

Please describe the security protocols your company have in place to protect the inmates personal 

information. 

 

Please describe how the county accesses information – is there a web based system?  

 

Is there a way that the inmates can be restricted from ordering certain items every month, such as 

tennis shoes? 

 

1) QUESTION: Does the County import from lockdown to their system? 

ANSWER:  Not currently. 

 

2) QUESTION: Does the County want to import from lockdown to their system? 

ANSWER: Yes. 

   

3) QUESTION: Does the county want to import on a weekly basis? 

ANSWER:  A daily basis is preferable. 

 

4) QUESTION: What is your current population? 

ANSWER:  192. 

 

5) QUESTION: Will Dormitory C be included in this bid? Are they considered in the ADP? 

ANSWER:  No and no. 

 

6) QUESTION: Is there a specific reason why the kiosks are not currently connected? 

ANSWER: County pulled data for previous vendor, but there was no power to the kiosks 

where the current vendor had placed them. 

 

7) QUESTION:  Other than the current commissary vendor, are there any other programs 

being offered as far as an inmate package program? 

ANSWER:  Only from inmate families.  The county would like to eliminate that and let 

the commissary provider be the sole provider. 

 

8) QUESTION:  Who is the current food service provider 

ANSWER:  Aramark. 

 

9) QUESTION:  Will the kiosks be the same? 

ANSWER:   Yes. 

 

10) QUESTION: How many current kiosks are there and where are they located?  

ANSWER:   1 (one) in A dorm and 1 (one) in B dorm.  They are mounted on the wall, 

but they are not connected and have never been used. 

 

11) QUESTION: Is a deposit kiosk required?  

ANSWER:   Yes.  A deposit kiosk can be installed inside the entrance lobby of the 

prison, before the metal detectors. 

 

12) QUESTION: What is an acceptable fee for cash deposits made in the deposit kiosk? 

ANSWER:   Vendor to list fees charged. 

 

2
181

Item XII. 7.



Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

13) QUESTION: Will the successful vendor be responsible for emptying the deposit kiosk?  

ANSWER:   Yes. 

 

14) QUESTION: How much money can the families bring into the prison? 

ANSWER:   Currently paper money is contraband.  Coins can be brought in for use in the 

vending machines located in the visitation/family room.  

NOTE: This item has been rectified as the deposit kiosk will be located in the entrance 

lobby, so no paper money needs to be brought past the metal detector. 

 

15) QUESTION: Will there be a fee for depositing funds into the kiosk? 

ANSWER:   Vendor to list fees charged. 

 

16) QUESTION: Do the vending machines in the visitation/family room belong to the current 

vendor? 

ANSWER:   No – they are owned by a local vendor and the contents are supplied at cost.  

The County gets no commission from the vending machines. 

 

17) QUESTION: The 2 (two) current kiosks – do they have power? 

ANSWER:  No. 

 

18) QUESTION: Can vendor use the data lines? 

ANSWER:   The County currently hosts the vendor information on our servers, but is 

requesting a “turn-key” totally supported solution that would not require using county 

server space. The two data lines that are in place now are not terminated and are run from 

the ceiling above the kiosk to the county wire room not to the external wire room. 

 

19) QUESTION: Does the County have a vendor of choice for help with install? 

ANSWER:   No.  The County CANNOT recommend any particular vendor, but can 

supply a list of vendors from their vendor list. 

 

20) QUESTION: Who is the current phone provider?  

ANSWER:   Infinity Networks, Inc. 

 

21) QUESTION: What is the current JMS? 

ANSWER:   Department Of Corrections: Scribe.  

 

22) QUESTION: What was the annual commissary revenue for the past three years broken 

down by month? 

ANSWER:   2013 - $14,506.43; 2014 - $14,852.70; 2015 - $20,419.53 (See 
ATTACHMENT A). 

 

23) QUESTION: Is Current Sales including any phone card sales?  

ANSWER:   Yes– through phone vendor. 
 

24) QUESTION: How many indigent inmates? 

ANSWER:   As of 03.28.16 – 113. 
 

25) QUESTION: Can you please provide the monthly detailed sales summaries, which show 

which items are being sold, for the last 12 months? 

ANSWER: See ATTACHMENT B. 
 

3
182

Item XII. 7.



Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

26) QUESTION: Can we use the prison network or are we expected to install our own 

network? 

ANSWER:  The vendor would be required to install their own network. 

 

27) QUESTION: Could finance please provide a specific list of reports that they are looking 

for? 

ANSWER:   For the reports that accompany the commission check, the county requires 

the following reports (by inmate):  receipts in; purchases made; commission charged to 

inmate; commission given to county; inmate account balance at time of check. 

 

28) QUESTION: In looking at the commission statements provided at the pre-bid meeting is 

the assumption of $102,000 in Commissionable Sales for 2015 accurate? 

ANSWER: Yes. 

 

29) QUESTION: Is the current commissary vendor interfaced with your Jail Management 

System vendor? 

ANSWER:  No they are two separate systems. 

 

30) QUESTION:  Please provide the following: 

a. Jail Management System company name and contact person: 

ANSWER:  SCRIBE – (In House)   Department of Corrections – Tammy 
McGowan. 
 

b. Jail Management System company contact's phone number: 

    ANSWER:  404-987-3955. 
 

c. Jail Management System company contact's email address: 

     ANSWER:  Tammy.McGowan@gdc.ga.gov.  
 

31) QUESTION:  How do inmates purchase phone time? 

ANSWER:  Phone cards or family set up an account through telephone vendor. 
 

32) QUESTION: Would the county be more interested in selling electronic phone time, 

eliminating the need for phone cards 

ANSWER:  Yes. 

 

33) QUESTION: Will the vendor be able to utilize the existing County network and internet 

connection 

ANSWER:  No, the vendor would be required to install their own network and internet 

connection. 

 

34) QUESTION:  Does Aramark currently sell food to inmates through their Fresh Favorites 

program. a.If so what is sold and what are the current sales for December, January, and 

February? b. If so what is the commission rate on these products? 

ANSWER:  No. 

35) QUESTION: Page 15, 5.1 a., asks for one kiosk each for three dorms. With kiosks 

already in Dorm A and Dorm B per page 16 is there wiring and a network connection 

already in place in the 3rd dorm needing a kiosk? 

ANSWER:   Currently there is no electrical outlet for any of the Dorm kiosk. There is no 

network cable pulled to the 3rd dorm.  

 

4
183

Item XII. 7.



Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

36) QUESTION: Is there wiring and a network connection already in place for the visitation 

kiosk? 

ANSWER:  No. 

 

37) QUESTION: Should all vendors include a copy of their Money Transmitter License for 

Georgia in their response to be compliant with the statement at the bottom of page 16? 

ANSWER:   Yes. 

 

38) QUESTION: Page 3, Document Checklist, it states to submit the documentation in the 

following order of shown as REQUIRED. The instructions to bidder’s document is not 

listed as required. Where should that document be included in the response? 

ANSWER:   Please place with the “REQUIRED” documents at the front of your 

proposal. 

 

39) QUESTION: Is the Bid/Quote Submittal form mentioned on Page 3, Document Checklist 

the same thing as Attachment A? 

ANSWER:   Yes. 

 

40) QUESTION: Page 11, 3.7 Format of Responses states the order of proposal content 

including items A.-E. Should this section of the proposal follow all of the items addressed 

in the Document Checklist? 

ANSWER:   Yes.  Please place items listed in the document checklist as “REQUIRED” at 

the front of your proposal. 

 

41) QUESTION: Is section E. Appendices on page 12, 3.7 Format of Response, where 

proposers should include their response to the items outlined in Section 5.1 Scope of 

Work since the Scope of Work is not addressed in sections A-D of the response format? 

ANSWER:   Yes. 

 

42) QUESTION: Our kiosks and software are web based applications.  Would we be able to 

use the prison’s network to connect? 

ANSWER:     No, the vendor would be required to install their own network and internet 

connection.  

 

43) QUESTION: On the inmate kiosks, will you allow inmates to send and receive email 

from family and friends (secure system)? 

ANSWER:   No. 

 

 

INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

5
184

Item XII. 7.



6
185

Item XII. 7.

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
                                                    Addendum No.1RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT A - RESPONSES TO QUESTION 22

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
S.A.C.S.

fcharleton
Typewritten Text



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

7
186

Item XII. 7.

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT B - RESPONSE TO QUESTION 25

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text
       

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text

fcharleton
Typewritten Text



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

8
187

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

9
188

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

10
189

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

11
190

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

12
191

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

13
192

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

14
193

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

15
194

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

16
195

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

17
196

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

18
197

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

19
198

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

20
199

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

21
200

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

22
201

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

23
202

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

24
203

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

25
204

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

26
205

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

27
206

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

28
207

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

29
208

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

30
209

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

31
210

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

32
211

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

33
212

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

34
213

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

35
214

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

36
215

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

37
216

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

38
217

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

39
218

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

40
219

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

41
220

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

42
221

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

43
222

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

44
223

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

45
224

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

46
225

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

47
226

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

48
227

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

49
228

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

50
229

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

51
230

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

52
231

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

53
232

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

54
233

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

55
234

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

56
235

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

57
236

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

58
237

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

59
238

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

60
239

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

61
240

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

62
241

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

63
242

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

64
243

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

65
244

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

66
245

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

67
246

Item XII. 7.



                                               Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison

68
247

Item XII. 7.



69
248

Item XII. 7.



70
249

Item XII. 7.



Addendum No.1 

RFP No. 16-16-002 – Inmate Commissary Services for Effingham County Prison 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

All other terms and conditions in RFP 16-16-002 remain unchanged. 

 

Effingham County reserves the right to reject any and all proposals, to waive any 

technicalities or irregularities and to award the offer based upon the most responsive, 

responsible submission. 
 

 

Please sign receipt of this Addendum No. 1 below: 

 

 

 

 

 

____________________________      ____________________________     _________ 

Print Name                                            Signature                                              Date 

 

 

END OF ADDENDUM NO. 1 

71
250

Item XII. 7.



251

Item XII. 7.



252

Item XII. 7.



253

Item XII. 7.



254

Item XII. 7.



255

Item XII. 7.



256

Item XII. 7.



257

Item XII. 7.



258

Item XII. 7.



259

Item XII. 7.



260

Item XII. 7.



Amendment No. 1 to McDaniel Supply Company 

Commissary Service Agreement 

 

THIS AMENDMENT No. 1 is entered into between the County of Effingham, Georgia  ("Principal") 

and McDaniel Supply Company, Inc. ("MSC”) whose Administrative Office is located at 1275 East 

Cherry St., Jesup, GA 31546.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF:  

WHEREAS, the parties did enter into a Services Agreement effective May 17, 2016 for Inmate  

Commissary and Trust Fund Accounting Services; and,  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual promises in said Agreement. it 

is mutually agreed as follows: 

 

AMENDMENTS 

1. The original Services Agreement is amended as follows: 

 

a) The parties agree that on November 14, 2023, MSC will install two (2) vending machines for 

inmate use at the Effingham County Prison located at 321 Hwy 119 South, Springfield, GA, 

31329. 

 

b) The parties agree that the Prison will provide the A/C power necessary to run the vending 

machines at its cost. 

 

c) The parties agree that all vending machines and any related hardware provided by MSC is the 

sole property of MSC and will be returned to MSC in working order at such time as the parties 

agree to vending equipment removal. 

 

d) The parties agree that the Principal will purchase vending items from MSC as needed and that 

MSC will deliver purchased items to the Prison to be loaded into the vending machines by Prison 

staff. 

 

e) The parties agree to a vending commission rate paid to the Principal of 25% on sales generated 

through inmate vending machines once installed and operational. 

 

NO OTHER CHANGES 

Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Amendment, all of the terms and conditions of the original 

contract remain in full force and effect.  This Amendment shall be effective once signed by both parties. 

 

 

 

{Signature Page Follows} 

 

261

Item XII. 7.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed or approved this Amendment on the dates 

below their signatures.         

 

 

McDaniel Supply Company, Inc.    County of Effingham 

 

By: __________________________    By: __________________________ 

 

Its: __________________________    Its: __________________________ 

 

Date: _________________________    Date: _________________________ 

 

262

Item XII. 7.



Staff Report 

 
Subject:    FY 2024 Budget Amendment  

Author:  Mark W. Barnes, Finance Director 

Department:  Finance Department 

Meeting Date: 11/21/23 

Item Description: Consideration to approve an amendment to the FY 2024 budget. 
 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requesting approval of an amendment to the FY 2024 budget. 
 

Executive Summary: 

Each year the Board of Commissioners proposes a tentative budget. During the year, 

the Board receives requests from agencies and department heads to adjust the budget. 

Additionally, other factors, such as revenue, may fluctuate thereby allowing the Board to 

direct that additional expenditures be made. Therefore, a formal budget resolution 

incorporating these factors is made to adjust the budget accordingly.  

 

Background: 

Georgia Law 6-81-3. Requires the establishment of fiscal year; requirement of annual 
balanced budget; adoption of budget ordinances or resolutions generally; budget 
amendments; uniform chart of accounts. Section (b)(1) notes that each unit of local 
government shall adopt and operate under an annual balanced budget for the general 
fund, each special revenue fund, and each debt service fund in use by the local 
government. The annual balanced budget shall be adopted by ordinance or resolution 
and administered in accordance with this article. 
 
  
The budget amendment attached reflects the following changes: 

1. Allocating funding for the combined LMIG 2023 and LMIG 2024 road 
projects. 

2. Allocating funding for the GDOT contract for  water & sewer items for the 
Effingham Parkway. 

3. Allocating funding for the fuel island slab repairs. 
 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the resolution to amend the budget for FY 2024.  
2. Do not approve the resolution. 

3. Provide staff with direction. 

 

 

 

263

Item XII. 8.



 

 

Recommended Alternative: 

Staff recommends Alternative number 1 – Approve the resolution to amend the budget 

for FY 2024. 

 

Other Alternatives:  

N/A  

 

Department Review:  

Finance 

 

Funding Source: 

Multiple 

 

Attachments: 

FY 2024 budget amendment resolution 

264

Item XII. 8.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
           Resolution# ____________ 

 

State of Georgia 

County of Effingham 

 

RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE FY 2024 BUDGET 

 
WHEREAS, the FY 2024 budget of Effingham County was adopted on June 6th, 2023 

and; WHEREAS, it is necessary to further amend said budget to reflect desired changes and; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the County Effingham, 

Georgia that the following amendment be made: 

 

 
 
 
This amendment allocates funding for the LMIG 2023 and LMIG 2024 projects, for the GDOT Effingham 

Parkway water & sewer contractual costs, and for the fuel island slab repairs. 

 
 Approved this _____ day of ___________   2023. 
 
Attest: 
 
 
                                          
Stephanie D.  Johnson, County Clerk   Wesley M. Corbitt, Chairman  

DEPT DEPT NAME ACCT NAME ACCT NO. TYPE AMOUNT DESCRIPTION

322 SPLOST 2021 LMIG 2023 322-4208-322-54-1402 EXP 512758.00 to allocate additional funding for LMIG 2023

322 SPLOST 2021 LMIG 2024 322-4208-322-54-1403 EXP 1929102.00 to allocate funding for LMIG 2024

322 SPLOST 2021 DEPT OF TRANSPORTATION 322-33-4217 REV -1021189.00 to allocate LMIG 2024 grant funds received

322 SPLOST 2021 CEM COMPLEX PHASE 2 322-6110-322-54-1201 EXP -1420671.00 to re-allocate funding to LMIG projects

037 SPLOST 2017 ROADS EFFINGHAM PARKWAY 321-4207-037-54-1406 EXP 1264304.00 allocate funding for Parkway GDOT water & sewer

100 SPLOST 2017 W&S SPIP WATER MAIN EXTENSION 321-4420-100-54-1410 EXP -222000.00 to re-allocate funding towards Parkway

037 SPLOST 2017 ROADS INTEREST ON INVESTMENT 321-36-1005 REV -157102.00 to allocate LGIP earnings to Parkway

037 SPLOST 2017 ROADS CASH CARRY FORWARD 321-38-9015 FB -885202.00 to allocate FB to Parkway

021 FACILITIES MAINTENANCE SITE IMPROVEMENTS 100-1565-021-54-1200 EXP 25000.00 to allocate funding for fuel island slab

021 FACILITIES MAINTENANCE CASH CARRY FORWARD 100-38-9015 FB -25000.00 to allocate FB for fuel island slab

0.00 net entries

265

Item XII. 8.



266

Item XII. 9.



267

Item XII. 9.



268

Item XII. 9.



269

Item XII. 9.



270

Item XII. 9.



271

Item XII. 9.



272

Item XII. 9.



273

Item XII. 9.



274

Item XII. 9.



275

Item XII. 9.



276

Item XII. 9.



277

Item XII. 9.



278

Item XII. 9.



279

Item XII. 9.



280

Item XII. 9.



281

Item XII. 9.



282

Item XII. 9.



283

Item XII. 9.



284

Item XII. 9.



285

Item XII. 9.



286

Item XII. 9.



287

Item XII. 9.



288

Item XII. 9.



289

Item XII. 9.



290

Item XII. 9.



291

Item XII. 9.



292

Item XII. 9.



293

Item XII. 9.



294

Item XII. 9.



295

Item XII. 9.



296

Item XII. 9.



297

Item XII. 9.



298

Item XII. 9.



299

Item XII. 9.



300

Item XII. 9.



301

Item XII. 9.



302

Item XII. 9.



303

Item XII. 9.



304

Item XII. 9.



305

Item XII. 9.



306

Item XII. 10.



307

Item XII. 10.



308

Item XII. 10.



309

Item XII. 10.



Staff Report           

Subject:  Ordinance Revision  
Author:  Steve Candler, Director Development Services 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 
Item Description: Consideration to approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Part II – 
Official Code, Chapter 42; Section 42-7-Firearms the Effingham County Code of Ordinances.  
 
Executive Summary/Background  
This amendment also allows certain traditions in Effingham County to continue amid the population 
changes the county is experiencing.  The amendment specially addresses firearm use during dove season.  
The amendment allows for a registration system with the Sheriff’s office for dove hunts on property less 
than 100 acres.  It is not a permit system, just a notification system; very similar to the timber notification 
system in place. 
 
Alternatives  

1. Approve an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Part II – Official Code, Chapter 42, 
Section 42-7-Firearms the Effingham County Code of Ordinances. 
 
2. Deny an amendment to the Code of Ordinances Part II – Official Code, Chapter 42, Section 42-7-
Firearms the Effingham County Code of Ordinances. 
 
Recommended Alternative: 1      Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review: County Administration, Development Services, Sherriff’s Office    

Sec. 42-7. - Firearms. 

(a)  It shall be unlawful for any person to discharge any explosive, pistol, gun, or other weapon or instrument 

likely to produce injury to person or property, except in defense of person or property, within a radius of 300 

yards from any occupied dwelling without the express permission of the occupant of such dwelling. Nothing in 

this section shall apply to any person authorized by law to use firearms in the course of his duty. 

(b)  It shall be unlawful for any person to discharge any firearm on any public boat ramp or public dock, or on 

any public land or facilities adjacent to any public boat ramp or public dock maintained or owned by the 

county. 

(c)  Notwithstanding section (a), a single parcel, under single ownership, and a minimum of one hundred (100) 

acres, in an AR-1 zoning district, can discharge firearms on the parcel without notifying the county during the 

Georgia Wildlife Resources Division designated dove season. 

310

Item XII. 11.



(d)  Notwithstanding section (a), for properties in single ownership under 100 acres, the landowner must 

register, with the Sheriff’s office, the times and the dates for any discharge of a firearm on the property during  

the Georgia Wildlife Resources Division designated dove season. 

 

 (Ord. of 9-2-80; Ord. of 2-18-97) 

 

 

311

Item XII. 11.



Sec. 42-7. - Firearms. 

(a)  It shall be unlawful for any person to discharge any explosive, pistol, gun, or other weapon or 

instrument likely to produce injury to person or property, except in defense of person or property, 

within a radius of 300 yards from any occupied dwelling without the express permission of the 

occupant of such dwelling. Nothing in this section shall apply to any person authorized by law to use 

firearms in the course of his duty. 

(b)  It shall be unlawful for any person to discharge any firearm on any public boat ramp or public 

dock, or on any public land or facilities adjacent to any public boat ramp or public dock maintained or 

owned by the county. 

(c)  Notwithstanding section (a), a single parcel, under single ownership, and a minimum of one 

hundred (100) acres, in an AR-1 zoning district, can discharge firearms on the parcel without notifying 

the county during the Georgia Wildlife Resources Division designated dove season. 

(d)  Notwithstanding section (a), for properties in single ownership under 100 acres, the landowner 

must register, with the Sheriff’s office, the times and the dates for any discharge of a firearm on the 

property during the Georgia Wildlife Resources Division designated dove season. 

 

 (Ord. of 9-2-80; Ord. of 2-18-97) 

 

312

Item XII. 11.



Staff Report 
 
Subject:  GDOT Request for Traffic Signal 
Author:  Tim Callanan 
Department:  County Manager 
Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 
Item Description: Consideration to approve a Request for Traffic Signal submitted by 
GDOT for the location of SR21 (Springfield Bypass) at McCall Road 
 
Summary Recommendation:  The staff recommends the approval of the Request for 
Traffic Signal submitted by GDOT for the location of SR21 (Springfield Bypass) at 
McCall Road. 
 
Executive Summary/Background:  The County has seen an increase of traffic and 
traffic related issues at the intersection of SR21 (Springfield Bypass) and McCall Road.  
The County has reached out to GDOT asking for a traffic signal at this intersection.  
GDOT will conduct a Traffic Engineering Study to determine if this location meets 
warrants for a traffic signal.  In the event that GDOT authorizes the use of a traffic signal 
at this intersection, GDOT may ask Effingham County Board of Commissioners for 
some participation.     
 
Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve the Request for Traffic Signal as submitted by GDOT. 
2. Do not approve the proposed agreement. 
3. Provide staff with direction. 

 
Recommended Alternative:  Staff recommends alternative 1 – Approve the Request 
for Traffic Signal as submitted by GDOT. 
 
Other Alternatives: None 
 
Department Review: County Manager 
 
Funding Source:  TSPLOST 2023 
 
Attachments:  GDOT Request for Traffic Signal  
 
 

313

Item XII. 12.



314

Item XII. 12.



315

Item XII. 12.



Staff Report          
 
Subject:  Variance (Fourth District) 
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 
Item Description: Alex Long requests a variance from Section 5.8.6, to allow for smaller lots in R-6 
subdivision. Located on Blue Jay Road, zoned R-6. [Map# 414 Parcel# 3] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a variance from Section 5.8.6 
to allow for smaller lots in a R-6 subdivision. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances may only 

be granted if the following findings are made: 

That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, or 

shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions peculiar to the 

particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and not to circumstances 

or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in the neighborhood or district in 

which the property is located; and  

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the property can 

be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that the authorization of a 

variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property.  

 At the January 15, 2019 Board of Commissioners meeting, this parcel was rezoned from AR-1 to R-6, with 

the following conditions: 

1. Lot shall meet the requirements of the R-6 zoning district. 

2. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resource Protection Ordinance 

and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual.  

3. All wetland impacts shall be permitted by USACE.  

4. Subdivision final plat shall be approved by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 The Sketch Plan was also approved at the January 15, 2019 Board of Commissioners meeting.   

 Based on the 2019 R-6 ordinance, the lot widths need to be a minimum of 60 feet, with an area of 6,600 sq. 

ft.  

 The applicant applied to go through the Final Plat process for Pine Brook Subdivision, however, some of the 

lots on the final plat draft are smaller than the 60’ minimum required.  

 Due to this oversight during engineering review and preliminary review, the applicant has moved forward 

with the sale of the lots. All lots with the exception of 11 have been sold, so reconfiguring the lots to achieve 

the 60’ minimum is impractical.     

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request for a variance. 
 
2. Deny the request for a variance.  
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Variance application                        3. Site Plan  5. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

316

Item XII. 13.



317

Item XII. 13.



318

Item XII. 13.



319

Item XII. 13.



320

Item XII. 13.



321

Item XII. 13.



322

Item XII. 13.



Staff Report          
 
Subject:  2nd Reading – Zoning Map Amendment  
Author:  Chelsie Fernald, Planner II 
Department:  Development Services 
Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 
Item Description: Alex Long requests a variance from Section 5.8.6, to allow for smaller lots in R-6 
subdivision. Located on Blue Jay Road, zoned R-6. [Map# 414 Parcel# 3] 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Staff has reviewed the application, and recommends approval of the request for a variance from Section 5.8.6 
to allow for smaller lots in a R-6 subdivision. 
 
Executive Summary/Background  

 Pursuant to Appendix C-Zoning Ordinance, Article VII-Planning Board, Section 7.1.8, variances may only 

be granted if the following findings are made: 

That there are unique physical circumstances or conditions, including irregularity, narrowness, or 

shallowness, of lot size or shape, or exceptional topographical or other physical conditions peculiar to the 

particular property, and that the unnecessary hardship is due to such conditions, and not to circumstances 

or conditions generally created by the provisions of the zoning ordinance in the neighborhood or district in 

which the property is located; and  

That because of such physical circumstances or conditions, there is no possibility that the property can 

be developed in strict conformity with the provisions of the zoning ordinance, and that the authorization of a 

variance is therefore necessary to enable the reasonable use of the property.  

 At the January 15, 2019 Board of Commissioners meeting, this parcel was rezoned from AR-1 to R-6, with 

the following conditions: 

1. Lot shall meet the requirements of the R-6 zoning district. 

2. Site development plans shall comply with the Effingham County Water Resource Protection Ordinance 

and the Stormwater Management Local Design Manual.  

3. All wetland impacts shall be permitted by USACE.  

4. Subdivision final plat shall be approved by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 The Sketch Plan was also approved at the January 15, 2019 Board of Commissioners meeting.   

 Based on the 2019 R-6 ordinance, the lot widths need to be a minimum of 60 feet, with an area of 6,600 sq. 

ft.  

 The applicant applied to go through the Final Plat process for Pine Brook Subdivision, however, some of the 

lots on the final plat draft are smaller than the 60’ minimum required.  

 Due to this oversight during engineering review and preliminary review, the applicant has moved forward 

with the sale of the lots. All lots with the exception of 11 have been sold, so reconfiguring the lots to achieve 

the 60’ minimum is impractical.     

 

Alternatives  
1. Approve the request for a variance. 
 
2. Deny the request for a variance.  
 
Recommended Alternative:  1    Other Alternatives: 2 
 
Department Review:  Development Services  FUNDING: N/A 
 
Attachments:  1.   Variance application                        3. Site Plan  5. Deed 

2. Ownership certificate/authorization 4. Aerial photograph 

323

Item XII. 14.



: STATE OF GEORGIA 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY 

 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO. 

414-3 

 AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE EFFINGHAM COUNTY ZONING ORDINANCE, MAP AND PARCEL NO.  

414-3 

 

 AND TO REPEAL ALL OTHER ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH. 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Effingham County Board of Commissioners in regular meeting assembled and pursuant to lawful 

authority thereof: 

WHEREAS, ALEX LONG has filed an application for a variance, from section 5.8.6, to allow for smaller lots in a R-6 

subdivision, located on Blue Jay Road; map and parcel number 414-3, located in the 4th commissioner district, and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on November 21, 2023 and notice of said hearing having been published in the 

Effingham County Herald on November 8, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the Effingham County Planning Board, notice of said hearing having been 

published in the Effingham County Herald on October 25, 2023; and 

IT IS HEREBY ORDAINED THAT a variance from section 5.8.6, to allow for smaller lots in a R-6 subdivision, located on 

Blue Jay Road; map and parcel number 414-3, located in the 4th commissioner district is approved. 

 

  

All ordinances or part of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________, 20____ 

 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

      EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

 

      BY:  _______________________________ 

               WESLEY CORBITT, CHAIRMAN 

 

 

ATTEST:       FIRST/SECOND READING:  ______________  

  

___________________________ 

STEPHANIE JOHNSON 

COUNTY CLERK 

324

Item XII. 14.



Staff Report           

Subject:  Future Land Use Map (FLUM) 

Author:  Steve Candler, Director Development Services 

Department:  Development Services 

Meeting Date: November 21, 2023 

Item Description: Consideration of approval to adopt Future Land Use Map (FLUM) as a 

policy document of the Effingham County. 

 

Summary Recommendation 

Staff recommends approval of the Future Land Use Map 

 

Executive Summary/Background  
The FLUM amendment assists the elected officials, appointed officials and the citizens of Effingham 

County to plan The future land use map is a community’s visual guide to future planning. The future 

land use map should bring together most if not all of the elements of the comprehensive plan such as 

natural resources, economic development, housing and transportation. It is a map of what the 

community wants to have happen; it is not a prediction. The future land use map is not an official map 

nor is it a zoning map. 

 

Alternatives  
1. Consideration of approval to adopt Future Land Use Map (FLUM) as a policy document of the 

Effingham County. 

 

2. Deny adoption of the proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) as a policy document of the 
Effingham County. 
Recommended Alternative: 1      Other Alternatives: 2 

 

Department Review: Development Services     FUNDING: N/A 

 

Attachments: 1Draft of the Future Land Use Map.  

 

 

325

Item XII. 15.



Effingham County
Future Land Use Map
and Character Areas ¹

0 2 4 6 8 101
Miles

1 inch = 1 mile

Legend
Railroads
Roads

Development Node
Commercial
Conservation
Sav. River Bluffs
Municipal Bounds
Proposed Annexations

Agriculture
Ag/Residential
Places of Assembly/Cemetery
Commercial
Conservation/Recreation
Industrial
Public/Institutional
Transitional
Transportation/Utilities

I-16 Industrial District

Research Forest 
Industrial District

Effingham Gateway
Industrial District

Ebenezer Industrial District

Legacy Industrial District

Effingham County assumes no responsibility for the legal accuracy contained herein.

APPROVED BY EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
_____________________________________       __________
CHAIRMAN                                                              DATE 

Character Areas Future Land Use

326

Item XII. 15.



 

 

 

 

RESOLUTION TO ADOPT 
ADOPTION AGREEMENT AMENDMENT #2 

ASSOCIATION COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF GEORGIA 
401(a) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN  

FOR EFFINGHAM COUNTY EMPLOYEES 
 

 

WHEREAS, Effingham County, Georgia (the "Employer") established the ACCG 401(a) 

Defined Contribution Plan for Effingham County Employees (the "Plan") through an Adoption 

Agreement that was originally effective as of December 1, 2000, and was most recently amended and 

restated effective as of January 1, 2022;  

 

WHEREAS, Section 13.01 of the Plan allows the Employer to amend the elective provisions of 

the Adoption Agreement; 

 

WHEREAS, the Employer desires to amend the Adoption Agreement to eliminate the 

requirement that Participants be credited with a Year of Service before becoming eligible for Employer 

Matching Contributions; 

 

 WHEREAS, the Employer wishes to amend the Adoption Agreement to increase the Employer 

Matching Contribution to one hundred percent (100%) of the first five percent (5%) of Compensation that 

Participants contribute to the Association County Commissioners of Georgia 457(b) Deferred 

Compensation Plan for Effingham County Employees; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Employer wishes to amend the Adoption Agreement to implement a graded 

vesting schedule. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, at a meeting held on the _____ day of _________________, 2023, the 

Effingham County Board of Commissioners hereby resolves as follows: 

 

RESOLVED, that the Effingham County Board of Commissioners hereby approves the attached 

Adoption Agreement Amendment #2, effective as of the date set forth therein. 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED that the Commission Chair is hereby authorized, empowered, and 

directed to take all further actions and to execute all documents necessary to implement these resolutions. 

 

FURTHER RESOLVED that any resolution in conflict with this resolution is hereby repealed. 

 

This ______ day of ________________________, 2023. 

 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 

By: ____________________________________________ 

 Chair, Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 

Date: ____________________________________________ 

 

327

Item XII. 16.



 

 

 

 

Attest: 

 

By: ____________________________________________ 

 County Clerk 

 

Date:    ____________________________________________ 

 

328

Item XII. 16.



ADOPTION AGREEMENT AMENDMENT #2 
ASSOCIATION COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF GEORGIA 
401(a) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN FOR EFFINGHAM 

COUNTY EMPLOYEES 

WHEREAS, Effingham County, Georgia (the "Employer") established the ACCG 

401(a) Defined Contribution Plan for Effingham County Employees (the "Plan") through an 

Adoption Agreement that was first effective as of December 1, 2000, and was most recently 

amended and restated effective as of January 1, 2022. 

WHEREAS, Section 13.01 of the Plan allows the Employer to amend the elective 

provisions of the Adoption Agreement;  

WHEREAS, the Employer desires to amend the Adoption Agreement to eliminate the 

requirement that Participants be credited with a Year of Service before becoming eligible for 

Employer Matching Contributions; 

 WHEREAS, the Employer wishes to amend the Adoption Agreement to increase the 

Employer Matching Contribution to one hundred percent (100%) of the first five percent (5%) of 

Compensation that Participants contribute to the Association County Commissioners of Georgia 

457(b) Deferred Compensation Plan for Effingham County Employees; and 

WHEREAS, the Employer wishes to amend the Adoption Agreement to implement a 

graded vesting schedule. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Adoption Agreement is hereby amended effective as of 

January 1, 2024, as follows: 

1. 

Section 3.02 of the Adoption Agreement, Participation Eligibility, shall be restated in 

its entirety to provide for immediate eligibility for Employer Matching Contributions as of the 

first pay period that begins on or after January 1, 2024, as follows: 

3.02 PARTICIPATION ELIGIBILITY 

 Eligibility Date Determination for Employee Contributions 

[--] The Eligible Employee’s Employment Commencement Date 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee completes __________ (___) Year(s) of Service 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee attains age (____________)  (__) 

[--] The earlier of the date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____________ (___) Years of 

Service or attains age _________ (__) 

[--] Other Eligibility Date for Employee Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 Eligibility Date Determination for Employer Basic Contributions 

[X] The Eligible Employee’s Employment Commencement Date 

329

Item XII. 16.



2 

 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____ (__) Year(s) of Service 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee attains age (____________)  (__) 

[--] The earlier of the date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____________ (___) Years of 

Service or attains age _________ (__) 

[--] Other Eligibility Date for Basic Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 Eligibility Date Determination for Employer Discretionary Contributions 

[--] The Eligible Employee’s Employment Commencement Date 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee completes __________ (___) Year(s) of Service 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee attains age (____________)  (__) 

[--] The earlier of the date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____________ (___) Years of 

Service or attains age _________ (__) 

[--] Other Eligibility Date for Discretionary Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 Eligibility Date Determination for Employer Matching Contributions 

[X] The Eligible Employee’s Employment Commencement Date 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____________ (___) Year(s) of Service 

[--] Date on which the Eligible Employee attains age (____________)  (__) 

[--] The earlier of the date on which the Eligible Employee completes ____________ (___) Years of 

Service or attains age _________ (__) 

[--] Other Eligibility Date for Matching Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 

2. 

 Adoption Agreement Section 4.03, Employer Matching Contributions, shall be restated 

in its entirety effective as to the first pay period that begins on or after January 1, 2024, to read as 

follows: 

4.03 EMPLOYER MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS 

(Matching Contributions may not exceed 100% of Compensation.) 

[--] No Matching Contributions on amounts Participants contribute to the 457(b) Eligible Deferred 

Compensation Plan 

[X] Matching Contributions equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the first five percent (5.0%) on 

amounts Participants contribute to the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan.  The maximum 

Matching Contribution shall be no more than five percent (5.0%) of Compensation or $ (N/A). 

[--] Matching Contributions equal to ________ percent (___%) of the first _______ percent (____%) 

on amounts Participants contribute to the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan and 

_________ percent (___%) of the next ___________ percent (___%) so contributed and 

_________ percent (___%) of the next ___________ percent (___%) so contributed. The maximum 

Matching Contribution shall be no more than _________ percent (___%) of Compensation or 

$________________. 

[--] Matching Contributions equal to ________ percent (___%) of amounts Participants contribute to 

the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan. 

330

Item XII. 16.



3 

 

[--] Other Matching Contribution Formula (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

[--] Discretionary Matching Contributions as determined each year by the Employer 

 Matching Contributions shall be made on the following types of deferrals: 

[X] Deferral Contributions the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan 

[X] Catch-up Contributions the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan 

[X] Roth Contributions under the 457(b) Eligible Deferred Compensation Plan 

[--] Matching Contributions shall be calculated based on the lowest whole percentage of Compensation 

deferred by the Participant (no fractions) 

 Matching Contributions shall be made: 

[X] On a payroll basis 

[--] On a monthly basis 

[--] On a quarterly basis 

[--] On an annual basis 

[--] Other remittance period for Matching Contributions:      (must be at 

least annual) 

[--] Matching Contributions made more frequently than on an annual basis will be recalculated (“trued-

up”) at the end of the year.  If this box is not checked, Matching Contributions will not be 

recalculated at the end of the year. 

 Employer Matching Contribution Eligibility Requirements 

[X] No requirements [Must elect if made more frequently than annually] 

[--] Participant  must be employed by the Employer on the last day of the Plan Year 

[--] Participant must earn at least 501 Hours of Service during the Plan Year 

[--] Participant  must earn at least 1000 Hours of Service during the Plan Year 

[--] Participants who become disabled, or die while employed with the Employer and 

Participants who die while performing qualified military service, are excepted from any last 

day or Hours of Service requirements.  

[--] Other Matching Contribution Eligibility Requirements (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

 

3. 

 Adoption Agreement Section 6.02, Vesting Schedule, shall be restated as follows 

effective as of January 1, 2024, as to any Participant who is an Employee on or after such date, 

provided that the Participant’s Account has not yet been forfeited on account of a previous 

Severance from Employment: 

 

6.02 VESTING SCHEDULE 

Additional rows may be added to any option to the extent permissible under the Plan document.  

An Additional Provisions Addendum may be completed for purposes of providing different Vesting 

Schedules for different classes of Participants.  Any cliff vesting schedule must be at least as favorable as 

15-year cliff (20-year cliff for a class in which substantially all of the participants are qualified public 

331

Item XII. 16.



4 

 

safety employees as defined in Internal Revenue Code Section 72(t)(10)(B)).  Any graded vesting schedule 

must be at least as favorable as 5-20 year graded. 

Vesting for Employer Basic Contribution 

[--] 100% Vesting immediately upon Entry Date 

[--] Full Years of Service With the 

Employer 

 Percent Vested in Account 

Less than  ____ (__) years     0 % 

____ (__) years or more    100 % 

[X] Full Years of Service With the 

Employer 

 Percent Vested in Account 

Less than two (2)  years 

Two (2) years 

Three (3) years 

Four (4) years or more 

 

 0% 

50% 

75% 

100% 

 

[--] Other Vesting Schedule for Basic Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

Vesting for Employer Discretionary Contribution 

[--] 100% Vesting immediately upon Entry Date 

[--] Full Years of Service With the Employer Percent Vested in Account 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

____  years 

 ____  years or more 

 ____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

____% 

Less than  ____ (__) years     0 % 

_____ (__) years or more  100 % 

[--] Other Vesting Schedule for Discretionary Contributions (See Additional Provisions Addendum) 

Vesting for Employer Matching Contribution 

[--]                  100% Vesting immediately upon Entry Date 

[X] Full Years of Service With the Employer Percent Vested in Account 

Less than two (2) years 

Two (2) years 

Three (3) years 

Four (4) years or more 

 

  

 0% 

50% 

75% 

100% 

 

Less than  ____ (__) years     0 % 

____ (__) years or more  100 % 

[X] Other Vesting Schedule for Employer Matching Contributions (See Additional Provisions 

Addendum) 

332

Item XII. 16.



5 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Employer has caused its duly authorized officer to execute 

this Amendment on the date noted below. 

EFFINGHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 

By: ________________________________________ 

Title: ______________________________________ 

Date: ______________________________________ 

 

333

Item XII. 16.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Approval of ACCG Retirement Plan Changes and Amendment 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department:  Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date:  November 21, 2023 
Item Description: Request to approve ACCG Retirement Plan Changes and Amendment 
 
 
Summary Recommendation 
After conducting a BOC Workshop (Tuesday, 6/20/2023) and further discussion at the 
BOC Retreat (Saturday, 8/26/2023), staff recommends implementing a few changes to 
our ACCG Retirement Plan to assist with retention and recruitment. 

 

 
 

 Increase the County’s matching contribution from 3% up to 5%. 
 
 
Alternatives 

1. Recommend approval of ACCG Retirement Plan Changes and Amendment. 
2. Disapprove and provide staff with guidance on how to proceed. 

 
Other Alternatives: None 
 
Department Review: County Manager, Finance, and Human Resources.  
 
Funding Source: Future budget amendment if needed. 
 
Attachment:  Effingham- R Adopting AA #2 
   Effingham AA Amend #2  

334

Item XII. 16.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Approval of Meritain Health Amendment to add Rx Smart Savings Program 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department:  Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date:  November 21, 2023 
Item Description: Request to approve Meritain Health Amendment to add Rx Smart 
Savings Program 
 
 
Summary Recommendation 
The Rx Smart Savings program aims to find generic prescription savings opportunities, 
coordinate generic alternatives between the provider, member, and pharmacy, and help 
employees save on prescription costs. The County implemented this program in May, but 
because the Truveris Amendment hadn’t been signed due to legal language delays/back 
and forth between Meritain and Truveris, we couldn’t sign this amendment until the 1/1/23 
amendment was signed. Meritain Health gave us a $3,000 Wellness Credit for joining the 
Rx Smart Savings Program.  
 
 
Alternatives 

1. Recommend approval of Meritain Health Amendment to add Rx Smart Savings 
Program. 

2. Disapprove and provide staff with guidance on how to proceed. 
 
Other Alternatives: None 
 
Department Review: County Manager and Human Resources.  
 
Funding Source: None 
 
Attachment:  Meritain Health Amendment to Administrative Services Agreement (ASA)- 
May 2023 

335

Item XII. 17.



0123 – Effingham County Board of Commissioners – Amendment               1v091523 

AMENDMENT TO 
ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
This Amendment to the Administrative Services Agreement (this “Amendment”) dated as of May 01, 2023 (the 
“Amendment Effective Date”) amends the Administrative Services Agreement (the “Agreement”) entered into 
as of January 01, 2021, as amended, by and between Meritain Health, Inc. (“Meritain”) and Effingham County 
Board of Commissioners (“Client”) as follows: 
 
1. FEE SCHEDULE 
 
A. The Administrative Rates set forth under Section 1 of the Fee Schedule is hereby amended to add the 
following new Administrative Fees commencing as of May 01, 2023 through December 31, 2023: 
 
 

 
2.   RX SMART SAVINGS SERVICE SCHEDULE 

 
The Agreement is hereby amended by the addition of the following new RX Smart Savings Service Schedule 
attached hereto and incorporated herein. 
 
3. MISCELLANEOUS 
 

Any capitalized term not defined in this Amendment shall have the meaning ascribed to it in the Agreement. 
Except as specifically amended by the terms of this Amendment, all surviving terms, provisions, and fees of the 
Agreement are hereby ratified and confirmed and the Agreement, as modified by this Amendment, remains in 
full force and effect. 
 
In Witness Whereof, the parties have executed this Amendment on the dates set forth below. 
 
 

MERITAIN HEALTH, INC.  
EFFINGHAM COUNTY BOARD OF 

COMMISSIONERS 

 

  

Name:  Michael S. Thomas  Name:  

Title:  Regional President  Title:  

Date:  September 26, 2023  Date:  

 
 

Administrative Services Fee Frequency of Occurrence 

Rx Smart Savings $1.50 Per Employee Per Month 

336

Item XII. 17.



0123 – Effingham County Board of Commissioners – Amendment               2v091523 

RX SMART SAVINGS SERVICE SCHEDULE 
 
Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement including without limitation this RX Smart Savings Service 
Schedule (this “Rx Schedule”), the RX Smart Savings Services provided by Meritain are described below. 
 
1. DEFINITIONS.  
 
For the purposes of this RX Schedule, the following terms shall have the meaning set forth below: 
 

a. Alternative Drug shall mean an alternative or therapeutic alternative to a Target Drug that is 
recommended through the Rx Smart Savings Services. 

b. Target Drug shall mean prescribed drug by a Provider that has a case management opportunity for the 
Service Provider to recommend an Alternative Drug through the Rx Smart Savings Services. 

2. RX SMART SAVINGS SERVICES.  
 

a. Meritain shall, through its authorized third-party vendor ( the “Service Provider”): 

i. perform regular review of pharmacy claims to identify Target Drugs; 

ii. identify pharmacy claims meeting pre-determined criteria; 

iii. contact prescribing Providers to review recommended Alternative Drugs; 

iv. if prescribing Providers approve the recommended Alternative Drug, contact the applicable 
Participant to educate them as to the recommended Alternative Drug; and  

v. provide assistance facilitating transmission of the new prescribed Alternative Drug to a pharmacy 
(the “RX Smart Savings Services”). 

3. CLIENT OBLIGATIONS.  
 
Client acknowledges and agrees that the Rx Smart Savings Services require the transmission of certain 
pharmacy claims data, including eligibility data (the “Pharmacy Data”) to Service Provider. Client specifically 
authorizes Meritain to provide the Pharmacy Data to Service Provider, and in the event that the required 
Pharmacy Data is in the possession of a third-party prescription benefit manager, or other third party, with which 
Client has directly contracted, Client shall arrange for such third-party to transmit the Pharmacy Data to Meritain 
or the Service Provider, as instructed by Meritain. Client acknowledges and agrees that the Rx Smart Savings 
Services cannot be performed without the Pharmacy Data, and that neither Meritain nor the Service Provider 
shall be liable for any failure to perform the Rx Smart Savings Services if the Pharmacy Data is not provided. 
Client acknowledges and agrees that the Rx Smart Savings Services require that the Service Provider contact 
Participants directly. Client specifically authorizes Meritain, through the Service Provider, to contact individual 
Participants for the purposes of the Rx Smart Savings Services. Client represents and warrants that the Plan 
Documents include the Rx Smart Savings Services and that each Participant has consented, through the 
enrollment process or otherwise, to the use of the Pharmacy Data relating to such Participant as contemplated 
herein. 
 
4. AVAILABILITY OF SERVICES.  
 
The availability of Rx Smart Savings Services are at all times subject to this Agreement between Meritain and 
the Service Provider. If at any time the Rx Smart Savings Services are no longer available to Meritain through 
the Service Provider, Meritain shall provide notice to Client. Upon the effective date specified in such notice 
neither Meritain nor Client shall have any further obligation under this RX Smart Savings Service Schedule, 
except for the payment of fees for services already provide 
 
 

337

Item XII. 17.



Staff Report 
 
Subject: Approval of Voya Stop Loss 
Author:  Sarah Mausolf, Director 
Department:  Human Resources and Risk Management 
Meeting Date:  November 21, 2023 
Item Description: Request to approve Voya Stop Loss 
 
 
Summary Recommendation 
Our broker, USI, was able to negotiate and get the Voya maximum claims total down 
more in line with the USI projection to $5,757,462, while keeping the fixed costs down by 
30%. 
 
Alternatives 

1. Approval of Voya Stop Loss 
2. Disapprove and provide staff with guidance on how to proceed. 

 
Other Alternatives: None 
 
Department Review: County Manager and Human Resources.  
 
Funding Source: Future budget amendment if needed 
 
 

338

Item XII. 18.



1 

SERVICES CONTRACT 

This Services Contract (the "Agreement") is entered into between Stealth Partner 
Group, LLC (“Stealth”), and [GROUP NAME] 
______________________________________________________________("Group"), 
and any such certain self-funded group health plan (“GHP”). Stealth, GHP, and Group 
are sometimes referred to individually as a "Party" and collectively as the "Parties."  
This Agreement is effective ___________________, 2024 (the "Effective Date"), and is 
negotiated in the District of Columbia.  

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Stealth has partnered with numerous parties to create Amwins Gene 
Therapy Solutions (the “Program”) to provide certain cell and gene therapy benefits 
pursuant to a performance guarantee as set forth in this Agreement and indemnified by 
Amwins Gene Therapy Solutions (IC) LLC (“Company”) under a Contractual Liability 
Insurance Policy (“CLIP”);  

WHEREAS, Group is establishing and maintaining a self-funded group health plan 
(“GHP”) for its employees and dependents;  

WHEREAS, Company has contracted with United States Fire Insurance Company 
(“Reinsurer”) to provide certain reinsurance services for the Program;  

WHEREAS, Group would like to participate in the Program; and 

THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements and covenants contained in 
this Agreement and other good and valuable consideration the receipt of which is 
acknowledged, the Parties agree to the following:  

AGREEMENT 

SECTION 1:  DEFINITIONS 

The following are definitions of terms used in this Agreement.  Other terms are defined 
where they are first used in this Agreement.  Defined terms are capitalized when used in the 
defined context.   

1.1 “Claim” means a covered expense that is (i) the responsibility of Stealth with 
respect to a Participant under the terms of this Agreement; and (ii) a 
Participant is diagnosed with a Covered Disease; and (iii) Covered 
Pharmaceuticals are prescribed with an intent to treat a Covered Disease; and 
(iv) a covered expense has been approved and Paid by the GHP or its third
party administrator within the Claims Period, and submitted to Stealth within
the Claims Period; and (v) Covered Pharmaceuticals are administered within
the Benefit Period, and proof of administration, including date, are submitted
to Stealth.

1.2 “Participants” means an individual entitled to receive benefits for services 
under the terms of the Group health plan at the time services are performed.  

Effingham County Board of Commissioners

January 1

339

Item XII. 18.



2 

 
 

1.3 “Paid Claims” means the amount that Group’s third party administrator has 
(i) adjudicated pursuant to the terms of the Group’s SPD and paid for a 
Participant’s Claim in response to a request for payment of benefits under the 
GHP; and (ii) the funds are actually disbursed by the GHP prior to the end 
of the Claims Period. Paid Claim must be unconditional and directly made 
to the Participant’s health care provider(s). Payment will be deemed made 
on the date the payment is tendered by mailing (or by other form of 
delivery) a draft or check; and the account upon which the payment is 
drawn contains, and continues to contain, sufficient funds to permit the 
check or draft to be honored by the institution upon which it is drawn.   
 

1.4 “Proprietary Materials” means Stealth’s proprietary and confidential records, 
documents, lists, books, recorded information, data stored on data processing 
media, trade secrets, symbols, trademarks, service marks, systems, formats, 
programs, procedures, protocols, contract forms, pricing data, deidentified data, 
utilization information, fee schedules, reasonable and customary charges profiles, 
designs, and business plans.  

 
1.5 “SPD” means summary plan description and is a written summary of the 

terms and benefits of the GHP available to Participants. An SPD will not be 
prepared by Stealth.  A Group health plan with different benefit plan options 
may describe those options in one SPD or in separate SPDs for each 
alternative benefit plan option. 

 
1.6 “Term” means the period of time this Agreement remains in effect. The 

initial Term is defined in Section 4.1 of this Agreement and the Agreement 
may renew for subsequent twelve (12) month periods, each of which is 
referred to as a Term. If the Agreement is terminated early for any reason 
prior to the expiration of a full twelve (12) month period, the shorter period 
between the first day of the Term and the date the Agreement is terminated is 
the Term. 

 
 
SECTION 2: RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES  
 

2.1 Stealth Acting in Ministerial Capacity Only.  Except as may otherwise be 
expressly provided in this Agreement, the Parties acknowledge and agree 
that Stealth is acting solely in a ministerial capacity in performing Stealth’s 
duties and obligations under this Agreement and will have no fiduciary 
duties with respect to the administration of the Group’s health plan.  While 
Stealth may facilitate and coordinate the various relationships, Stealth does 
not have discretionary authority over the Program.  Stealth will not be 
responsible for advising Group with respect to their fiduciary duties under 
the Agreement or form making any recommendations with respect to the 
investment of Group health plan assets.   

 

340

Item XII. 18.



3 

 
 

2.2 Stealth is Not Insuring any Group Liabilities.  Stealth does not insure or 
underwrite any liability associated with the GHP and will have not financial 
risk or liability with respect to the provision of benefits under the GHP, 
subject to the delivery and acceptance of the Specified Specialty 
Pharmaceutical Performance Guarantee (defined below).   

 
2.3 Authority.  Group grants Stealth the authority to serve as an agent of the 

Group in performing Stealth’s duties under this Agreement, but only those 
Stealth duties that are expressly stated in this Agreement or as mutually 
agreed in writing by the Parties.   

 
2.4 Stealth is an Independent Contractor.  Stealth is and will remain an 

independent contractor with respect to the services being performed under the 
terms of this Agreement and will not for any purpose be deemed an employee 
of Group, and Stealth will not be deemed to be a partner or to be governed by 
any legal relationship other than that of independent contractor.  Stealth does 
not assume any responsibility for the general policy design of the Group 
health plan, the adequacy of the funding thereof nor any act, omission, or 
breach of duty by Group.   

 
 
SECTION 3. COMPENSATION AND ADOPTION OF BENEFIT DISBURSEMENT 
TERMS 
 

3.1 Specified Specialty Pharmaceutical Benefit Disbursement Terms.  The 
Parties hereby incorporate the terms of the Specified Specialty Pharmaceutical 
Benefit Disbursement Terms (“Disbursement Terms”) attached to this 
Agreement as Exhibit B.  The terms of the Disbursement Terms will control 
the terms of Program and the ability for the Group to receive payment for any 
covered expenses.  Group acknowledges that to participate in the Program, 
Group must place its commercial employer stop-loss policy through Stealth, 
and that policy may not exclude or otherwise limit reimbursements for the 
therapies outlined in Exhibit B.   

 
3.2 Compensation.  Group will pay to Stealth $1.99 per covered employee per 

month to participate in the Program.   
 
 

SECTION 4. TERM OF AGREEMENT  
 

4.1 Term.  The initial term of this Agreement will commence on the Effective 
Date and terminate after twelve (12) months, unless terminated sooner as 
outlined under Section 5.   

 

341

Item XII. 18.



4 

 
 

4.2 Renewal.  After the completion of the initial twelve (12)-month period, this 
Agreement may renew for an additional twelve (12) month period subject to 
the execution of a new Agreement 

 
 
SECTION 5. TERMINATION AND MODIFICATION  
 

5.1 Termination Without Cause.  A Party may terminate this Agreement 
without cause by giving the other Party at least sixty (60) days prior written 
notice to the other Party prior to start of a new Term.   

 
5.2 Termination For Cause.  This Agreement terminates, and Stealth’s 

obligations will cease upon such termination, in accord with any of the 
following: 

 
(a) thirty (30) days after written notice has been given by Stealth to Group, or 

by Group to Stealth, of the breach of material obligations under this 
Agreement; provided that such breach has not been cured within such 
thirty (30) day period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Group's default in 
any payment under this Agreement will be subject to termination under 
Section 5.2.b. 
 

(b) immediately if Group ceases to be a client of Stealth in relation to the 
placement of any purchased stop-loss policy.  The termination of this 
Agreement will be the last day that Stealth is the general agent for the 
Group’s stop-loss policy.   

 
(c) upon thirty (30) days written notice, in Stealth’s sole discretion, if the 

Group fails to pay:  
 

a. Payment due under this Agreement, or any other agreements that 
are a part of the Program.  
 

b. Administrative fees, charges or other amounts due to Stealth under 
the terms of this Agreement.  
 

(d) Upon five (5) business days written notice, in Stealth’s sole discretion: 
 

a. if the Group assigns this Agreement, unless such assignment had 
Stealth’s prior approval in writing; or 
 

b. if Group is sold (including a sale of substantially all assets of 
Group) or merges, unless such sale or merger had Stealth’s prior 
approval in writing. Stealth will not unreasonably withhold any 
such approval.  

 

342

Item XII. 18.



5 

 
 

(e) As of the effective date of any law, regulation or interpretation of any law 
or regulation is enacted which prohibits the continuance of this 
Agreement, as interpreted by Stealth. 
 

(f) Immediately, if Group terminates the Group Health Plan. 
 

(g) Within ten (10) days following the occurrence of any of the following if 
not reversed or cured prior to the expiration of the ten (10) day period:  

 
a. a finding or admission that Group or the Group Health Plan is 

insolvent;  
 

b. the date that Group or Group Health Plan files for protection 
provided under any bankruptcy law;  
 

c. the date that Group or Group Health Plan’s creditors seek to have 
Group or Group Health Plan declared bankrupt or placed under the 
protection of a Bankruptcy Court; or  
 

d. the date that Group or Group’s creditors seek to have a receiver 
appointed to manage Group’s business.  

 
5.3 Other Rights to Terminate.  Stealth’s right to terminate under this Section 5 

will be in addition to and not a limitation of any right to terminate (or right to 
offset) under any other provisions of this Agreement.  

 
5.4 Late Payment and Reinstatement.  Any payment received by Stealth after 

termination of this Agreement will be deposited for security purposes only 
and will not be deemed to have been accepted for reinstatement or as an 
accord and satisfaction. This Agreement will be reinstated only upon the 
written endorsement of Stealth, Company and Reinsurer. 

 
5.5 Modification.  Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, 

this Agreement may be modified only by a written agreement signed by an 
authorized representative of each Party. 

 
 
SECTION 6. SERVICES  During the Term of this Agreement and any period of run out, 
Stealth will support the Group in various stop-loss procurement services and reimbursement 
of certain gene therapy treatments as set forth in Exhibit A of this Agreement, which 
includes: (a) stop-loss policy placement; (b) evaluate new drugs; (c) work with captive 
managers/actuaries; (d) coordinate with Company on applicable disbursements and 
reimbursements; and (e) premium collection/ remittance.  Stealth’s services under this 
agreement are contingent on the Group procuring a stop-loss policy that does not exclude or 
otherwise limit access to the treatments and therapies outlined in Exhibit B to this 
Agreement. 

343

Item XII. 18.



6 

 
 

 
 
SECTION 7. GENERAL 
 

7.1 Licenses.  Each Party will maintain in good standing, at its own cost, licenses 
required by all applicable statutes, regulations, and local jurisdictions.  Each 
Party will notify the other Party of its knowledge of any event which might 
lead to the suspension or revocation of any licenses which relate to this 
Agreement, or its knowledge of the actual suspension, revocation, lapse or 
non-renewal of any licenses required of a Party by applicable state law.  If a 
Party fails to obtain and maintain the appropriate licenses or fails to comply 
with the applicable statutes, the Parties will work in good faith to ensure that 
any impact to an insured in minimized. 

 
7.2 Compliance with Laws.  Each Party will comply with all applicable federal 

and state laws, regulations, and local rules that apply to this Agreement, and 
shall indemnify, defend and hold the other party harmless for its failure to do 
so.  Further, Each Party will comply with all applicable federal and state laws, 
rules and regulations governing privacy security, confidentiality, integrity 
and/or data protection, including but not limited to, as applicable, the Gramm-
Leach-Bliley Act of 1999 (GLBA), the Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), and regulations issued thereunder, the 
Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (the 
“HITECH ACT”), as incorporated in the American Recovery and 
Reinvestment Act of 2009 and regulations issued thereunder, the Insurance 
Information and Privacy Protection Act, (IIPPA), any applicable state privacy 
law.  Neither Party shall be liable to the other party for reimbursement of any 
regulatory or compliance related fine or penalty assessed against the other 
Party unless such fine and/or penalty is the direct result of a wrongful act of 
that Party.  [In event that either Party incurs a regulatory or compliance 
related fine and/or penalty as a sole result of the actions of the other Party, 
then the other party shall be responsible for reimbursing the affected party for 
the full amount of any such regulatory fine or penalty and any attorneys' fees 
incurred by such party in connection with any such fine or penalty.] 

 
7.3 Indemnification.  Each Party hereto agrees to indemnify, defend and hold 

harmless the other Party, their directors, officers and employees from any loss 
or damage, including reasonable attorney’s fees, which solely result from, 
arise out of or are caused by the indemnifying party’s negligence, misconduct 
or breach of this Agreement, or from the failure of the indemnifying party to 
comply with any applicable federal or state laws, rules or regulations, except 
to the extent any such loss, damage or expense is found in a final judgment by 
a court of competent jurisdiction(not subject to further appeal) to have 
resulted directly and solely from the failure of the non-indemnifying Party to 
act in good faith or its fraud, criminality, or willful misconduct.  Each Party 
hereto agrees to immediately notify the other Party upon receipt of service of 

344

Item XII. 18.



7 

 
 

process or other notice for any suit or claim.  The Party which is to be 
indemnified shall have the right to approve counsel used to defend said 
indemnified Party pursuant to this paragraph. 

 
7.4 Limitation of Liability.  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the 

contrary and any Business Associate Agreement provisions for indemnification 
and hold harmless related to HIPAA, Group agrees that in no event will it seek 
to hold Stealth liable or responsible for amounts related to (i) any claims, for 
incidental, lost profits, consequential, or any similar damages or lost profits 
related to the services provided by Stealth under this Agreement of any kind or 
(ii) any damages, whether directly in contract, tort or otherwise, or through a 
claim for indemnity or contribution, in excess of the annual aggregate amount 
of any fees paid to Stealth for this engagement in the year the action or inaction 
leading to the loss first occurs, even if Stealth has been advised of the 
possibility of such damages.  Notwithstanding the preceding, nothing will 
prohibit a group from making any claim as against the Performance Guarantee 
provided in Exhibit B. 

 
7.5 Insurance. Each Party will obtain, at its own cost, and keep in force adequate 

policies providing comprehensive general liability and other insurance in 
amounts consistent with industry standards as may be necessary to insure the 
Party and its agents and employees against any claim or claims for damages 
arising out of the performance of its obligations under this Agreement. If any 
Party procures one or more claims-made policies to satisfy its obligations 
under this Agreement, the Party will obtain any extended reporting 
endorsement (“tail coverage”) required to continuously maintain such 
coverage in effect for all acts, omissions, events or occurrences during the 
Term of this Agreement, without limit or restriction as to the making of the 
claim or demand. Evidence of the insurance coverage required under this 
Section will be made available to a Party upon request. 

 
7.6 Joint Ownership of Records; Confidentiality.  The Parties agree that 

records and documents that include proprietary information from both Parties 
and that constitute “protected health information” as that term is defined in 45 
CFR 160.103 and that pertain to administration of the GHP will be and remain 
the joint property of the GHP and Stealth. All Stealth Proprietary Materials 
are the sole property of Stealth, and all Group and GHP Proprietary Materials 
are the sole property of the Group and GHP. Each Party will have the right to 
protect the confidentiality of the Proprietary Materials and will not be required 
to make such Proprietary Materials available to anyone. Each Party agrees to 
maintain the confidentiality of any Proprietary Materials the other Party 
provides, and the Party will not provide any Proprietary Materials to any other 
person, including any data extracts or summary information, except to the 
extent such Proprietary Materials have been made available to the public 
without fault of the Party. In the event of a termination of this Agreement, 
Stealth will cooperate with the Group to provide copies of certain requested 

345

Item XII. 18.



8 

 
 

jointly owned information. Group agrees to reimburse Stealth for the 
reasonable cost of such assistance and copies. 

 
In performing its obligations pursuant to this Agreement, each Party may have 
access to and receive certain non-public information about the other Party and 
its affiliates which are considered confidential or proprietary to the disclosing 
Party.   

 
7.7 Records Retention.  Each Party agrees to maintain adequate books and 

records concerning the services provided hereunder in accordance with 
applicable laws and prudent standards of insurance record keeping, and 
further agrees to provide the other Party with necessary reports regarding the 
services it performs. 

 
7.8 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, its Addenda and Exhibits supersede and 

replace all prior oral or written agreements, if any, between Group and Stealth 
and is the entire agreement between the Parties. 

 
7.9 Non-Waiver.  The failure or refusal of any Party to enforce or enjoin any 

breach or violation of any provision of this Agreement will not be a waiver of 
that Party’s right to enforce any subsequent breach. 

 
7.10 Severability.  In the event any one or more of the terms, conditions or 

provisions contained in the Agreement or any application thereof is declared 
invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect by any arbitrator or court of 
competent jurisdiction, the validity, legality or enforceability of the 
remaining terms, conditions or provisions of this Agreement and any other 
application thereof will not in any way be affected or impaired thereby, and 
this Agreement will be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable 
provisions were not contained herein. 

 
7.11 Restriction on Assignment.  No Party will assign or transfer any of its rights, 

or delegate any of its duties or obligations hereunder, directly or indirectly, 
without the prior written consent of the other Parties. A Party may, with the 
prior written consent of the other Parties, assign this Agreement in its entirety 
to any person or entity, other than a direct competitor of a Party, which 
acquires the business of the assigning Party or with which the Party merges or 
is consolidated or affiliated, provided that the permitted assignee agrees in 
writing to be bound by the terms of this Agreement. Any attempted 
assignment, transfer or delegation in violation of this paragraph will be null 
and void. 

 
7.12 Notices.  Except for endorsements or amendments to this Agreement (which 

would be effective on the endorsement or amendment effective date), all 
notices, requests, demands, and other communications required or permitted 
to be given or made under the Agreement will be in writing and will be 

346

Item XII. 18.



9 

effective on the date of actual hard copy receipt (including by confirmed 
email receipt), and will be sent to Group or Stealth, as the case may be, to 
such address, person, or entity as set forth below, or as any Party will 
designate by notice to the other Parties in accordance herewith.  

7.13 Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding on the Parties and their 
respective heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns.  Neither 
Party may assign its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written 
consent of the other party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, 
delayed or conditioned.  

7.14 Disaster Recovery Plan.  While this Agreement is in effect, each Party, or 
their designated agent, shall have in place a disaster recovery plan that a Party 
will implement after a disaster occurs.  The plan must outline the necessary 
steps that the Party will take to completely restore all data related to and 
business applications needed to resume a Party’s responsibilities under this 
Agreement.  The plan must also indicate the number of times a comprehensive 
test-run will occur annually. 

7.15 Choice of Law.  This Agreement is governed by and shall be construed and 
enforced under the laws of the District of Columbia.  

7.16 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  Nothing in this Agreement, express or 
implied, is intended to confer on any person, other than the Parties hereto, any 
right or remedy of any nature whatsoever; and nothing in this Agreement will 
create, or be deemed to create, any rights, obligations or legal relationship 
between Stealth and any Participant. 

7.17 Force Majeure.  No Party will be deemed to be in violation of this 
Agreement if it is prevented from performing its obligations by events 
beyond its control including, without limitation, acts of God, war or 
insurrection, terrorism, flood or storm, strikes, or rule or action of the 
government or agency. The Parties will make a good faith effort, however, to 
assure Participants have access to services under the Program.   

7.18 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more 
counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, and all of which 
together will constitute one and the same instrument.  

Stealth Partner Group, LLC:

Signature:
Name and Title:
Date:

Employer:
Signature:
Name and Title:
Date:

Riva Dumeny

10/25/2023

347

Item XII. 18.

emerykam
Riva's Signature

Division Chief Operating Officer



10

EXHIBIT A  
Schedule of Services 

Stealth’s services consist of the following: 

• Conduct strategic planning sessions to review performance of Client’s stop-loss
coverage and establish future objectives and strategies to manage Group’s stop-loss
coverage to which this Agreement applies.

• Meet with the Group’s key designated representatives to discuss strategy and open
items.

• Develop mutually agreeable renewal action plan and timeline that meets the Group’s
stated objectives.

• Keep the Group informed of significant changes and/or trends in the stop-loss
marketplace.

• Analyze factors driving Group’s stop-loss costs, and review utilization reports to
determine causes of cost increases and develop mitigation strategies for the same.

• Benchmark various gene therapy treatments and evaluate the addition of new drugs
and therapeutics for inclusion within the program.

• Coordinate with captive managers and actuaries to ensure accurate and appropriate
pricing for the therapies and program costs.

• Collect, validate, and submit all payments under the Program to Company per the
terms of the CLIP and this Agreement.  The Company will then remit payment,
minus retail broker compensation and Company fees to Reinsurer.

• Lead Program claim presentation process.  Prior to submission of a Paid Claim to
Company for payment, Stealth will review the claim to ensure that it is accurate and
appropriate for submission.  Stealth may work with the GHP and its third party
administrator to ensure that each claim is appropriate for submission.

• Ensure proper distribution of reimbursement under the Program.  Only after Stealth
receives a payment from the Reinsurer through the Company, will Stealth remit
payment to the appropriate beneficiary (typically the Group or the Group’s stop-loss
carrier). Stealth and Company will not be responsible for any distributions or
reimbursements unless the same are received from the Reinsurer.  Stealth and
Company makes no representation as to the financial viability or security of
Reinsurer.

348

Item XII. 18.



a. For a Participant Diagnosed with a Covered Disease and the Covered Pharmaceutical is
dispensed from a pharmacy or provider approved by the Reinsured for a Covered Plan and is
initially administered during the applicable Treatment Period

b. For a Participant born within the Agreement Period or Run-In Period, if applicable, provided
they do not have an existing diagnosis for Covered Diseases.

c. Submitted to Stealth within the Claims Period.

The Benefit Period for a Covered Pharmaceutical shall be limited to the following: Agreement Year; 
and Treatment Period; and Claims Period: 

The Treatment Period in the case of Covered Pharmaceutical Zolgensma® will commence on the first 
day of the Agreement Year and will end twelve (12) months following the expiration of the Agreement 

11

EXHIBIT B. 
Specified Specialty Pharmaceutical Benefit Disbursement Terms 

DATE OF COVERAGE: 

Employer Name and Address: 

PREPARED BY:  

Amwins Gene Therapy Solutions 

PROGRAM STRUCTURE 

Where Employer funds the program as outlined herein, 

PROPOSED AGREEMENT TERM AND CONDITIONS: 
The term will begin on                            for a twelve-month period at the principal address of the 
Employer.  The term will utilize a first dollar risk structure and allow for a run out period equal to 
twelve (12) months from the date that the Employer attaches to the underlying Agreement.   

CLAIM BASIS: 

Eligible Covered Pharmaceutical Expenses that are: 

January 1, 2024

Effingham County Board of Commissioners

601 North Laurel Street

Springfield, GA  31329

349

Item XII. 18.



12

Year, provided that the Participant is born within the Agreement Year and the Covered Pharmaceutical 
is initially administered to a Participant within the Treatment Period.   

The Treatment Period in the case of Covered Pharmaceutical Luxturna® will commence on the first 
day of the Agreement Year and will end twelve (12) months following the expiration of the Agreement 
Year, provided that the Participant is diagnosed within the Agreement Year and the Covered 
Pharmaceutical is initially administered to a Participant within the Treatment Period. 

The Treatment Period in the case of Covered Pharmaceutical Spinraza® will commence on the first 
day of an Agreement Year and will end twenty-four (24) months following the expiration of the 
Agreement Year, provided that the Participant is born within the Agreement Year and the Covered 
Pharmaceutical is initially administered to a Participant within the Treatment Period. 

The Treatment Period in the case of Covered Pharmaceutical Zynteglo® will commence on the first 
day of the Agreement Year and will end twelve (12) months following the expiration of the Agreement 
Year, provided that the Participant is diagnosed within the Agreement Year and the Covered 
Pharmaceutical is initially administered to a Participant within the Treatment Period. 

The Treatment Period in the case of Covered Pharmaceutical Skysona® will commence on the first 
day of the Agreement Year and will end twelve (12) months following the expiration of the Agreement 
Year, provided that the Participant is diagnosed within the Agreement Year and the Covered 
Pharmaceutical is initially administered to a Participant within the Treatment Period. 

The Claims Period will commence on the first day of the Agreement Year and will end twenty-four (24) 
months following the expiration of the Agreement Year.  Claims for Covered Pharmaceuticals 
administered in the applicable Treatment Period must be paid and submitted to OutcomeRx within the 
Claims Period.  

Solely with respect to individuals treated with the Covered Pharmaceutical Zolgensma or Spinraza, 
Participants shall also include individuals born within the Run-In Period; provided they do not have an 
existing diagnosis for Covered Diseases, in which case, each of the Agreement Year, Treatment 
Period and Claims Period are deemed to include the period between the Run-In Period and the date 
of such Participant’s birth.  The Run-In Period is the ninety (90) day period immediately prior to (1) the 
commencement for the initial Agreement Year or (2) the date a Participant is first covered by a 
Covered Plan during the Agreement Year. 

COVERED PLANS: 

Commercial Employer Stop Loss Policies that include coverage for the Covered Pharmaceuticals (and 
are produced by Stealth Partner Group, LLC) 

All other population types are excluded unless specifically listed above. 

RETENTION AND LIMITS 

100% of Net Loss per Participant 

COVERED DISEASES, COVERED PHARMACEUTICALS & MAXIMUMS 

350

Item XII. 18.



13

COVERED DISEASES COVERED 
PHARMACEUTICALS 

MAXIMUM PAYABLE PER 
COVERED PERSON PER BENEFIT 

PERIOD 

Spinal Muscular Atrophy 
(“SMA”) Type 1 and Type 2 • Zolgensma

• Spinraza
$2,200,000 

Leber Congenital 
Amaurosis (“LCA”) • Luxturna $850,000 

Cerebral 
adrenoleukodystrophy 
(“CALD”) • Skysona $3,000,000 

Transfusion Dependent 
Beta Thalassemia (“TDT”) • Zynteglo $2,800,000 

 EXCLUSIONS: 

1. Liabilities for a Covered Disease diagnosed and prescribed a Covered Pharmaceutical prior to
the Agreement Year.

2. Solely with respect to Covered Pharmaceuticals Zolgensma and Spinraza, Covered Expenses
for a Participant born prior to the Agreement Year or, if applicable, the Run-In Period.

3. Solely with respect to Covered Pharmaceuticals Luxturna®, Zynteglo® and Skysona®,
Covered Expenses for a Covered Person Diagnosed with a Covered Disease prior to
Agreement Year.

4. Expenses for Covered Pharmaceuticals that are administered “off-label” or outside of the
proposal approved by the Food & Drug Administration (FDA).  Approved indications are defined
as the following and additional exclusions may apply:

a. Zolgensma - FDA U.S. Food and Administration Vaccines, Bloods and
Biologics.  Zolgensma Prescribing Information.  Version: May
2019 https://www.fda.gov/media/126109/download [Accessed July 2020].

b. Luxturna - FDA U.S. Food and Drug Administration Vaccines, Bloods and
Biologics.  Luxturna Prescribing
Information. https://www.fda.gov/media/109906/download [Accessed July 2020].

c. Spinraza - FDA US Food and Drug Administration. Drugs@FDA FDA-Approved
Drugs.  Spinraza Prescribing Information. Version: June
2020 https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2020/209531s010lbl.pdf
[Accessed July 2020].

d. Zynteglo® - FDA U.S. Food and Administration Vaccines, Bloods and
Biologics.  ZYNTEGLO® Prescribing Information.  Version: August
2022 https://www.fda.gov/media/160991/download [Accessed April 2023].

e. Skysona® - FDA U.S. Food and Administration Vaccines, Bloods and
Biologics.  SKYSONA® Prescribing Information.  Version: September
2023 https://www.fda.gov/media/161640/download [Accessed April 2023].

351

Item XII. 18.

https://www.fda.gov/media/126109/download
https://www.fda.gov/media/109906/download
https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2020/209531s010lbl.pdf
https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/label/2020/209531s010lbl.pdf
https://www.fda.gov/media/160991/download
https://www.fda.gov/media/161640/download


14

5. Expenses for Spinraza® initially approved for a Participant over two years of age.

6. Covered Expenses incurred while the Covered Plan is not in force for the Participant, or for a
person not covered under the Covered Plan.

7. Deductibles, co-payment amounts, or any other expenses which are not payable under the
terms of the Covered Plan or expenses which are payable by the Covered Plan, or to the
Covered Plan from any other source.

8. Extra-contractual Obligations / Expenses resulting from any extra or non-contractual damages
or legal fees and expenses for the defense thereof, or any fines or statutory penalties.

9. Legal expenses of any kind or description, including legal expenses related to or incurred for
the confinement of a Participant or any compulsory process to adopt, abstain from, or cease to
continue a particular mode of treatment, care or therapy.

10. Expenses arising out of, caused by, contributed to or in consequence of war, declared or
undeclared, or any act or hazard of such war.

11. Claim payments not administered or paid according to the Covered Plan, or for which there is
no documented proof of loss, unless the payment was authorized in writing by the Company.

12. Unless approved by Reinsurer, Business derived from any pool, association, including joint
UW associations, syndicate, exchange, plan or other facility directly as a member, subscriber
or participant, or indirectly by way of reinsurance or assessments; unless otherwise indicated
in the Covered Plan section above.

13. Solely with respect to Covered Plans providing benefits pursuant to Medicaid, amounts
otherwise included in the definition of Covered Expenses by virtue of the inclusion of the “Run-
In Period” to the definition of the Agreement Year, Benefit Period, Claims Period, Covered
Person and/or Treatment Period.

14. Assumed Reinsurance

15. Excess Policy Limits

16. Ex-Gratia Payments

17. Covered expenses incurred after a policy terminates due to non-payment of premium unless
the reinsurer authorizes reinstatement of the policy in writing.

18. Covered expenses that constitute reimbursable benefits under a separate stop loss or excess
loss policy between the reinsurer and covered plan.

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEE 

1. Stealth guarantees that Group’s funding of its Specified Pharmaceutical Benefit Plan as
described herein shall not require additional funding from what is specified in Section
3 of the Services Agreement to which this Exhibit B is also attached.

2. This Performance Guarantee is subject to cancellation or revision prior to the acceptance of

the guarantee pursuant to Section 7 below.

3. Stealth will collect such appropriate fees and costs as outlined in this Agreement, and will

distribute such disbursements and applicable reimbursements as necessary for the

administration of the Amwins Gene Therapy Solutions program.  Stealth will distribute any

applicable disbursements and reimbursements only after it receives such disbursements and

reimbursements from the Company as they are defined in the Agreement, and will not be

liable or responsible to any party for such disbursements and reimbursements unless they

are actually received.

352

Item XII. 18.



4. After diligent and complete review, all the information provided and/or to be provided as

requested in this Performance Guarantee to evaluate the risk is true and complete; that any

agreement issued is in reliance upon the truth of such statements, declarations, and

representations; and that such statements, declarations, and representations will form a part

of the Agreement.

5. Employer will cooperate in any requests for information including, but not limited to, the

validation of any claim or request for disbursement.  Any inaccuracy known by the employer

or the employer’s broker at the time of providing such information or failure to disclose any

such known information, including all claims or potential claims, paid or pending, can change

the terms, conditions or premiums, or can void applicability.

6. Nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to confer to any person, other than the parties

hereto, any right or remedy of any nature whatsoever; and nothing will create, or be deemed

to create, any rights, obligations or legal relationship between the parties.

7. The receipt of the first month’s funding and deposit of any check drawn in connection with

this Performance Guarantee shall constitute an acceptance of liability.

Upon receipt and acceptance of the following items, the guarantee will be effective for all 
Participants not explicitly excluded by the Exclusion criteria herein: 

1. First month’s funding, and
2. Fully executed copy of this Performance Guarantee

All individuals under covered business, enrolled in the plan and meeting the eligibility definitions are 
covered. 

The guarantee provided herein is based upon information provided by the employer or the employer’s 
broker.  Upon signing this Performance Guarantee, the guarantee is effective as of the beginning of the 
Agreement Term. In the event of any differences in terms between the Performance Guarantee and the 
Agreement, the Agreement language will supersede this Performance Guarantee.  This Performance 
Guarantee will become part of the Agreement when issued.   

By signing below, the employer’s representative agrees to the terms as stated herein and warrants they 
are duly authorized to execute this acceptance on behalf of the employer: 

Stealth Partner Group, LLC: 
Signature: 

Name and Title:  

Date:  

Employer: 

Signature: 

Name and Title:

Date:

15

Riva Dumney Division Chief Operating Officer

353

Item XII. 18.

emerykam
Riva's Signature



Effingham County Board of Commissioners

Medical Plan

Self-Funded Rates & Factors - Firm Proposals

January 1, 2024 Renewal Date

Stop Loss Outline Current Revised Renewal Option 1 Option 2
TPA / Network Name Meritain / Aetna Meritain / Aetna Meritain / Aetna Meritain / Aetna

Stop Loss Carrier Sun Life Financial Group Sun Life Financial Group Voya Symetra

Specific Stop Loss (SSL) $125,000 $125,000 $125,000 $125,000

Contract Basis 12/15 12/15 24/12 24/12

Coverages Included Med/Rx Med/Rx Med/Rx Med/Rx

Aggregate Stop Loss (ASL) 125% 125% 120% 125%

Contract Basis 12/12 with TLO 12/12 with TLO 12/12 with TLO 12/12 with TLO

Coverages Included Med/Rx Med/Rx Med/Rx Med/Rx

Rate Cap 40% 40% 40% 50%

No New Laser Yes Yes Yes Yes

Lasers None None None None

Aggreagte Accomodation Included Included Included Included

Disclosure Status FIRM through 10/26/2023 FIRM through 10/11/23 FIRM through 10/19/23

Fixed Costs
Administration Employee 249 $39.45 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15

Employee + Spouse 38 $39.45 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15

Employee + Child(ren) 62 $39.45 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15

Employee + Spouse & Child(ren) 57 $39.45 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15

Add. Fees & Credits ($3,000) ($3,000) ($3,000) ($3,000)

Annual Total $189,200 $212,099 $212,099 $212,099

Percentage Change 12.1% 12.1% 12.1%

Specific SL Premium Employee 249 $184.19 $179.96 $117.80 $152.29

Employee + Spouse 38 $447.71 $437.43 $244.29 $303.35

Employee + Child(ren) 62 $383.76 $374.95 $195.43 $268.49

Employee + Spouse & Child(ren) 57 $660.92 $645.75 $465.65 $455.65

Aggregate SL Premium Employee 249 $8.67 $8.67 $14.54 $5.99

Employee + Spouse 38 $8.67 $8.67 $14.54 $5.99

Employee + Child(ren) 62 $8.67 $8.67 $14.54 $5.99

Employee + Spouse & Child(ren) 57 $8.67 $8.67 $14.54 $5.99

Annual Total $1,534,342 $1,500,085 $998,126 $1,133,975

-$34,258 -$536,216 -$400,368

Percentage Change -2.2% -34.9% -26.1%

Annual Total Fixed Costs $1,723,543 $1,712,183 $1,210,225 $1,346,073

-$11,359 -$513,318 ($377,469)

Percentage Change -0.7% -29.8% -21.9%

Claims Liability
Maximum Claims Employee 249 $739.89 $739.89 $793.63 $725.50

Employee + Spouse 38 $1,502.56 $1,502.56 $1,580.92 $1,445.21

Employee + Child(ren) 62 $1,294.57 $1,294.57 $1,399.19 $1,279.07

Employee + Spouse & Child(ren) 57 $2,195.95 $2,195.95 $2,374.56 $2,170.72

Laser Liability $0 $0 $0 $0

Annual Total $5,361,149 $5,361,149 $5,757,462 $5,263,210

$0 $396,314 ($97,938)

Percentage Change 0.0% 7.4% -1.8%

Total Cost
Annual Total Expected Costs $6,012,462 $6,001,102 $6,008,110 $5,556,642

Change from Current ($11,359) ($4,352) ($455,820)

Percentage Change -0.2% -0.1% -7.6%

Annual Total Maximum Costs $7,084,691 $7,073,332 $6,967,687 $6,609,284

Change from Current ($11,359) ($117,004) ($475,408)

Percentage Change -0.2% -1.7% -6.7%

Runout Claims $536,115 $536,115 $599,736 $526,321

Runout Fees $16,017 $17,925 $17,925 $17,925

Total Runout Liability (not included in totals above) $552,132 $554,040 $617,661 $544,246

Notes

1. Additional fees may apply in the case of change in administrators, move to fully insured, or other termination of a third party.

2. Amwins Gene Therapy Rider (GTS5) program) includes coverage for multiple gene therapy drugs for a $1.99 pepm fee.

Moving from 12/15 Gapless to 24/12 contract

Claims incurred 1/1/2023 through 12/31/2023 and paid 1/1/2023 through 3/31/2024 will apply to the prior Stop Loss carrier.

Claims incurred 1/1/2023 through 12/31/2023 and paid 4/1/2024 through 12/31/2024 will apply to the Voya Stop Loss Coverage.

Claims incurred 1/1/2024 through 12/31/2024 and paid 1/1/2024 through 12/31/2024 will apply to the Voya Stop Loss Coverage.

AMWINS Proposals Options 1

354

Item XII. 18.



Medical Marketing Results

355

Item XII. 18.



|  7

Marketing Results & Recommendations – Medical Stop Loss

 USI marketed with 24 Stop Loss carriers. The best options are presented.

 Symetra 24/12 contract quote shows a 25.7% savings on Specific SL premiums, creating an overall

premium savings of $394K. They set the claims liability to $5,257,121. The total expected cost is

$5,557,778 which is a 7.6% reduction over current.

 Voya 24/12 contract quote shows a 37.3% savings on Specific SL premiums, creating a premium

savings of of $572K. We feel we can get Voya to improve their 2024 projected claims based on

our own internal underwriting, and competitive market data. The total expected cost is

$6,032,761 which is only a .2% increase over current.

 The SunLife contract is a gapless contract. There are definitely some advantages to having this

type of contract at renewal. The problem arises when you have to move away from the

incumbent carrier when a gapless coverage is present. The Voya 24/12 contract provides savings

of $572k, but also allows for substantial protection from a potential claim falling through the gap.

USI suggests moving to Voya. Additionally, we propose considering also including the Gene

Therapy Program GTS-5 with Amwins.

 The estimated cost for program is a little more than $10,000/year. The benefit really lies in

the prevention of a higher stop loss renewal the following year by reducing the overall loss

and claims history for the client and the carrier.

 Maximum payable per covered person per benefit period are $850,00 for Luxturna,

$2,200,000 for Zolgensma and Spinraza, $2,800,000 for Zynteglo and $3,000,000 for

Skysona. The cost of the program is $1.99 PEPM.

356

Item XII. 18.



Effingham County Board of Commissioners

Stop Loss Market Review List

January 1, 2024 Renewal Date

Carrier Coverage Requested Status Notes

SunLife - Incumbent Stop Loss Presented Revised SL rates from +12% to -2.2%

AmWins Quotes

Voya Stop Loss Presented Proposed a -31.7% and -37.3% quotes in comparison to current SL rates

IOA Re Stop Loss Presented Proposed a -37.8% quote, SL integration fees will apply

IISI Stop Loss Presented Proposed a -26% quote, SL integration fees will apply

Summit Re Stop Loss Presented Proposed a -24% quote, SL integration fees will apply

USI Alternative  Quotes

Symetra Stop Loss Presented Proposed a -14.2% quote on Spec. Premium, and -1.7% for Aggregate Liability

Crum & Foster Stop Loss Presented Proposed a -12% quote in comparision to current SL rates

HM Life Stop Loss Received Uncompetitive rates

Berkshire Hathaway Stop Loss Declined Uncompetitive rates

Optum Stop Loss Declined Uncompetitive rates

SwissRe Stop Loss Declined Uncompetitive rates

Notes

1. Multiple Stop Loss carriers quoted and DTQ Effingham County's renewal coverage. The carriers listed above are USI's perferred and most competitve offers for Effingham's 

2024 Stop Loss renewal.

CONFIDENTIAL | © 2018 USI Insurance Services. All rights reserved. | Effingham County - Medical Renewal Analysis.v3 - Carrier Marketing List, 10/9/2023

357

Item XII. 18.



Effingham County Board of Commissioners

Medical Plan

Self-Funded Rates & Factors - Firm Proposals

January 1, 2024 Renewal Date AMWINS Proposal AMWINS Proposal

Stop Loss Outline Current Revised Renewal Option 1 Option 2 Option 3

TPA / Network Name Meritain / Aetna Meritain / Aetna Meritain / Aetna Meritain / Aetna Meritain / Aetna

Stop Loss Carrier Sun Life Financial Group Sun Life Financial Group Voya Voya Symetra

Specific Stop Loss (SSL) $125,000 $125,000 $125,000 $125,000 $125,000

Contract Basis 12/15 12/15 12/15 24/12 24/12

Coverages Included Med/Rx Med/Rx Med/Rx Med/Rx Med/Rx

Fixed Costs

Administration Employee 249 $39.45 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15

Employee + Spouse 38 $39.45 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15

Employee + Child(ren) 62 $39.45 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15

Employee + Spouse & Child(ren) 57 $39.45 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15

Add. Fees & Credits ($3,000) ($3,000) ($3,000) ($3,000) ($3,000)

Annual Total $189,200 $212,099 $212,099 $212,099 $212,099

Percentage Change 12.1% 12.1% 12.1% 12.1%

Specific SL Premium Employee 249 $184.19 $179.96 $128.47 $117.80 $153.13

Employee + Spouse 38 $447.71 $437.43 $266.42 $244.29 $305.04

Employee + Child(ren) 62 $383.76 $374.95 $213.13 $195.43 $269.97

Employee + Spouse & Child(ren) 57 $660.92 $645.75 $507.83 $465.65 $458.17

Aggregate SL Premium Employee 249 $8.67 $8.67 $7.63 $7.27 $5.97

Employee + Spouse 38 $8.67 $8.67 $7.63 $7.27 $5.97

Employee + Child(ren) 62 $8.67 $8.67 $7.63 $7.27 $5.97

Employee + Spouse & Child(ren) 57 $8.67 $8.67 $7.63 $7.27 $5.97

Annual Total $1,534,342 $1,500,085 $1,048,454 $962,707 $1,139,982

-$34,258 -$485,889 -$571,636 -$394,360

Percentage Change -2.2% -31.7% -37.3% -25.7%

Annual Total Fixed Costs $1,723,543 $1,712,183 $1,260,552 $1,174,805 $1,352,081

-$11,359 -$462,990 -$548,737 ($371,462)

Percentage Change -0.7% -26.9% -31.8% -21.6%

Claims Liability

Maximum Claims Employee 249 $739.89 $739.89 $837.05 $837.05 $724.66

Employee + Spouse 38 $1,502.56 $1,502.56 $1,667.41 $1,667.41 $1,443.54

Employee + Child(ren) 62 $1,294.57 $1,294.57 $1,475.73 $1,475.73 $1,277.59

Employee + Spouse & Child(ren) 57 $2,195.95 $2,195.95 $2,504.47 $2,504.47 $2,168.21

Laser Liability $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Annual Total $5,361,149 $5,361,149 $6,072,445 $6,072,445 $5,257,121

$0 $711,296 $711,296 ($104,028)

Percentage Change 0.0% 13.3% 13.3% -1.9%

Total Cost

Annual Total Expected Costs $6,012,462 $6,001,102 $6,118,508 $6,032,761 $5,557,778

Change from Current ($11,359) $106,047 $20,300 ($454,684)

Percentage Change -0.2% 1.8% 0.3% -7.6%

Annual Total Maximum Costs $7,084,691 $7,073,332 $7,332,997 $7,247,250 $6,609,202

Change from Current ($11,359) $248,306 $162,559 ($475,489)

Percentage Change -0.2% 3.5% 2.3% -6.7%

Runout Claims $536,115 $536,115 $607,244 $607,244 $525,712

Runout Fees $16,017 $17,925 $17,925 $17,925 $17,925

Total Runout Liability (not included in totals above) $552,132 $554,040 $625,169 $625,169 $543,637

Notes

1. Additional fees may apply in the case of change in administrators, move to fully insured, or other termination of a third party.

2. Amwins Gene Therapy Rider (GTS5) program) includes coverage for multiple gene therapy drugs for a $1.99 pepm fee.

CONFIDENTIAL | © 2018 USI Insurance Services. All rights reserved. | Effingham County - Medical Renewal Analysis.v4 - Meritain $125k - Firm Offer (2), 10/10/2023

Aggregate Stop Loss (ASL) 125% 125% 125% 125% 125%

Contract Basis 12/12 with TLO 12/12 with TLO 12/12 with TLO 12/12 with TLO 12/12 with TLO

Coverages Included Med/Rx Med/Rx Med/Rx Med/Rx Med/Rx

Rate Cap 40% 40% 40% 40% 50%

No New Laser Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

Lasers None None None None None

Aggregate Accomodation Included Included Included Included Included

Disclosure Status FIRM through 10/26/2023 FIRM through 10/11/23 FIRM through 10/11/23 FIRM through 10/19/23

358

Item XII. 18.



Effingham County Board of Commissioners

Medical Plan

Self-Funded Rates & Factors - Firm Proposals

January 1, 2024 Renewal Date

Stop Loss Outline Current

TPA / Network Name Meritain / Aetna

Stop Loss Carrier Sun Life Financial Group

Specific Stop Loss (SSL) $125,000

Contract Basis 12/15

Coverages Included Med/Rx

Aggregate Stop Loss (ASL) 125%

Contract Basis 12/12 with TLO

Coverages Included Med/Rx

Rate Cap 40%

No New Laser Yes

Lasers None

Aggreagte Accomodation Included

Disclosure Status

Fixed Costs

Administration Employee 249 $39.45

Employee + Spouse 38 $39.45

Employee + Child(ren) 62 $39.45

Employee + Spouse & Child(ren) 57 $39.45

Add. Fees & Credits ($3,000)

Annual Total $189,200

Percentage Change

Specific SL Premium Employee 249 $184.19

Employee + Spouse 38 $447.71

Employee + Child(ren) 62 $383.76

Employee + Spouse & Child(ren) 57 $660.92

Aggregate SL Premium Employee 249 $8.67

Employee + Spouse 38 $8.67

Employee + Child(ren) 62 $8.67

Employee + Spouse & Child(ren) 57 $8.67

Annual Total $1,534,342

Percentage Change

Annual Total Fixed Costs $1,723,543

Percentage Change

Claims Liability

Maximum Claims Employee 249 $739.89

Employee + Spouse 38 $1,502.56

Employee + Child(ren) 62 $1,294.57

Employee + Spouse & Child(ren) 57 $2,195.95

Laser Liability $0

Annual Total $5,361,149

Percentage Change

Total Cost

Annual Total Expected Costs $6,012,462

Change from Current

Percentage Change

Annual Total Maximum Costs $7,084,691

Change from Current

Percentage Change

Runout Claims $536,115

Runout Fees $16,017

Total Runout Liability (not included in totals above) $552,132

Notes

1. Additional fees may apply in the case of change in administrators, move to fully insured, or other termination of a third party.

2. Amwins Gene Therapy Rider (GTS5) program) includes coverage for multiple gene therapy drugs for a $1.99 pepm fee.

AMWINS Proposal AMWINS Proposal

Option 4 Option 5 Option 6 Option 7

Meritain / Aetna Meritain / Aetna Meritain / Aetna Meritain / Aetna

IOA Re IISI Symetra Crum & Foster

$125,000 $125,000 $125,000 $125,000

12/15 12/15 12/15 24/12

Med/Rx Med/Rx Med/Rx Med/Rx

125% 125% 125% 125%

12/12 with TLO 12/12 with 2 Month TLO 12/12 with TLO 24/12 with TLO

Med/Rx Med/Rx Med/Rx Med/Rx

40% 50% 50% 50%

Yes Yes Yes Yes

None None None None

$1.50 $1.50 Included Included

FIRM through 10/10/23 FIRM through 10/3/23 FIRM through 10/19/23 Firm

$44.15 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15

$44.15 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15

$44.15 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15

$44.15 $44.15 $44.15 $44.15

($3,000) ($3,000) ($3,000) ($3,000)

$212,099 $212,099 $212,099 $212,099

12.1% 12.1% 12.1% 12.1%

$128.88 $152.62 $156.36 $172.77

$243.65 $304.02 $311.46 $344.15

$217.16 $269.07 $275.65 $304.60

$359.35 $456.64 $467.82 $516.92

$10.37 $5.83 $5.97 $10.67

$10.37 $5.83 $5.97 $10.67

$10.37 $5.83 $5.97 $10.67

$10.37 $5.83 $5.97 $10.67

$954,083 $1,135,595 $1,163,388 $1,305,349

-$580,260 -$398,747 -$370,955 ($228,993)

-37.8% -26.0% -24.2% -14.9%

$1,166,182 $1,347,694 $1,375,487 $1,517,448

-$557,361 -$375,849 ($348,056) ($206,095)

-32.3% -21.8% -20.2% -12.0%

$837.05 $824.48 $724.66 $776.72

$1,667.41 $1,642.37 $1,443.54 $1,547.23

$1,475.73 $1,453.57 $1,277.59 $1,369.35

$2,504.47 $2,466.85 $2,168.21 $2,323.95

$0 $0 $0 $0

$6,072,445 $5,981,248 $5,257,121 $5,634,754

$711,296 $620,100 ($104,028) $273,606

13.3% 11.6% -1.9% 5.1%

$6,024,138 $6,132,693 $5,581,183 $6,025,251

$11,676 $120,231 ($431,278) $12,790

0.2% 2.0% -7.2% 0.2%

$7,238,627 $7,328,943 $6,632,607 $7,152,202

$153,935 $244,251 ($452,084) $67,511

2.2% 3.4% -6.4% 1.0%

$607,244 $598,125 $525,712 $563,475

$17,925 $17,925 $17,925 $17,925

$625,169 $616,050 $543,637 $581,400

CONFIDENTIAL | © 2018 USI Insurance Services. All rights reserved. | Effingham County - Medical Renewal Analysis.v4 - Meritain $125k - Firm Offer (2), 10/10/2023

359

Item XII. 18.



|  8

Marketing Results & Recommendations – Medical TPA and PBM

With the results from our Network Discount Analysis in July, we thought it prudent to market your

coverages.

 With all the carriers, we saw an improvement in network discounts. Anthem looks to be the

most favorable with projected savings to be over $500K in a mature year.

 Additionally, USI marketed the pharmacy benefit program with the current CVS network. The

rebates by Employers Health are projected to have an improvement over the current rebate

structure. We believe a further analysis of pharmacy terms and clinical programs could bring

additional savings.

 USI is proposing an extended timeline for the TPA and PBM coverages due to disruption and

Implementation challenges. We propose the TPA and PBM to move for the 2025 plan year.

Below is a general timeline needed to implement these changes with the least amount of

disruption:

 TPA and PBM market review in March and with marketing to follow.

 Marketing proposal review in June

 Disruption analysis after picking potential partners after review

 ECBOC to vote on proposal July

 Begin Implementation of new plans for January 1st, 2025 change in August

 Employee Navigator set up and testing in September

 Prescription disruption employee reports and education in October
360

Item XII. 18.



Effingham County Board of Commissioners

Medical Plan

Administrative Fees

January 1, 2024 Renewal Date

Stop Loss Outline Current Renewal Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 Option 6 Option 7 Option 8

Third Party Administrator Meritain Meritain Anthem Trustmark Trustmark UMR Allegiance Allied MedCost Lucent

Network Name Aetna Aetna Anthem Cigna Anthem UHC Cigna Cigna MedCost Anthem

Network Discount (USI Network Analysis) 56.0% 56.0% 64.7% 59.8% 64.7% 60.1% 59.8% 59.8% N/A 64.7%

Pharmacy Benefit Manager (PBM) CVS CVS CarelonRx TBD TBD OptumRx Cigna RxCare Alliance MedCost ProAct

Stop Loss Carrier Sun Life Financial 

Group

Sun Life Financial 

Group

Anthem TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD

Per Employee Per Month Fees

Medical Administration $31.00 $32.55 $15.39 $22.61 $27.76 $35.90 $24.78 $28.00 $42.00 $20.00

Network Access Fee Included Included Included $15.00 $10.00 Included $7.09 $17.17 Included $10.00

PBM Fee Included Included Included Included Included $6.00 Included Included $1.00

Disease Management $1.25 $4.40 Included Included Included $12.00

Teledoc $1.55 $1.55 Included $1.30 $1.30 Included $0.25 Included $2.00

Rx Smart Savings $1.85 $1.85 Included Included

Health Navigator $3.80 $3.80 $4.00

Monthly Accomodation $1.00

ASO Enhanced Program $1.65

Stop Loss Cordination $2.00

Wellness Credit ($3,000) ($3,000) ($25,000) ($5,000)

Total Cost Ee

Total PEPM Fees 406     $39.45 $44.15 $18.04 $38.91 $39.06 $41.90 $32.12 $51.17 $42.00 $45.00

Wellness Credit ($3,000) ($3,000) ($25,000) ($5,000)

Annual PEPM Fee Total $189,200 $212,099 $62,891 $189,570 $190,300 $204,137 $151,489 $249,300 $204,624 $219,240

Change from Current $22,898 ($126,310) $369 $1,100 $14,936 ($37,712) $60,100 $15,424 $30,040 

Percentage Change 12.1% -66.8% 0.2% 0.6% 7.9% -19.9% 31.8% 8.2% 15.9%

Notes

Possible Livinti PBM with $4 per member credit

1. Additional fees may apply in the case of change in administrators, move to fully insured, or other termination of a third party.

2. In the event Effingham County BOC purchases a stop loss policy from one of Meritain's preferred stop loss carriers, additional fees may apply.

CONFIDENTIAL | © 2018 USI Insurance Services. All rights reserved. | Effingham County - Medical Renewal Analysis.v4 - Medical Admin Detail, 10/10/2023

361

Item XII. 18.



Effingham County Board of Commissioners

Rx Plan

Pharmacy Benefit Manager Proposals

January 1, 2024 Renewal Date

Pharmacy Benefit Manager Current Renewal Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5

PBM / Network CVS CVS CVS/ER's Health CarelonRx Livinti Cigna OptumRx

Retail

Brand Discount % 19.25% 19.25% 20.00% 20.00% 21.20% 20.50% 19.60%

Generic Discount % 84.50% 84.50% 85.30% 85.75% 84.00% 85.50% 86.00%

Dispensing Fee $0.60 $0.60 $0.40 $0.45 $1.40 $4.00 $0.45

Retail 90

Brand Discount % 25.00% 25.00% 22.40% 22.00% 19.45% 23.50% 23.00%

Generic Discount % 88.00% 88.00% 85.30% 87.75% 85.75% 86.50% 87.00%

Dispensing Fee $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.45 $1.00 $0.00 $0.00

Mail Order

Brand Discount % 25.00% 25.00% 25.00% 24.75% 24.50% 25.00% 25.75%

Generic Discount % 88.00% 88.00% 88.50% 87.75% 87.50% 88.25% 88.50%

Dispensing Fee $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

Specialty Pharmacy

Brand Discount % 20.50% 20.50% 19.10% 22.75% 20.0% 22.00% 20.00%

Dispensing Fee $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1.50 $7.50

Rebates per Brand Claim

Retail 30 $225.49 $225.49 $369.32 $260.00 $220.30 $275.93 $240.00

Retail 90 $700.57 $700.57 $880.57 $840.00 $407.90 $750.34 $675.00

Mail Order $700.57 $700.57 $994.38 $820.00 $831.40 $850.14 $675.00

Specialty $2,160.63 $2,160.63 $2,789.96 $3,075.00 $1,592.00 $3,825.70 $2,380.00

Average Annual Rebates $293,607 $317,095 $717,793 $128,621 TBD TBD TBD

Change from Current $23,489 $424,186 -$164,986

Percent change 8.0% 144.5% -56.2%

Average / Estimated Annual Rx Cost $1,400,178 $1,512,192 $770,567 $1,477,433 TBD TBD TBD

Change from Current $112,014 -$629,611 $77,256

Percent change 8.0% -45.0% 5.5%

Notes

1. All PBM services shown are examples of the core/basic discounts and rebates for each PBM

CONFIDENTIAL | © 2018 USI Insurance Services. All rights reserved. | Effingham County - Medical Renewal Analysis.v4 - PBM, 10/9/2023

362

Item XII. 18.



|  9

Marketing Results & Recommendations – Medical TPA and PBM

For the 2024 Renewal, USI proposes to stay with Meritain.

 Medical Plan Contributions

 Contributions are extremely competitive with peer groups. USI proposes to pass

100% on the plan cost increase to the employees. This starts to build a premium

differential for the following year.

 In consideration of adding the wellness plan, we propose this timeline:

 Year 1 - Focus will be to set up Year 2 requirement and savings.

 Year 2 – Mandatory employee wellness exam for premium differential.

 Year 3 – Mandatory employee and spouse wellness exam for premium 

differential.

 Medical Plan Designs remaining the same with addition of an HSA plan.

363

Item XII. 18.



Effingham County Board of Commissioners

Voya 's Renewal Matrix

Monthly EE 

Contribution

Monthly ER 

Contribution

% Paid by 

ER

Monthly EE 

Contribution

Monthly ER 

Contribution

% Paid by 

ER

Monthly EE 

Contribution

Monthly ER 

Contribution

% Paid by 

ER

Monthly EE 

Contribution

Monthly ER 

Contribution

% Paid by 

ER

EMP 153 $998.72 $9.76 $988.96 99.0% $1,012.76 $9.76 $1,003.00 99.0% $9.90 $1,002.87 99.0% $16.78 $995.98 98.3% $23.80 $988.96 97.6%

ESP 22 $2,197.21 $174.46 $2,022.75 92.1% $2,228.11 $174.46 $2,053.65 92.2% $176.91 $2,051.19 92.1% $189.91 $2,038.20 91.5% $205.36 $2,022.75 90.8%

ECH 46 $1,657.87 $332.28 $1,325.59 80.0% $1,681.18 $332.28 $1,348.90 80.2% $336.95 $1,344.23 80.0% $343.94 $1,337.25 79.5% $355.59 $1,325.59 78.8%

FAM 36 $2,756.48 $512.80 $2,243.68 81.4% $2,795.24 $512.80 $2,282.44 81.7% $520.01 $2,275.23 81.4% $532.18 $2,263.06 81.0% $551.56 $2,243.68 80.3%

Annual Total 257 $4,519,657 $468,925 $4,050,732 89.6% $4,583,209 $468,925 $4,114,284 89.8% $475,519 $4,107,690 89.6% $500,701 $4,082,508 89.1% $532,477 $4,050,732 88.4%

EMP 95 $1,090.87 $93.42 $997.45 91.4% $1,106.21 $93.42 $1,012.79 91.6% $94.73 $1,011.48 91.4% $101.09 $1,005.12 90.9% $108.76 $997.45 90.2%

ESP 16 $2,399.93 $284.46 $2,115.47 88.1% $2,433.68 $284.46 $2,149.22 88.3% $288.46 $2,145.22 88.1% $301.33 $2,132.34 87.6% $318.21 $2,115.47 86.9%

ECH 18 $1,810.84 $458.38 $1,352.46 74.7% $1,836.30 $458.38 $1,377.92 75.0% $464.83 $1,371.48 74.7% $471.11 $1,365.19 74.3% $483.84 $1,352.46 73.7%

FAM 20 $3,010.78 $666.12 $2,344.66 77.9% $3,053.12 $666.12 $2,387.00 78.2% $675.49 $2,377.63 77.9% $687.29 $2,365.83 77.5% $708.46 $2,344.66 76.8%

Annual Total 149 $2,818,107 $419,994 $2,398,113 85.1% $2,857,733 $419,994 $2,437,739 85.3% $425,900 $2,431,833 85.1% $439,807 $2,417,926 84.6% $459,620 $2,398,113 83.9%

Grand Total Annual 406 $7,337,764 $888,919 $6,448,845 87.9% $7,440,942 $888,919 $6,552,023 88.1% $901,418 $6,539,524 87.9% $940,508 $6,500,434 87.4% $992,097 $6,448,845 86.7%

Change from Current $ $103,178 $0 $103,178 $12,499 $90,679 $51,589 $51,589 $103,178 $0

Change from Current % 1.4% 0.0% 1.6% 1.4% 1.4% 5.8% 0.8% 11.6% 0.0%

January 1, 2024

Employee Contribution Analysis

January 1, 2023 January 1, 2024

Premium 

Equivalents

Monthly EE 

Contribution

Monthly ER 

Contribution

% Paid by 

ER

Premium 

Equivalents

Base Plan

Buy-Up Plan

Maintain Current Contributions
Maintain Current % of Rates

(Same Cost Share)
Pass through 50% of Increase Pass through 100% of Increase

8 of 8 10/10/2023Contributions

364

Item XII. 18.



Effingham County Board of Commissioners

SunLife's Renewal Matrix

Monthly EE 

Contribution

Monthly ER 

Contribution

% Paid by 

ER

Monthly EE 

Contribution

Monthly ER 

Contribution

% Paid by 

ER

Monthly EE 

Contribution

Monthly ER 

Contribution

% Paid by 

ER

Monthly EE 

Contribution

Monthly ER 

Contribution

% Paid by 

ER

EMP 153 $998.72 $9.76 $988.96 99.0% $1,086.09 $9.76 $1,076.33 99.1% $10.61 $1,075.48 99.0% $53.45 $1,032.65 95.1% $97.13 $988.96 91.1%

ESP 22 $2,197.21 $174.46 $2,022.75 92.1% $2,389.44 $174.46 $2,214.98 92.7% $189.72 $2,199.71 92.1% $270.57 $2,118.86 88.7% $366.69 $2,022.75 84.7%

ECH 46 $1,657.87 $332.28 $1,325.59 80.0% $1,802.91 $332.28 $1,470.63 81.6% $361.35 $1,441.56 80.0% $404.80 $1,398.11 77.5% $477.32 $1,325.59 73.5%

FAM 36 $2,756.48 $512.80 $2,243.68 81.4% $2,997.64 $512.80 $2,484.84 82.9% $557.66 $2,439.97 81.4% $633.38 $2,364.26 78.9% $753.96 $2,243.68 74.8%

Annual Total 257 $4,519,657 $468,925 $4,050,732 89.6% $4,915,067 $468,925 $4,446,142 90.5% $509,950 $4,405,117 89.6% $666,630 $4,248,437 86.4% $864,335 $4,050,732 82.4%

EMP 95 $1,090.87 $93.42 $997.45 91.4% $1,186.31 $93.42 $1,092.89 92.1% $101.59 $1,084.71 91.4% $141.14 $1,045.17 88.1% $188.86 $997.45 84.1%

ESP 16 $2,399.93 $284.46 $2,115.47 88.1% $2,609.89 $284.46 $2,325.43 89.1% $309.35 $2,300.55 88.1% $389.44 $2,220.45 85.1% $494.42 $2,115.47 81.1%

ECH 18 $1,810.84 $458.38 $1,352.46 74.7% $1,969.26 $458.38 $1,510.88 76.7% $498.48 $1,470.78 74.7% $537.59 $1,431.67 72.7% $616.80 $1,352.46 68.7%

FAM 20 $3,010.78 $666.12 $2,344.66 77.9% $3,274.18 $666.12 $2,608.06 79.7% $724.40 $2,549.79 77.9% $797.82 $2,476.36 75.6% $929.52 $2,344.66 71.6%

Annual Total 149 $2,818,107 $419,994 $2,398,113 85.1% $3,064,654 $419,994 $2,644,660 86.3% $456,738 $2,607,916 85.1% $543,268 $2,521,387 82.3% $666,541 $2,398,113 78.3%

Grand Total Annual 406 $7,337,764 $888,919 $6,448,845 87.9% $7,979,721 $888,919 $7,090,802 88.9% $966,688 $7,013,034 87.9% $1,209,898 $6,769,824 84.8% $1,530,876 $6,448,845 80.8%

Change from Current $ $641,957 $0 $641,957 $77,769 $564,189 $320,979 $320,979 $641,957 $0

Change from Current % 8.7% 0.0% 10.0% 8.7% 8.7% 36.1% 5.0% 72.2% 0.0%

Buy-Up Plan

Premium 

Equivalents

Monthly EE 

Contribution

Monthly ER 

Contribution

% Paid by 

ER

Base Plan

January 1, 2024

Pass through 50% of Increase

Employee Contribution Analysis

Maintain Current % of Rates

(Same Cost Share)
Pass through 100% of Increase

January 1, 2023 January 1, 2024

Premium 

Equivalents

Maintain Current Contributions

7 of 8 10/10/2023Contributions

365

Item XII. 18.



RL-SL-APP-2013-GA Page 1 of 3 – Incomplete without all pages. Order #165254 GA 05/01/2014 

 
EXCESS RISK SINGLE EMPLOYER APPLICATION (GA) 
ReliaStar Life Insurance Company  
(“ReliaStar Life”) 
Home Office: Minneapolis, Minnesota 55440 
Plan Sponsor hereby applies for the Excess Risk Policy. 

PLAN INFORMATION 
Name of Plan Sponsor (exact legal name) Effingham County Board of Commissioners 
Address (number and street) 601 North Laurel Street 
City Springfield State GA Zip 31329 
 

 Corporation  Partnership  Sole Proprietorship  Other. Specify: Unit of Government 
 

Nature of Plan Sponsor’s Business Government SIC Code 9121 
 
 

Are subsidiaries, affiliates or other associated entities to be included?  Yes  No 
 If “Yes,” give Names.  

Relationship to Plan Sponsor  
Please provide the number of individuals covered as noted below: 

Eligible Individuals  Covered Persons Only  Covered Persons with Dependents  
Enrolled Individuals 406 Covered Persons Only 249 Covered Persons with Dependents 157 
Individuals Covered Elsewhere  Covered Persons Only  Covered Persons with Dependents  

 

The initial Contract Period is from January 1, 2024 through December 31, 2024 
 

CLAIM ADMINISTRATOR INFORMATION  (Claim Administrator for coverages checked below for the Employee Benefit Plan) 
Name of Claim Administrator (exact legal name of entity) Meritain Health, CVS Caremark (Rx) 
Address (number and street) N/A 
City N/A State N/A Zip N/A 

Note:  The plan Sponsor’s self-funded welfare benefit plan is not regulated nor approved under the insurance laws of Georgia. 
* Claim Administrator must be approved by ReliaStar Life prior to acceptance of this Application 

INDIVIDUAL EXCESS RISK 
Individual Excess Risk:  Yes  No 

 

Benefits To Be Covered:       Medical  Other (Please specify) Prescription Drugs 
Initial Coverage Period: 
 Incurred and Paid in 12 months  Incurred in 12 months and Paid in 15 months 
 Incurred in 15 months and Paid in 12 months    Incurred in 24 months and Paid in 12 months 
 Paid in 12 months 
 Other  
 
 

Individual Excess Risk Deductible  $ 125,000 per Individual 
Individuals subject to the Individual Adjusted Deductible as identified in the disclosure process   

n/a  
Claims for Individuals subject to the Individual Adjusted Deductible that exceed the Individual Excess Risk Deductible amount are excluded under any 
Aggregate Excess Risk Insurance. 

Benefit percentage 100% 
  

366

Item XII. 18.



RL-SL-APP-2013-GA Page 2 of 3 – Incomplete without all pages. Order #165254 GA 05/01/2014 

INDIVIDUAL EXCESS RISK  (Continued) 
Maximum Individual Benefit: 

Individual Excess Risk Lifetime Maximum: $ Unlimited Individual Excess Risk Annual Maximum: $ Unlimited 
Other  $     

Optional Endorsements: 
 Individual Terminal Liability  3 months  6 months 
 Individual Advanced Funding 
 Individual Step-Down Deductible 
 Individual Gapless Renewal (Only available for 12/15 or 12/18) 
 Aggregating Individual Deductible: $  (Individual Excess Risk must be elected) 
 Plan Mirroring Coordination 
 Renewal Rate Cap 
 Other:  

AGGREGATE EXCESS RISK 
Aggregate Excess Risk:  Yes  No 
 

Benefits To Be Covered:  Medical  Vision  Prescription Drugs  Dental  Other (Specify)  
Initial Coverage Period: 
   Incurred and Paid in 12 months  Incurred in 12 months and Paid in 15 months 
 Incurred in 15 months and Paid in 12 months  Incurred in  months and Paid in  months 
 Paid in 12 months 
 Other  
 

Aggregate Adjustment Corridor: 120 % 
Minimum Annual Aggregate Deductible: See Excess Risk Schedule 
ReliaStar Life’s Limit of Liability: $ 1,000,000 per Coverage Period 
Optional Endorsements: 
 Plan Mirroring Coordination    
 Monthly Aggregate Reimbursement   
 Aggregate Terminal Liability  3 months  6 months (Individual Terminal Liability must also be elected) 
 Other  

 

Are retirees covered?   Yes  No  Are retirees age 65 and over covered?  Yes  No 
 

Attached to and incorporated in this Application is a copy of the Employee Benefit Plan that relates to the Excess Risk Policy being applied for. 
The Producer/Agent of Record (provided he/she is duly licensed as required by law) is:  

Stealth Partner Group 
This insurance is to be effective on       January 1, 2024        at 12:01 a.m. Standard Time at the Plan Sponsor’s place of business, provided that the first 
premium is paid in full and that the Disclosure Agreement and this Application are accepted by ReliaStar Life. 
An advance deposit of  $         N/A            is attached. (The deposit is to equal the first premium.) The deposit will be applied toward payment of the 
premiums on the insurance requested if the application is accepted by ReliaStar Life. If not accepted, the deposit will be refunded to the Plan Sponsor 
Applicant.   

367

Item XII. 18.



RL-SL-APP-2013-GA Page 3 of 3 – Incomplete without all pages. Order #165254 GA 05/01/2014 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT & SIGNATURES 
By signing this Application below, the Plan Sponsor Applicant represents that all statements, answers and information made above in this application and 
in the Disclosure Agreement are complete and true to the best of its knowledge and belief. Plan Sponsor Applicant further acknowledges and agrees (i) 
that such statements, answers and information in this Application and in the Disclosure Agreement, together with a copy of the Employee Benefit Plan 
and other information attached to this application or furnished to ReliaStar Life, are submitted by the Plan Sponsor Applicant as an inducement to, and 
will be relied upon by, ReliaStar Life, in underwriting this risk and determining whether to accept this application and issue the Excess Risk Policy being 
applied for; (ii) if such statements, answers and information is/are incomplete or untrue, and such incompleteness or falsity is material to the risk to be 
insured by ReliaStar Life, any policy issued by ReliaStar Life may be rescinded and/or any benefits that might otherwise be payable thereunder may be 
denied; and (iii) the Plan Sponsor Applicant has fully read and understands this completed Application and the Disclosure Agreement. 
 
Plan Sponsor Applicant 

 
Effingham County Board of Commissioners 

 
Name of Signer (Please print)  Date Signed  

 By 
 

Title 
 

 

368

Item XII. 18.



RL-SL-DISCLOSE-2020 Page 1 of 2 Order #214806   07/01/2021 

DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT  
ReliaStar Life Insurance Company, Minneapolis, MN 
A member of the Voya® family of companies  
(the “Company”) 
 
 

Policy Effective Date January 01, 2024  
Plan Sponsor Name Effingham County Board of Commissioners  
  

INSTRUCTIONS FOR COMPLETION 
Please provide the information described in the Disclosure Reports Section below and then have an authorized representative of the Plan Sponsor submit the 
Disclosure Agreement. Prior to submitting this Disclosure Agreement and Disclosure Reports to the Company, please consult with your current Claim 
Administrator(s), Utilization Review Firm(s), Case Management, and Pharmacy Benefits Manager(s) (collectively, “Claim Vendors”), and Plan Sponsor’s Broker or 
other insurance advisor. The Disclosure Reports must be provided to the Company no earlier than 90 calendar days prior to the Policy’s Effective Date or renewal 
date, as applicable. Please note the required monthly claim reporting provided on behalf of the Plan Sponsor to Company will suffice for renewal purposes. 
Should the Company require any additional information, it will notify the Plan Sponsor and/or its designated representative in writing no later than 20 calendar 
days following receipt of the Disclosure Reports. Any firm quote is void unless accepted by the Plan Sponsor in writing within 30 days from the date quoted by the 
Company. 
 

DISCLOSURE REPORTS Plan Sponsor has provided the following reports or data (which include claimant name and primary ICD-10 diagnosis) 
on the following date(s):                                    .  
• Any individual with paid claims that has exceeded 50% of the stop loss deductible during the applicable current policy year (minimum 9 months); 
• Any individual with denied and/or pended claims that has exceeded $25,000 during the applicable current policy year (minimum of 9 months); 
• Any individual evaluated and/or listed for an organ, stem cell or bone marrow transplant; 
• Any individual, including claim amounts for that individual, who is or was in case management or whose condition or diagnosis would be referred to case 

management during the applicable current policy year (minimum 9 months) by your claims Administrator based upon the ICD-10 codes used by your Claims 
Administrator for referral to case management; 

• Any individual, including claim amounts for that individual, whose condition or diagnosis during the applicable current policy year (minimum 9 months) is 
represented by any of the ICD-10 codes contained in the attached list. 

 

DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 
The Plan Sponsor represents to the Company, to the best of its knowledge and belief, and after making a diligent and good faith inquiry, that it has fully read and 
understands this Disclosure Agreement; and as of the date of submitting this Disclosure Agreement there are no known potential catastrophic claims other than 
those disclosed on the submitted Disclosure Reports.  
 
The Plan Sponsor understands and agrees that the Company will rely on this Disclosure Agreement and the attached Disclosure Reports to:  

(i) underwrite this risk,  
(ii) determine whether or not to issue (or renew) a Policy, and  
(iii) If the Company agrees to issue or renew a Policy, determine the terms, conditions, limitations and rates of or for such Policy.  

 
The Plan Sponsor further understands and agrees that if there are any undisclosed claimants known to the plan sponsor that are material to the risk to be insured 
by the Company, any Policy issued or renewed by the Company may be rescinded, any benefits that might otherwise be payable thereunder may be denied, 
and/or the premium rates, deductibles, terms, conditions and limitations of the Policy may be revised by the Company; and, the requirement to submit any 
required Disclosure Report may not be waived by the Company without a written representation by the Plan Sponsor that there are no reports or data with respect 
to any individual required to be included on any of the Disclosure Reports above. 
 
To be eligible for a claim of reimbursement under the Policy, the Plan Sponsor or the Claims Administrator must request payment and provide complete and 
accurate Proof of Loss, in the form and content acceptable to the Company, to support a claim within 180 days after the end of the Coverage Period of the Policy.
  
  

369

Item XII. 18.



RL-SL-DISCLOSE-2020 Page 2 of 2 Order #214806   07/01/2021 

ICD-10 CODES FOR DISCLOSURE NOTIFICATION 

The following ICD-10 Codes for Disclosure Notification provide conditions or diagnosis which must be disclosed. Please list all Plan Participants who 
have been diagnosed with or treated for any of the Codes listed under the following categories during the current Benefit Period. Where a range of Codes 
is shown, any and all conditions or diagnosis within that range must be disclosed. 
 
A00-B99 Infectious Diseases 
B17.1-B17.11 Hepatitis C 
 
C00-D49 Neoplasms 
C00-C14 Malignancies of oral cavity and pharynx 
C15-C26 Malignant neoplasm of digestive organs 
C30-C39 Malignant neoplasm of respiratory 
C43-C44 Melanoma 
C50-C50 Breast Malignancies 
C51-C68 Genitourinary Malignancies 
C69-C72 Malignancies of Nervous System 
C81-C96 Leukemias, Lymphomas and Myelomas 
 
D50-D89 Hematologic Disorders 
D57.1 Sickle Cell Anemia 
D61.01 Aplastic Anemia 
D66 Hemophilia/Hereditary Factor VIII Deficiency 
D81.0 Severe Combined Immune Deficiency (SCID) 
D82.1 DiGeorge Syndrome 
D83.1 Immune Deficiency T Cells (AIDS) 
D84.1 Alpha 1-Antitrypsin 
 
E70-E88 Metabolic Disorders 
E75.22 Gaucher’s Disease 
E84.0 Cystic Fibrosis 
 
G00-G99 Disease of the Nervous System 
G12.21 Lou Gehrig’s disease (ALS) 
G61 0 Guillain-Barre Syndrome 
G82.50 Quadriplegia 
G91.1 Obstructive Hydrocephalus 
 
I00-I99 Disease of Circulatory System 
I27.0 Primary Pulmonary Hypertension 
I42.0-I42.9 Cardiomyopathy 
I46.9 Cardiac Arrest 
I60.9 Subarachnoid Hemorrhage 
 
J00-J99 Disease of Respiratory System 
J96.00-J96.92 Respiratory Failure 

 
K00-K95 Disease of Digestive System 
K70.0-K74.69 Chronic Liver Disease 
K72.00-K72.91 Liver Failure 
 
M86 Diseases of Musculoskeletal System and Connective Tissue  
M86  Osteomyelitis 
 
N00-N99 Disease of Genitourinary System 
N18.1-N18.9 Chronic Renal Failure 
 
O00-O9A Pregnancy, Childbirth & Puerperium 
O30.10--O30.109 Triplet Pregnancy 
O30.20-O30.209 Quadruplet Pregnancy 
O60.00--O60.14 Preterm Labor 
 
P00-P96 Perinatal Conditions 
P07.00-P07.36 Preterm Infant 
P22.0 Respiratory Distress Syndrome of Newborn 
 
Q00-Q99 Congenital Malformations 
Q20-Q28 Congenital Heart Diseases 
Q39.0-Q39.4 Tracheoesophageal Fistula 
Q89.7 Multiple Anomalies 
 
S00-T88 Injury, Poisoning and Trauma 
S06.0-S06.9 Brain Injuries 
S12-S14 Spinal Cord Injuries 
S88 Amputations 
T07 Multiple Trauma Injuries 
T20-T32 Burns 
T79 Early Complications of Trauma 
 
T86-Z94 Complications Peculiar to Certain Specified Conditions 
T86.00-T86.02 Graft vs. Host Disease 
T86.00-T86.09 Graft vs. Host Disease 
T86.90-T86.92 Complications of Transplants 
T86.90-T89.99 Complications of Transplants 
Z94 Transplants 

. 

370

Item XII. 18.



 Page 1 of 1 Order #164376  07/30/2018

ReliaStar Life Insurance Company, Minneapolis, MN
ReliaStar Life Insurance Company of New York, Woodbury, NY
Members of the Voya® family of companies 
(the “Company”)
Stop Loss Claims: 20 Washington Avenue South, Route 5310, Minneapolis, MN 55401
Email: stoploss@voya.com

Use this form for enrollment in direct deposit, cancellation of direct deposit or a change (e.g., the financial institution changed or the account 
number changed). Send a copy of this form to your Voya Client Representative and retain a copy for your records.

Plan Sponsor Name (Legal Entity)  Tax Identification Number (TIN)  

Email address where Explanation of Reimbursement (EOR) should be sent.  

Address  

A voided check for the account should accompany this form. A deposit ticket is not acceptable. If you cannot provide a voided check, enter the bank’s routing 
number and the full account number in the appropriate fields. Your application cannot be processed without this information.

The Plan Sponsor grants authorization to the Company to initiate credit entries to the checking or savings account at the financial institution named above. 
This authority is to remain in full effect until the Company has received written notification of a change or cancellation of this authorization.

Select one:     c Enrollment     c Cancellation     c Change

BANK ACCOUNT INFORMATION

AUTHORIZATION

Sample Check

Routing Number
(9 digits)

Account Name (Plan Sponsor, group or business name as listed on the account.)  

Plan Sponsor Representative Name (Please print.)  

Account Type:     c Checking     c SavingsBank Name  

Bank Address  

Bank Phone (              ) 

Signature  Date  

Contact Name (Provide the name of the person who should be contacted if this form is incomplete or requires additional information.)

   Phone (              ) 

DIRECT DEPOSIT AUTHORIZATION
FOR STOP LOSS CLAIM PAYMENTS

Not Negotiable
x Financial Institution
MEMO    

987654321 1234567890123 5678

Account Number

City    State    ZIP  

City    State    ZIP  

Account Number  Routing Number (9 digits)

✔

58-6000821Effingham County Board of Commissioners

601 North Laurel Street

GA 31329Springfield

RESET FORM

371

Item XII. 18.



Policy Period: to

Remittance for premium month:  
 

 # LIVES TOTAL

CURRENT COVERAGE x COVERED = DUE STEALTH

SPECIFIC COVERAGE

Emp Only x =

Emp + Spouse x =

Emp + Child(ren) x =

Emp + Family x =

AGGREGATE COVERAGE
Emp / Composite x =

GENE THERAPY SOLUTIONS
Emp / Composite x =

SUBTOTAL: $0.00

# LIVES TOTAL

PRIOR MONTH ADJUSTMENTS x COVERED = DUE STEALTH

SPECIFIC COVERAGE

Emp Only x =

Emp + Spouse x =

Emp + Child(ren) x =

Emp + Family x =

AGGREGATE COVERAGE
Emp / Composite x =

GENE THERAPY SOLUTIONS
Emp / Composite x =

SUBTOTAL: $0.00

SUBTOTAL: $0.00

INSTRUCTIONS FOR SUBMITTING PREMIUM VIA CHECK:

Complete yellow highlighted sections of this form as applicable.

Include a printed copy of this completed form with your check.

Make check payable to:  STEALTH PARTNER GROUP (EIN: 27-0290866)  and mail to:

Mailing Address (for US Mail Only) Overnight Courier Address

Stealth Partner Group c/o Wells Fargo Stealth Partner Group c/o Wells Fargo

PO Box 949572 Lockbox Services (604069)

Atlanta, GA 30394-9572 3585 Atlanta Ave

Hapeville, GA 30354

INSTRUCTIONS FOR SUBMITTING PREMIUM VIA ACH/WIRES:

Complete yellow highlighted sections of this form as applicable.
Email a copy of this completed form to:   

stealth.intakeremittance@amwins.com

and  stealth.invoicing@amwins.com

Process ACH transfer to the following account:

Bank Name: Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

Account Name: Stealth Partner Group - Premium Trust Account

Account Number: 4004783163 ABA Number:     121000248

FOR INQUIRIES CONTACT: stealth.invoicing@amwins.com

Please complete the yellow highlighted sections above and submit this form according to the appropriate instructions 

$0.00

0 $0.00

0 $0.00

$0.00

$0.00

RATE

$117.80 0

Self-Administered Monthly Bill

for

Effingham County Board of Commissioners

0 $0.00

0

0

1/1/2024

0 $0.00

$0.00

$0.00

#########

January

$14.54

RATE

$465.65

$195.43

$244.29

$117.80

Premium is due and payable on the first of the month, and is delinquent on the 30th.  

$0.00TOTAL REMITTANCE TO STEALTH PARTNER GROUP:

ADDITIONAL ADJUSTMENTS (Previous Under/Overpayments, etc. )

Add Explanation of Additional Adjustments Here

$1.99 0 $0.00

$1.99 0 $0.00

$0.00$14.54 0

$195.43

$244.29 0

$465.65 0

372

Item XII. 18.

mailto:stealth.intakeremittance@amwins.com
mailto:stealth.invoicing@amwins.com
mailto:stealth.invoicing@amwins.com
mailto:stealth.invoicing@amwins.com


373

Item XII. 18.



374

Item XII. 18.



375

Item XII. 18.



376

Item XII. 18.



 

 

Staff Report 

 
Subject:    January Meeting Cancellation  

Author:  Stephanie Johnson, County Clerk 

Department:  Administration 

Meeting Date: 11/21/2023 

Item Description: Consideration to approve to cancel the January 2, 2024 Board of 
Commissioners Meeting  

 

Summary Recommendation:   

Staff is requests approval to cancel this meeting due to the New Year’s holiday.  
 

Executive Summary: 

During the calendar year there are meeting dates which falls on or near a holiday.  This 

meeting will occur the day of the New Year’s Day holiday.    
 

Background: 

The Board of Commissioners mentioned at the November 7, 2023 meeting during the 
administrative reports session to consider canceling the January 2, 2024 meeting due to the 
holiday and directed staff to place this item on the next agenda.  
 

Should the need arise the Board may call for a Special Called meeting to address business 

requiring immediate attention.  

 

Alternatives for Commission to Consider: 

1. Approve to cancel the January 2, 2024 Board of Commissioners meeting  
2. Do not approve to cancel the meeting. 

 

Recommended Alternative: Staff recommends Alternative number 1  
 

Other Alternatives: Move the meeting to another date.  
 

Department Review: Administration 

 

Funding Source: No funding required 
 

Attachments: None 

377

Item XII. 19.


	Top
	Item IX. 1.	Appearance - Melissa Calhoun
	BOC Amended

	Item X. 1.	CIG stormwater grant agreement amendments
	CIG stormwater grant extension
	Extension 1_C25.Effingham.Larson.StormwaterMasterPlanY2
	306.8.14_Extension 3 Georgia Coastal Incentive Award Agreement_Stormwater Master Plan Y1

	Item XI. 1.	Per Diem/Travel Policy
	Update HR SOP 2.15 10.17.2023
	2.15 - Travel, Employment and Board of Commissioners Expenses

	Item XI. 2.	Animals - 2nd Reading
	Staff Report 11212023 Animals
	Ordinance amendment_Animals

	Item XI. 3.	Intergovernmental Agreement with Live Oak Public Libraries
	IGA - Live Oak Public Libraries Staff Report Tabled 11-21-23
	IGA - Live Oak Public Libraries 11-07-23

	Item XI. 4.	Waldour Tract - Rezoning
	Mariner Group_Rezoning Staff Report
	326-17_MarnierGroupLtd_RZ

	Item XI. 5.	Waldour Tract - Rezoning - 2nd Reading
	2nd Mariner Group RZ
	Mariner Group RZ ZMA

	Item XI. 6.	Waldour Tract - Variance
	Mariner Group_Variance Staff Report
	326-17_MarnierGroupLtd_V

	Item XI. 7.	Walhour Tract - Variance - 2nd Reading
	2nd Mariner Group V
	Marnier Group V ZMA

	Item XII. 1.	PO Drum Roller
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Selected Vendor Totals (17)
	2. PO template

	Item XII. 2.	PO Generators
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Selected Vendor Totals (16)
	3. PO template

	Item XII. 3.	PO Jetter Trailer
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Copy of Jetter Trailer Bid Evaluation
	3. PO template

	Item XII. 4.	Roberts CO Hodgeville Resurfacing
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. Change Order 3 TSPLOST Intersections
	AWA Hodgeville Rd Resurfacing

	Item XII. 5.	Purchase of Service Agreement between Coastal Regional Commission and Effingham County Board of Commissioners
	Coastal Regional - Sr. Center Service Agreement Staff Report 11-21-23
	Coastal Regional - Sr. Center Service Agreement 11-21-23

	Item XII. 6.	SS4A
	1. Staff Report Template
	3. Contract 23-RFP-042
	4. Effingham23-RFP-042_ForesiteGroup_Technical
	3. Effingham23-RFP-042_ForesiteGroup_SOQ

	Item XII. 7.	MSC Amendment
	1. Staff Report Template
	2. McDaniel-Fully Executed Contract - May 2016 to May 2019
	3. Effingham Vending Amendment

	Item XII. 8.	FY 2024 budget amendment - LMIG 2023 and LMIG 2024, Effingham Parkway GDOT water&sewer contract, fuel island slab repairs
	Staff Report FY 2024 Budget Amendment 11-21-23
	Resolution FY 2024 budget amendments 11-21-23 meeting

	Item XII. 9.	Subdivisions
	Subdivision Staff Report
	Subdivisions

	Item XII. 10.	Table of Permitted Uses
	TPU Staff Reports
	TPU

	Item XII. 11.	Firearms Ordiance
	Staff Report Firearms ordinance
	Firearms Ordinance

	Item XII. 12.	GDOT Request for Traffic Signal
	GDOT Request for Traffic Signal SR21 & McCall Rd Staff Report 11-21-23
	GDOT Request for Traffic Signal SR21 & McCall Rd 11-21-23

	Item XII. 13.	Alex Long - Variance
	Alex Long_Variance Staff Report
	414-3_Long_V

	Item XII. 14.	Alex Long Variance - 2nd Reading
	2nd Alex Long Variance
	Alex Long V ZMA

	Item XII. 15.	Future Land Use Map (FLUM)
	Staff Report 11-21-23 FLUM
	FLUM_DRAFT_EF_REV17_20231113

	Item XII. 16.	ACCG Retirement Plan Amendment
	Effingham-R Adopting AA 
	Effingham-AA Amend 
	Approval of ACCG Retirement Plan Changes and Amendment 11.21.2023

	Item XII. 17.	Meritain Health Amendment
	Approval of Meritain Health Amendment to ASA_Rx Smart Savings Program 11.21.2023
	0523-Effingham County Board of Commissioners-Amendment

	Item XII. 18.	USI Voya Stop Loss
	Approval of Voya Stop Loss 11.21.2023
	Gene Therapy (GTS5) Agreement (need signature pgs 9 and 15)
	Effingham County - Revised Stop Loss Analysis
	USI ECBOC Renewal Presentation
	Effingham County BOC Application
	Effingham County BOC Direct Deposit
	Effingham County - SL Invoice 1.2024

	Item XII. 19.	Meeting Cancel_January 2, 2024
	meeting cancel_sr

	Bottom

